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Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is not contained herein, and will not
be contained, to the best of registrant�s knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements incorporated by reference in Part III
of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K. ¨ 
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As of December 31, 2006, the aggregate market value of the registrant�s common stock held by non-affiliates of the registrant was
$251,464,010,491 based on the closing sale price as reported on the NASDAQ National Market System. As of August 1, 2007,
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DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Portions of the definitive Proxy Statement to be delivered to shareholders in connection with the Annual Meeting of Shareholders to
be held on November 13, 2007 are incorporated by reference into Part III.
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Note About Forward-Looking Statements

Certain statements in this report, other than purely historical information, including estimates, projections, statements relating to our
business plans, objectives and expected operating results, and the assumptions upon which those statements are based, are
�forward-looking statements� within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, Section 27A of the Securities
Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. These forward-looking statements generally are identified by
the words �believe,� �project,� �expect,� �anticipate,� �estimate,� �intend,� �strategy,� �plan,� �may,� �should,� �will,� �would,� �will be,� �will continue,� �will
likely result,� and similar expressions. Forward-looking statements are based on current expectations and assumptions that are
subject to risks and uncertainties which may cause actual results to differ materially from the forward-looking statements. A detailed
discussion of these and other risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results and events to differ materially from such
forward-looking statements is included in the section entitled �Risk Factors� (refer to Part I, Item 1A). We undertake no obligation to
update or revise publicly any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.

PART I

ITEM 1.    BUSINESS

GENERAL

Our mission is to enable people and businesses throughout the world to realize their full potential. Since our founding in 1975, we
have worked to achieve our mission by creating technology that transforms the way people work, play, and communicate. We
develop and market software, services, and solutions that we believe deliver new opportunities, greater convenience, and
enhanced value to people�s lives. We do business throughout the world and have offices in more than 100 countries.

We generate revenue by developing, manufacturing, licensing, and supporting a wide range of software products for many
computing devices. Our software products include operating systems for servers, personal computers, and intelligent devices;
server applications for distributed computing environments; information worker productivity applications; business solution
applications; high-performance computing applications, and software development tools. We provide consulting and product
support services, and we train and certify computer system integrators and developers. We sell the Xbox 360 video game console
and games, the Zune digital music and entertainment device, PC games, and peripherals. Online offerings and information are
delivered through our Windows Live, Office Live, and MSN portals and channels. We enable the delivery of online advertising
through our proprietary adCenter® platform.

We also research and develop advanced technologies for future software products. We believe that delivering breakthrough
innovation and high-value solutions through our integrated software platform is the key to meeting our customers� needs and to our
future growth. We believe that we continue to lay the foundation for long-term growth by delivering new products, creating
opportunities for partners, improving customer satisfaction, and improving our internal processes. Our focus is to build on this
foundation through ongoing innovation in our integrated software platforms; by delivering compelling value propositions to
customers; by responding effectively to customer and partner needs; and by continuing to emphasize the importance of product
excellence, business efficacy, and accountability.

OPERATING SEGMENTS

Our segments provide management with a comprehensive financial view of our key businesses. The segments provide a
framework for the alignment of strategies and objectives across the development, sales, marketing, and services organizations,
and for the timely and rational allocation of development, sales, marketing, and services resources within businesses. The
segments also help focus strategic planning efforts on key objectives and initiatives across our businesses.

Due to our integrated business structure, operating costs included in one segment may benefit other segments. Therefore, these
segments are not designed to measure operating income or loss that is directly related to the products included in each segment.
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Inter-segment cost commissions are estimated by management and used to compensate or charge each segment for such shared
costs and to motivate shared effort. Segments should not be viewed as discrete or easily separable businesses.
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In July 2006, we announced a change in our operating segments reflecting previously announced reorganizations. We have five
operating segments: Client, Server and Tools, the Online Services Business, the Microsoft Business Division, and the
Entertainment and Devices Division. Prior fiscal year information has been recast to conform to the way we internally managed and
monitored performance at the business group level in fiscal year 2007. See Note 18 � Segment Information of the Notes to Financial
Statements (Part II, Item 8) for financial information regarding segment reporting.

Client

Client has overall responsibility for the technical architecture, engineering, and product delivery of our Windows product family, and
is responsible for our relationships with personal computer manufacturers, including multinational and regional original equipment
manufacturers (�OEMs�). The segment includes sales and marketing expenses for the Windows client operating system and product
development efforts for the Windows platform. Client revenue growth is correlated with the growth of purchases of personal
computers from OEMs that pre-install versions of Windows operating systems as the OEM channel accounts for over 80% of total
Client revenue.

We released Windows Vista, the latest generation of the Windows operating system, in fiscal year 2007. This release concluded a
major development phase that we believe resulted in a significantly more manageable and powerful PC operating system
compared to prior releases. Windows Vista includes advances in security, digital media, user interfaces, and other areas that
enhance the user and developer experience.

Products:    Windows Vista, including Home, Home Premium, Ultimate, Business, and Enterprise Starter Edition; Windows XP
Professional and Home; Media Center Edition; Tablet PC Edition; and other standard Windows operating systems.

Competition

Client faces strong competition from well-established companies with differing approaches to the PC market. Competing
commercial software products, including variants of Unix, are supplied by competitors such as Apple Computer, Hewlett-Packard,
IBM, and Sun Microsystems. The Linux operating system, which is also derived from Unix and is available without payment under a
General Public License, has gained some acceptance as competitive pressures lead PC OEMs to reduce costs. The Windows
operating system also faces competition from alternative platforms and new devices that may reduce consumer demand for
traditional personal computers. Competitors such as Mozilla offer software that competes with the Internet Explorer Web browsing
capabilities of Windows products. Apple Computer, Real Networks, and others compete with Windows Media Player. Our operating
system products compete effectively by delivering innovative software, a familiar, easy-to-use interface, compatibility with a broad
range of hardware and software applications, and the largest support network for any operating system.

Server and Tools

Server and Tools develops and markets software server products, services, and solutions. Windows Server products are integrated
server infrastructure and middleware software designed to support software applications and tools built on the Windows Server
operating system. Windows Server products include the server platform, database, storage, management and operations,
service-oriented architecture platform, and security software. The segment also builds standalone and software development
lifecycle tools for software architects, developers, testers, and project managers. Server products can be run on premise or in a
hosting environment.

We offer a broad range of consulting services and provide product support services and customer industry solutions. The segment
also provides training and certification to developers and information technology professionals about our Server and Client platform
products. Server and Tools also includes the Enterprise Partner Group, which is responsible for sales, partner management, and
partner programs for medium and large organizations, and the Public Sector sales and marketing organization.
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Approximately 45% of Server revenue comes from multi-year licensing agreements, approximately 30% is purchased through fully
packaged product and transactional volume licensing programs, and approximately 10% comes from licenses sold to OEMs. The
remainder of our revenue comes from consulting and product support services.
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Products and Services:    Windows Server operating system; Microsoft SQL Server; Microsoft Enterprise Services; product
support services; Visual Studio; System Center products; Forefront Security products; Biz Talk Server; MSDN; and TechNet,
among others.

Competition

Our server operating system products face intense competition from a wide variety of server operating systems and server
applications, offered by companies with a variety of market approaches. Vertically integrated computer manufacturers such as
Hewlett-Packard, IBM, and Sun Microsystems offer their own variant of Unix preinstalled on server hardware. Nearly all computer
manufacturers offer server hardware for the Linux operating system. Linux�s competitive position has also benefited from the large
number of compatible applications now produced by many leading commercial software developers and non-commercial software
developers. A number of companies supply versions of Linux, including Novell and Red Hat. Server virtualization platform providers
based on Linux, such as VMWare, represent another means by which Linux competes with the Windows server operating system.

We have entered into business and technical collaboration agreements with Novell and other Linux providers to build, market, and
support a series of solutions to make our products work better with their solutions, and to provide each other�s customers with
patent coverage for respective products.

We compete in the business of providing enterprise-wide computing solutions with several companies that provide solutions and
middleware technology platforms. IBM and Sun Microsystems lead a group of companies focused on the Java 2 Platform
Enterprise Edition (J2EE). Commercial software developers that provide competing server applications for PC-based distributed
client/server environments include Computer Associates, IBM, and Oracle.

Numerous commercial software vendors offer competing commercial software applications for connectivity (both Internet and
intranet), security, hosting, and e-business servers. System Center competes with BMC, Computer Associates, and IBM in the
management of information technology (�IT�) infrastructures, while Forefront Security competes with McAfee, Symantec, and Trend
Micro in protecting both client and server applications. Non-commercial software products, including the widely-deployed Apache
Web Server, also compete with our solutions. Our products for software developers compete against offerings from Adobe, BEA
Systems, Borland, IBM, Oracle, Sun Microsystems, and other companies. We believe that our server products provide customers
with advantages in innovation, performance, total costs of ownership, and productivity, by delivering superior applications
development tools and development environment, compatibility with a broad base of hardware and software applications, security,
and manageability.

Online Services Business

The Online Services Business (�OSB�) provides personal communications services, such as e-mail and instant messaging, and
online information offerings such as Live Search and MSN portals and channels around the world. OSB also provides a variety of
online services such as MSN Internet Access, MSN Premium Web Services, and OneCare. OSB manages many of its own
properties, including home page, health, auto and shopping. In addition, OSB creates alliances with third parties, such as
CareerBuilder.com, Expedia.com, Foxsports.com, Match.com, and MSNBC.com. OSB generates revenue primarily from online
advertising, subscriptions and transactions of online paid services, as well as MSN narrowband Internet access subscriptions. In
fiscal year 2006, OSB launched adCenter, our proprietary advertising platform, and has since transitioned the advertising business
in the U.S. and certain international markets to adCenter. In fiscal year 2007, we launched new online initiatives, including Windows
Live Search� and Live.com in 54 international markets, Live Local Search in the U.S. and U.K., beta versions of MSN Soapbox
(expansion of the MSN Video experience), Virtual Earth� 3D, Windows Live Hotmail, and others.

Products:    MSN Search; MapPoint; MSN Internet Access; MSN Premium Web Services (consisting of MSN Internet Software
Subscription, MSN Hotmail Plus, MSN Bill Pay, and MSN Radio Plus); Windows Live; and MSN Mobile Services.

Competition
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OSB competes with AOL, Google, Yahoo!, and a wide array of Web sites and portals that provide content and online offerings of all
types to end users. We compete with these organizations to provide advertising opportunities for merchants. OSB also competes
for narrowband Internet access users with AOL, Earthlink, and other ISPs for dial-up internet access in the United States. Due to
the continuing trend of consumers migrating from narrowband to broadband Internet access, we expect our narrowband Internet
access subscriber base to continue to decline as we

PAGE 5

Edgar Filing: MICROSOFT CORP - Form 10-K

Table of Contents 10



Table of Contents

 Part I 

Item 1

de-emphasize this portion of our business. The Internet advertising industry has grown significantly over the past several years,
and we anticipate that this trend will continue. Competitors are aggressively developing Internet offerings that seek to provide more
effective ways of connecting advertisers with audiences through enhanced functionality in communication services, improvements
in information services such as Internet search, and improved advertising infrastructure and support services. We have developed
our own algorithmic search engine to provide end users with more relevant search results, a broader selection of content, and
expanded search services. To support the growth of our advertising business, we also are investing in our communication services,
technology, operations, and sales efforts. We will continue to introduce new products and services, including the Windows Live set
of services that are aimed at attracting additional users through improvements in the user online experience. We believe that we
can compete effectively across the breadth of our Internet services by providing users with software innovation in the form of
information and communication services that help them find, discover, and experience what they want online and by providing
merchants with effective advertising results through improved systems and sales support.

Microsoft Business Division

Microsoft Business Division (�MBD�) offerings consist of the Microsoft Office system and Microsoft Dynamics business
solutions. Microsoft Office system products are designed to increase personal, team, and organization productivity through a range
of programs, services, and software solutions. Growth of revenue from the Microsoft Office system offerings, which generate over
90% of MBD revenue, depends on our ability to add value to the core Office product set and to continue to expand our product
offerings in other information worker areas such as enterprise content management, collaboration, unified communications and
business intelligence. Microsoft Dynamics products provide business solutions for financial management, customer relationship
management, supply chain management, and analytics applications for small and mid-size businesses, large organizations, and
divisions of global enterprises.

We evaluate our results based upon the nature of the end user in two primary parts�business revenue which includes Microsoft
Office system revenue generated through volume licensing agreements and Microsoft Dynamics revenue, and consumer revenue
which includes revenue from retail packaged product sales, OEM revenue, and sales of pre-installed versions of Office in
Japan. Approximately 75% of MBD revenue is generated from sales to businesses. Revenue from this category generally depends
upon the number of information workers in a licensed enterprise and is therefore relatively independent of the number of PCs sold
in a given year. Approximately 25% of MBD revenue is derived from sales to consumers. Most of this revenue is generated from
new licenses acquired through fully packaged products and licenses sold through OEMs for new PCs and are generally affected by
the level of PC shipments and product launches.

Products:    Microsoft Office; Microsoft Project; Microsoft Visio; Microsoft Office SharePoint Server; Microsoft Exchange Server;
Microsoft Exchange Hosted Services; Microsoft Office Live Meeting; Microsoft Office Communication Server; Microsoft Office
Communicator; Microsoft Tellme Service, Microsoft Dynamics AX; Microsoft Dynamics CRM; Microsoft Dynamics GP; Microsoft
Dynamics NAV; Microsoft Dynamics SL; Microsoft Dynamics Retail Management System; Microsoft Partner Program; and
Microsoft Office Accounting.

Competition

Competitors to the Microsoft Office system include many software application vendors such as Apple, Corel, Google, IBM, Novell,
Oracle, Red Hat, Sun Microsystems, and local application developers in Europe and Asia. IBM (Smartsuite) and Corel
(WordPerfect Suite) have measurable installed bases with their office productivity products. Apple may distribute certain of its
application software products with various models of its PCs. The OpenOffice.org project provides a freely downloadable
cross-platform application that also has been adapted by various commercial software vendors to sell under their brands, including
IBM, Novell, Red Hat, and Sun. Corel�s suite and many local software suites around the world are aggressively priced for OEMs to
preinstall on low-priced PCs. Google has launched Google Apps, a hosted messaging and productivity suite, and also provides an
enterprise search offering that competes with Microsoft Office SharePoint Server for Search, our new enterprise search
product. Web-based offerings such as AjaxWrite, gOffice, iNetOffice, SimDesk, ThinkFree, wikiCalc, or other small projects
competing with individual applications, can also provide an alternative to Microsoft Office system products. IBM has many different
points of competition with Office system products with its Notes and Workplace offerings.
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Our Microsoft Dynamics products compete with well-known vendors such as Intuit and Sage in the market focused on providing
solutions for small and mid-sized businesses. The market for large organizations and divisions of global enterprises is intensely
competitive with a small number of primary vendors including Oracle and SAP. These vendors are positioning many of their
business applications to focus more intensely on small and mid-sized businesses. Additionally Salesforce.com�s on-demand
customer relationship management offerings compete directly with Microsoft Dynamics CRM Live and Microsoft Dynamic CRM�s
on-premise offerings. We believe our products compete effectively with these vendors based on our strategy of providing
interoperable, adaptable solutions that work well with technologies our customers already have.

As we continue to respond to market demand for additional functionality and products, we will compete with additional vendors,
most notably in enterprise content management, collaboration tools, unified communications, and business intelligence. These
competitors include SAP; IBM; Cisco, with their acquisition of WebEx; Oracle, with the acquisition of Hyperion; and other business
intelligence vendors such as Business Objects and Cognos.

Entertainment and Devices Division

The Entertainment and Devices Division (�EDD�) is responsible for developing, producing, and marketing the Xbox video game
system, including consoles and accessories, third-party games, games published under the Microsoft brand, and Xbox Live
operations, as well as research, sales, and support of those products. In addition to Xbox, we offer the Zune digital music and
entertainment device; PC software games; online games; Mediaroom, our Internet protocol television (�IPTV�) software; and other
devices. EDD also leads the development efforts of our line of consumer software and hardware products including application
software for Macintosh computers and Microsoft PC hardware products, and is responsible for all retail sales and marketing for
Microsoft Office and the Windows operating systems. EDD also includes the mobile and embedded devices platform and is
responsible for managing our company-wide sales and customer relations with device manufacturers and other
communication-sector customers including network service providers and media and entertainment companies.

Products:    Xbox 360 console and games; Xbox Live; Zune; Mediaroom; numerous consumer software and hardware products
(such as mice and keyboards); Windows Mobile software platform; Windows Embedded device operating system; and Windows
Automotive.

Competition

Entertainment and devices businesses are highly competitive, characterized by rapid product life cycles, frequent introductions of
new products and titles, and the development of new technologies. The markets for our products are characterized by significant
price competition. We anticipate continued pricing pressure from our competitors. From time to time, we have responded to this
pressure by reducing prices on certain products. Our competitors vary in size from very small companies with limited resources to
very large, diversified corporations with substantial financial and marketing resources. We compete primarily on the basis of
product innovation, quality and variety, timing of product releases, and effectiveness of distribution and marketing.

Our Xbox hardware business competes with console platforms from Nintendo and Sony, both of which have a large, established
base of customers. The lifecycle for video game consoles averages five to seven years. We released Xbox 360, our second
generation console, in November 2005. Nintendo and Sony released new versions of their game consoles in late 2006. We believe
the success of video game consoles is determined by the availability of games for the console, providing exclusive game content
that gamers seek, the computational power and reliability of the console, and the ability to create new revenue sources such as
advertising and downloadable content. We think the Xbox 360 is positioned well against competitive console products based on
significant innovation in hardware architecture, new developer tools, expanded revenue sources, and continued strong exclusive
content from our own game franchises such as Halo.

In addition to competing against software published for non-Xbox platforms, our games business also competes with numerous
companies that we have licensed to develop and publish software for the Xbox consoles. Zune competes with the Apple iPod as
well as other digital music and entertainment devices. Our PC hardware products face aggressive competition from computer and
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other hardware manufacturers, many of which are also current or potential partners. Mediaroom faces competition primarily from a
variety of competitors that provide elements of an IPTV delivery platform, but that do not provide end-to-end solutions for the
network operator. Windows Mobile software faces substantial competition from Nokia, Openwave Systems, Palm, QUALCOMM,
Research In Motion, and Symbian. The embedded operating system business is highly fragmented with many competitive
offerings. Key competitors include IBM, Wind River, and versions of embeddable Linux from commercial Linux vendors such as
Metrowerks and MontaVista Software.
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OPERATIONS

To serve the needs of customers around the world and to improve the quality and usability of products in international markets, we
�localize� many of our products to reflect local languages and conventions. Localizing a product may require modifying the user
interface, altering dialog boxes, and translating text.

Our operational centers support all operations in their regions, including customer contract and order processing, credit and
collections, information processing and vendor management and logistics. The regional center in Ireland supports the European,
Middle Eastern, and African region; the center in Singapore supports the Japan, Greater China and Asia-Pacific region; and the
centers in Fargo, Puerto Rico, Redmond, and Reno support Latin America and North America.

We contract most of our manufacturing activities to third parties who produce the Xbox 360, Zune, various retail software packaged
products, and Microsoft hardware. Our products may include some components that are available from only one or limited sources.
Our Xbox 360 console includes certain key components that are supplied by a single source. The central processing unit is
purchased from IBM and the graphics chips and embedded dynamic random access memory chips for the graphics processing unit
are purchased from Taiwan Semiconductor Manufacturing Company and NEC Corporation, respectively. Although we have chosen
to initially source these key Xbox 360 components from a single supplier, we are under no obligation to exclusively source
components from these vendors in the future. Beyond the exceptions noted, we generally have the ability to use other custom
manufacturers if the current vendor becomes unavailable. We generally have multiple sources for raw materials, supplies, and
components, and are often able to acquire component parts and materials on a volume discount basis.

PRODUCT DEVELOPMENT

During fiscal years 2007, 2006, and 2005, research and development expense was $7.12 billion, $6.58 billion, and $6.10 billion,
respectively. These amounts represented 14%, 15%, and 15%, respectively, of revenue in each of those years. We plan to
continue to make significant investments in a broad range of research and product development efforts.

While most of our software products are developed internally, we also purchase technology, license intellectual property rights, and
oversee third-party development and localization of certain products. We believe we are not materially dependent upon licenses
and other agreements with third parties relating to the development of our products. Internal development allows us to maintain
closer technical control over our products. It also gives us the freedom to decide which modifications and enhancements are most
important and when they should be implemented. Generally, we also create product documentation internally. We strive to obtain
information at the earliest possible time about changing usage patterns and hardware advances that may affect software design.
Before releasing new software platforms, we provide application vendors with a range of resources and guidelines for development,
training, and testing.

Business and Product Development Strategy.    Innovation is a key factor affecting Microsoft�s growth. Our model for growth is
based on broad adoption of innovation, willingness to enter new markets, and embracing and acting on disruptive trends. We
continue our long-term commitment to research and development, including advanced work aimed at innovations, in a wide
spectrum of technologies, tools, and platforms; communication and collaboration; information access and organization;
entertainment; business and e-commerce; and devices. Increasingly, we are taking a global approach to innovation. While our main
research and development facilities are located in Redmond, Washington, we also operate research facilities in other parts of the
United States and around the world, including China, Canada, Denmark, England, India, Ireland, and Israel. This global approach
will help us remain competitive in local markets and attract top talent wherever it resides.

Based on our broad focus on innovation and long-term approach to new markets, we see the following key opportunities for growth:

Consumer technology.    To build on our strength in the consumer marketplace with Windows Vista, the 2007 Microsoft Office
System, Xbox 360, Microsoft Windows Live, Windows Mobile, and Zune, we are focused on delivering products that we believe are
compelling and cutting edge in terms of design as well as features and functionality. To succeed in consumer technologies, we also
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are working to define the next era of consumer electronics. In the past, consumer electronics was a hardware-centric business;
today, the innovation in consumer electronics devices lies in the software that powers them. This is creating new opportunities for
us to deliver end-to-end experiences.
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Software plus services.    Underlying our opportunities in consumer technologies, and in all of our businesses, is a company-wide
commitment to fully embrace software plus services. The ability to combine the power of desktop and server software with the
reach of the Internet represents an opportunity across every one of our businesses. As we continue to build out our services
platform, we will bring a broad range of new products and service offerings to market that target the needs of large enterprises,
small and medium-sized businesses, and consumers.

Expanding our presence on the desktop and server.    While we enjoyed success in fiscal year 2007 with the launches of
Windows Vista and the 2007 Microsoft Office System, we see potential for growth by delivering more value per customer. With the
planned releases in fiscal year 2008 of Windows Server 2008, SQL Server 2008, and Visual Studio 2008, and the possibility to
provide additional value in security, messaging, systems management, and collaboration, we believe we are well-positioned to
build on our strength with businesses of all sizes. We will continue to pursue new opportunities in high performance computing,
unified communications, healthcare, and business intelligence. Emerging markets are also an important opportunity for us. In fiscal
year 2007, we announced the expansion of our Unlimited Potential program as the foundation for our efforts to reach the five billion
people around the globe who do not have access to PCs and digital technology today.

DISTRIBUTION, SALES AND MARKETING

We distribute our products primarily through the following channels: OEM; distributors and resellers; and online.

OEM.    Our operating systems are licensed primarily to OEMs under agreements that grant the OEMs the right to build computing
devices based on our operating systems, principally PCs. Under similar arrangements, we also market and license certain server
operating systems, desktop applications, hardware devices, and consumer software products to OEMs. We have OEM agreements
covering one or more of our products with virtually all of the major PC OEMs, including Acer, Dell, Fujitsu, Fujitsu Siemens
Computers, Gateway, Hewlett-Packard, Lenovo, NEC, Samsung, Sony, and Toshiba. A substantial amount of OEM business is
also conducted with system builders, which are low-volume customized PC vendors operating in local markets.

Distributors and Resellers.    We license software to organizations under arrangements that allow the end-user customer to
acquire multiple licenses of products. Organizations license our products primarily through large account resellers (�LARs�), direct
market resellers, and value-added resellers (�VARs�). Many organizations that license products through enterprise agreements (�EAs�)
transact directly with us, with sales support from our Enterprise Software Advisor channel partners. These Enterprise Software
Advisors typically are also authorized as LARs and operate as resellers for our other licensing programs. Although each type of
reselling partner reaches organizations of all sizes, LARs are primarily engaged with large organizations and VARs typically reach
the breadth of small- and medium-sized organizations. Some of our distributors include Ingram Micro and Tech Data, and some of
our largest resellers include CDW, Dell, Insight Enterprises, Software House International, and Software Spectrum. Our Dynamics
software offerings are licensed to enterprises through a global network of channel partners providing vertical solutions and
specialized services. We distribute our finished goods products primarily through independent non-exclusive distributors,
authorized replicators, resellers, and retail outlets. Individual consumers obtain our products primarily through retail outlets,
including Best Buy, Target, and Wal-Mart. We have a network of field sales representatives and field support personnel that solicits
orders from distributors and resellers and provides product training and sales support.

Our arrangements for organizations to acquire multiple licenses of products are designed to provide them with a means of doing so
without having to acquire separate packaged product through retail channels. In delivering organizational licensing arrangements to
the market, we use different programs designed to provide flexibility for organizations of various sizes. While these programs may
differ in various parts of the world, generally they include:

Open.    Designed primarily for small-to-medium organizations (5 to over 250 licenses), this program allows customers to acquire
perpetual licenses and, at the customer�s election, rights to future versions of software products over a specified time period
(generally two years). The offering that conveys rights to future versions of certain software product over the contract period is
called Software Assurance. Software Assurance also provides support, tools, and training to help customers deploy and use
software efficiently. Under the Open program, customers can acquire licenses only, or licenses with Software Assurance. They can
also renew Software Assurance upon the expiration of existing volume licensing agreements.
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Select.    Designed primarily for medium-to-large organizations (greater than 250 licenses), this program allows customers to
acquire perpetual licenses and, at the customer�s election, Software Assurance, which consists of rights to future versions of certain
software products, support, tools, and training over a specified time period (generally three years). Similar to the Open program,
customers can acquire licenses only, acquire licenses with Software Assurance, or renew Software Assurance upon the expiration
of existing volume licensing agreements.

Enterprise Agreement.    The Enterprise Agreement is targeted at medium and large organizations that want to acquire perpetual
licenses to software products for all or substantial parts of their enterprise, along with rights to future versions of certain software
products, support, tools, and training over a specified time period (generally three years).

Online.    We distribute online content and services through MSN and other online channels. OSB delivers Internet access and
various premium services and tools to consumers. OSB also delivers online e-mail and messaging communication services and
information services such as online search, advertising, and premium content. EDD operates the Xbox Live service which allows
customers to participate in the gaming experience with other subscribers online. We operate and deliver the Microsoft Small
Business Center portal. This portal provides tools and expertise for small-business owners to build, market, and manage their
businesses online. Other services delivered online include Microsoft Developer Networks subscription content and updates,
periodic product updates, and online technical and practice readiness resources to support our partners in developing and selling
our products and solutions.

CUSTOMERS

Our customers include individual consumers, small and medium-sized organizations, enterprises, governmental institutions,
educational institutions, Internet Service Providers, application developers, and OEMs. Consumers and small- and medium-sized
organizations obtain our products primarily through resellers and OEMs. No sales to an individual customer accounted for more
than 10% of fiscal year 2007 revenue. Sales to Dell and its subsidiaries accounted for approximately 11% and 10% of fiscal year
2006 and 2005 revenue, respectively. These sales were made primarily through our OEM and volume licensing channels and
cover a broad array of products including Windows PC operating systems, Microsoft Office, and server products. Our practice is to
ship our products promptly upon receipt of purchase orders from customers; consequently, backlog is not significant.
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EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

Our executive officers as of August 3, 2007 were as follows:

Name Age Position with the Company
William H. Gates III 51 Chairman of the Board
Steven A. Ballmer 51 Chief Executive Officer
Robert J. (Robbie) Bach 45 President, Entertainment and Devices Division
Lisa E. Brummel 47 Senior Vice President, Human Resources
Kevin R. Johnson 46 President, Platforms and Services Division
Christopher P. Liddell 49 Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
Jeffrey S. Raikes 49 President, Microsoft Business Division
Bradford L. Smith 48 Senior Vice President; General Counsel and Secretary
Brian Kevin Turner 42 Chief Operating Officer
Mr. Gates co-founded Microsoft in 1975 and served as its Chief Executive Officer from the time the original partnership was
incorporated in 1981 until January 2000, when he resigned as Chief Executive Officer and assumed the position of Chief Software
Architect. In June 2006, Mr. Gates stepped down as Chief Software Architect and announced a two-year plan to transition out of a
day-to-day role in the Company. Mr. Gates has served as Chairman since our incorporation.

Mr. Ballmer was appointed Chief Executive Officer in January 2000. He served as President from July 1998 to February 2001.
Previously, he had served as Executive Vice President, Sales and Support since February 1992. He joined Microsoft in 1980.

Mr. Bach was named President, Entertainment and Devices Division in September 2005. He had been Senior Vice President,
Home and Entertainment since March 2000. Before holding that position, he had been Vice President, Home and Retail since
March 1999, Vice President, Learning, Entertainment and Productivity since 1997, and Vice President, Desktop Applications
Marketing since 1996. Mr. Bach joined Microsoft in 1988.

Ms. Brummel was named Senior Vice President, Human Resources in December 2005. She had been Corporate Vice President,
Human Resources since April 2005. From 1995 to April 2005, she had been Corporate Vice President of the Home & Retail
Division. Since joining Microsoft in 1989, Ms. Brummel has held a number of management positions at Microsoft, including general
manager of the Consumer Productivity business and product unit manager of several product lines.

Mr. Johnson was named President, Platforms and Services Division in January 2007. He had been Co-President of the Platforms
and Services Division since September 2005. He held the position of Group Vice President, Worldwide Sales, Marketing and
Services since March 2003. Before that position, he had been Senior Vice President, Microsoft Americas since February 2002 and
Senior Vice President, U.S. Sales, Marketing, and Services since August 2001, and prior to assuming that role, he had been Vice
President, U.S. Sales, Marketing and Services. He joined Microsoft in 1992.

Mr. Liddell was named Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the Company in May 2005. Mr. Liddell served as Senior
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of International Paper Company from March 2003 through April 2005, and prior to
becoming Chief Financial Officer, he held the positions of Vice President-Finance and Controller. Mr. Liddell served as Chief
Executive Officer of Carter Holt Harvey Limited, an affiliate of International Paper, from 1999 to 2002 and Chief Financial Officer
from 1995 to 1998.

Mr. Raikes was named President, Microsoft Business Division in September 2005. He had been Group Vice President, Information
Worker Business since June 2004. Before that position, he had been Group Vice President, Productivity and Business Services
since August 2000 and Group Vice President, Sales and Support since July 1998. Mr. Raikes joined Microsoft in 1981.
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Mr. Smith was named Senior Vice President, General Counsel, and Secretary in November 2001. Mr. Smith was also named Chief
Compliance Officer effective July 2002. He had been Deputy General Counsel for Worldwide Sales and previously was responsible
for managing the European Law and Corporate Affairs Group, based in Paris. He joined Microsoft in 1993.

Mr. Turner was named Chief Operating Officer in September 2005. Before joining Microsoft, he was Executive Vice President and
President and Chief Executive Officer of the Sam�s Club division of Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. From September 2001 to August 2002, he
served as Executive Vice President and Chief Information Officer of Wal-Mart�s Information Systems Division. From March 2000 to
September 2001, he served as its Senior Vice President and Chief Information Officer of the Information Systems Division.
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EMPLOYEES

As of June 30, 2007, we employed approximately 79,000 people on a full-time basis, 48,000 in the United States and 31,000
internationally. Of the total, 31,000 were in product research and development, 24,000 in sales and marketing, 13,000 in product
support and consulting services, 3,000 in manufacturing and distribution, and 8,000 in general and administration. Our success is
highly dependent on our ability to attract and retain qualified employees. None of our employees are subject to collective bargaining
agreements.

AVAILABLE INFORMATION

Our Internet address is www.microsoft.com. There we make available, free of charge, our annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly
reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and any amendments to those reports, as soon as reasonably practicable after
we electronically file such material with or furnish it to the Securities and Exchange Commission (�SEC�). Our SEC reports can be
accessed through the investor relations section of our Web site. The information found on our Web site is not part of this or any
other report we file with or furnish to the SEC.

ITEM 1A.    RISK FACTORS

Our operations and financial results are subject to various risks and uncertainties, including those described below, that could
adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows, and trading price of our common stock.

Challenges to our business model may reduce our revenues and operating margins.    Our business model has been based
upon customers paying a fee to license software that we developed and distributed. Under this license-based software model,
software developers bear the costs of converting original ideas into software products through investments in research and
development, offsetting these costs with the revenue received from the distribution of their products. In recent years, certain �open
source� software business models have evolved into a growing challenge to our license-based software model. Open source
commonly refers to software whose source code is subject to a license allowing it to be modified, combined with other software and
redistributed, subject to restrictions set forth in the license. A number of commercial firms compete with us using an open source
business model by modifying and then distributing open source software to end users at nominal cost and earning revenue on
complementary services and products. These firms do not have to bear the full costs of research and development for the software.
A prominent example of open source software is the Linux operating system. Although we believe our products provide customers
with significant advantages in security, productivity, and total cost of ownership, the popularization of the open source software
model continues to pose a significant challenge to our business model, including continuing efforts by proponents of open source
software to convince governments worldwide to mandate the use of open source software in their purchase and deployment of
software products. To the extent open source software gains increasing market acceptance, sales of our products may decline, we
may have to reduce the prices we charge for our products, and revenue and operating margins may consequently decline.

Another development is the software-as-a-service business model, by which companies provide applications, data, and related
services over the Internet. Providers use primarily advertising or subscription-based revenue models. Recent advances in
computing and communications technologies have made this model viable and enabled the rapid growth of some of our
competitors. We are devoting significant resources toward developing our own competing software plus services strategies. It is
uncertain whether these strategies will prove successful.

We face intense competition.    We continue to experience intense competition across all markets for our products and services.
Our competitors range in size from Fortune 100 companies to small, specialized single-product businesses and open source
community-based projects. Although we believe the breadth of our businesses and product portfolio are a competitive advantage,
our competitors that are focused on narrower product lines may be more effective in devoting technical, marketing, and financial
resources to compete with us. In addition, barriers to entry in our businesses generally are low and products, once developed, can
be distributed broadly and quickly at relatively low cost. Open source software vendors are devoting considerable efforts to
developing software that mimics the features and functionality of our products. In response to competition, we are developing
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pressures may result in decreased sales volumes, price reductions, and/or increased operating costs, such as for marketing and
sales incentives, resulting in lower revenue, gross margins and operating income.

We may not be able to adequately protect our intellectual property rights.    Protecting our global intellectual property rights
and combating unlicensed copying and use of software and other intellectual property is difficult. While piracy adversely affects
U.S. revenue, the impact on revenue from outside the U.S. is more significant, particularly in countries where laws are less
protective of intellectual property rights. Similarly, the absence of harmonized patent laws makes it more difficult to ensure
consistent respect for patent rights. Throughout the world, we actively educate consumers about the benefits of licensing genuine
products and obtaining indemnification benefits for intellectual property risks, and we educate lawmakers about the advantages of a
business climate where intellectual property rights are protected. However, continued educational and enforcement efforts may fail
to enhance revenue. Reductions in the legal protection for software intellectual property rights or additional compliance burdens
could both adversely affect revenue.

Third parties may claim we infringe their intellectual property rights.    From time to time we receive notices from others
claiming we infringe their intellectual property rights. The number of these claims may grow. To resolve these claims we may enter
into royalty and licensing agreements on less favorable terms, stop selling or redesign affected products, or pay damages to satisfy
indemnification commitments with our customers. Such agreements may cause operating margins to decline. We have made and
expect to continue making significant expenditures to settle claims related to the use of technology and intellectual property rights
as part of our strategy to manage this risk.

We may not be able to protect our source code from copying if there is an unauthorized disclosure of source
code.    Source code, the detailed program commands for our operating systems and other software programs, is critical to our
business. Although we license portions of our application and operating system source code to a number of licensees, we take
significant measures to protect the secrecy of large portions of our source code. If an unauthorized disclosure of a significant
portion of our source code occurs, we could potentially lose future trade secret protection for that source code. This could make it
easier for third parties to compete with our products by copying functionality, which could adversely affect our revenue and
operating margins. Unauthorized disclosure of source code could also increase the security risks described in the next paragraph.

Security vulnerabilities in our products could lead to reduced revenues or to liability claims.    Maintaining the security of
computers and computer networks is a critical issue for us and our customers. Hackers develop and deploy viruses, worms, and
other malicious software programs that attack our products. Although this is an industry-wide problem that affects computers
across all platforms, it affects our products in particular because hackers tend to focus their efforts on the most popular operating
systems and programs and we expect them to continue to do so. We devote significant resources to address security vulnerabilities
through:

� engineering more secure products;

� enhancing security and reliability features in our products;

� helping our customers make the best us of our products and services to protect against computer viruses and other attacks;

� improving the deployment of software updates to address security vulnerabilities;
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� investing in mitigation technologies that help to secure customers from attacks even when such software updates are not
deployed; and

� providing customers online automated security tools, published security guidance, and security software such as firewalls,
anti-virus, and other security software.

The cost of these steps could reduce our operating margins. Despite these efforts, actual or perceived security vulnerabilities in our
products could lead some customers to seek to return products, to reduce or delay future purchases, or to use competing products.
Customers may also increase their expenditures on protecting their existing computer systems from attack, which could delay
adoption of new technologies. Any of these actions by customers could adversely affect our revenue. In addition, actual or
perceived vulnerabilities may lead to claims against us. Although our license agreements typically contain provisions that eliminate
or limit our exposure to such liability, there is no assurance these provisions will be held effective under applicable laws and judicial
decisions.
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We are subject to government litigation and regulatory activity that affects how we design and market our products.    As
a leading global software maker, we receive close scrutiny from government agencies under U.S. and foreign competition laws.
Some jurisdictions also provide private rights of action for competitors or consumers to assert claims of anti-competitive conduct.
For example, we have been involved in the following actions.

Lawsuits brought by the U.S. Department of Justice, 18 states, and the District of Columbia in two separate actions were resolved
through a Consent Decree that took effect in November 2001 and a Final Judgment entered in November 2002. These proceedings
imposed various constraints on our Windows operating system businesses. These include limits on certain contracting practices,
mandated disclosure of certain software program interfaces and protocols, and rights for computer manufacturers to limit the
visibility of certain Windows features in new PCs. Some of these rules will expire in November 2007; others will stay in force until
November 2009 or later. Although we believe we are in full compliance with these rules, if we fail to comply with them, additional
restrictions could be imposed on us that would adversely affect our business.

In March 2004, the European Commission ordered us to create new versions of Windows that do not include certain multimedia
technologies to provide our competitors with specifications for how to implement certain proprietary Windows communications
protocols in their own products. The design of these special versions of Windows and the terms on which we make our protocol
technology available are closely regulated by the Commission. The product design aspect of the Commission decision may limit
our ability to innovate in Windows in the future, diminish the developer appeal of the Windows platform and increase our product
development costs. The availability of protocol licenses may enable competitors to develop software products that better mimic the
functionality of Microsoft�s own products which could result in a reduction in sales of our products. Pending resolution of Microsoft�s
appeal, there will remain uncertainty about the legal principles that govern product design and intellectual properties for future
releases of Microsoft products in Europe.

In February 2006, the Korean Fair Trade Commission (�KFTC�) issued a decision requiring us to offer two versions of Windows PC
operating systems, one with Windows Media Player and instant messaging software removed and another with those functionalities
included but also including promotional links to competing software products. If upheld on appeal, these remedies could adversely
affect the utility and competitive position of Windows PC operating systems in Korea.

Government regulatory actions and court decisions may hinder our ability to provide the benefits of our software to consumers and
businesses, thereby reducing the attractiveness of our products and the revenues that come from them. New legal actions could be
initiated at any time, either by these or other governments or private claimants including with respect to new versions of Windows
or other Microsoft products. The outcome of such legal actions could adversely affect us in a variety of ways, including:

� We may have to choose between withdrawing products from certain geographies to avoid fines or designing and developing
alternative versions of those products to meet mandated government specifications, which may entail removing functionality
that customers want or developers rely on.

� Creating mandated alternative versions of our products may cause confusion that harms our reputation, including among
consumers and with software and Web site developers who rely on the functionality removed from these alternative versions.

� Government agencies may require that we make available licenses to our proprietary protocol technologies on terms that do
not reflect their fair market value or do not protect our associated intellectual property.

�
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If not reversed or limited on appeal, the rulings described above may be cited as a precedent in other proceedings that seek
to limit our ability to continue to improve Windows by adding new functionality in response to consumer demand or to build
our own software development efforts.

Our software and services online offerings are subject to government regulation of the Internet domestically and internationally in
many areas including user privacy, telecommunications, data protection, and online content. The application of these laws and
regulations to our business is often unclear and sometimes may conflict. Compliance with these regulations may involve significant
costs or require changes in business practices that result in reduced revenue. Noncompliance could result in penalties being
imposed on us or orders that we stop doing the alleged noncompliant activity.

Our business depends largely on our ability to attract and retain talented employees.    Our business is based on
successfully attracting and retaining talented employees. The market for highly skilled workers and leaders in our

PAGE 14

Edgar Filing: MICROSOFT CORP - Form 10-K

Table of Contents 27



Table of Contents

 Part I 

Item 1A

industry is extremely competitive. We are limited in our ability to recruit internationally by restrictive domestic immigration laws. If
we are less successful in our recruiting efforts, or if we are unable to retain key employees, our ability to develop and deliver
successful products and services may be adversely affected. Effective succession planning is also important to our long-term
success. Failure to ensure effective transfer of knowledge and smooth transitions involving key employees could hinder our
strategic planning and execution.

Delays in product development schedules may adversely affect our revenues.    The development of software products is a
complex and time-consuming process. New products and enhancements to existing products can require long development and
testing periods. Significant delays in new product releases or significant problems in creating new products could adversely affect
our revenue.

We make significant investments in new products and services that may not be profitable.    We have made and will
continue to make significant investments in research, development, and marketing for new products, services, and technologies,
including Windows Vista, the 2007 Microsoft Office system, Xbox 360, Live Search, Windows Server, Zune, and Windows Live.
Investments in new technology are inherently speculative. Commercial success depends on many factors including innovativeness,
developer support, and effective distribution and marketing. We may not achieve significant revenue from new product and service
investments for a number of years, if at all. Moreover, new products and services may not be profitable, and even if they are
profitable, operating margins for new products and businesses may not be as high as the margins we have experienced historically.

Adverse economic conditions may harm our business.    Inflation, softness in corporate information technology spending, or
other changes in general economic conditions that affect demand for computer hardware or software could adversely affect our
revenue or our investment portfolio. If overall market demand for PCs, servers, and other computing devices declines significantly,
or consumer or corporate spending for such products declines, our revenue will be adversely affected. In addition, our revenue
would be unfavorably impacted if customers reduce their purchases of new software products or upgrades because new offerings
such as Windows Vista and the 2007 Microsoft Office system are not perceived as providing significant new functionality or other
value to prospective purchasers.

We have claims and lawsuits against us that may result in adverse outcomes.    We are subject to a variety of claims and
lawsuits. Adverse outcomes in some or all of the claims pending against us may result in significant monetary damages or
injunctive relief against us that could adversely affect our ability to conduct our business. Although management currently believes
that resolving all of these matters, individually or in the aggregate, will not have a material adverse impact on our financial position,
results of operations, or cash flows, the litigation and other claims are subject to inherent uncertainties and management�s view of
these matters may change in the future. There exists the possibility of a material adverse impact on our financial position, results of
operations, and cash flows for the period in which the effect of an unfavorable final outcome becomes probable and reasonably
estimable.

We may have additional tax liabilities.    We are subject to income taxes in both the United States and numerous foreign
jurisdictions. Significant judgment is required in determining our worldwide provision for income taxes. In the ordinary course of our
business, there are many transactions and calculations where the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. We are regularly under
audit by tax authorities. Although we believe our tax estimates are reasonable, the final determination of tax audits and any related
litigation could be materially different from our historical income tax provisions and accruals. The results of an audit or litigation
could have a material effect on our income tax provision, net income or cash flows in the period or periods for which that
determination is made.

Our consumer hardware products may experience quality or supply problems.    Our hardware products such as the Xbox
360 console are highly complex and can have defects in design, manufacture or associated software. We could incur significant
expenses, lost revenue, and reputational harm if we fail to detect or effectively address such issues through design, testing or
warranty repairs.
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We obtain some components of our hardware devices from sole suppliers. If a component delivery from a sole-source supplier is
delayed or becomes unavailable or industry shortages occur, we may be unable to obtain replacement supplies on a timely basis,
resulting in reduced sales. Either component shortages or excess inventory may require us to record charges to cost of revenue.
Xbox 360 consoles are assembled in Asia; disruptions in the supply chain may result in console shortages that would affect our
revenues and operating margins.
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If our goodwill or amortizable intangible assets become impaired we may be required to record a significant charge to
earnings.    Under generally accepted accounting principles, we review our amortizable intangible assets for impairment when
events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable. Goodwill is tested for impairment at least
annually. Factors that may be considered a change in circumstances indicating that the carrying value of our goodwill or
amortizable intangible assets may not be recoverable include a decline in stock price and market capitalization, reduced future
cash flow estimates, and slower growth rates in our industry. We may be required to record a significant charge to earnings in our
financial statements during the period in which any impairment of our goodwill or amortizable intangible assets is determined,
negatively impacting our results of operations.

We operate a global business that exposes us to additional risks.    We operate in over 100 countries and a significant part of
our revenue comes from international sales. Pressure to make our pricing structure uniform might require that we reduce the sales
price of our software in the United States and other countries. Operations outside the United States may be affected by changes in
trade protection laws, policies and measures, and other regulatory requirements affecting trade and investment; changes in
regulatory requirements for software; social, political, labor or economic conditions in a specific country or region; and difficulties in
staffing and managing foreign operations. Although we hedge a portion of our international currency exposure, significant
fluctuations in exchange rates between the U.S. dollar and foreign currencies may adversely affect our net revenues.

Catastrophic events or geo-political conditions may disrupt our business.    A disruption or failure of our systems or
operations in the event of a major earthquake, weather event, cyber-attack, terrorist attack, or other catastrophic event could cause
delays in completing sales, providing services or performing other mission-critical functions. Our corporate headquarters, a
significant portion of our research and development activities, and certain other critical business operations are located in the
Seattle, Washington area, and we have other business operations in the Silicon Valley area of California, both of which are near
major earthquake faults. A catastrophic event that results in the destruction or disruption of any of our critical business or
information technology systems could severely affect our ability to conduct normal business operations and, as a result, our
operating results could be adversely affected. Abrupt political change, terrorist activity, and armed conflict pose a risk of general
economic disruption in affected countries or operating costs. These conditions may lend additional uncertainty to the timing and
budget for technology investment decisions by our customers.

Acquisitions and joint ventures may have an adverse effect on our business.    We expect to continue making acquisitions or
entering into joint ventures as part of our long-term business strategy. These transactions involve significant challenges and risks
including that the transaction does not advance our business strategy, that we don�t realize a satisfactory return on the investment
we make, or that we experience difficulty in the integration of new employees, business systems, and technology, or diversion of
management�s attention from our other businesses. These factors could adversely affect our operating results or financial condition.

Improper disclosure of personal data could result in liability and harm our reputation.    We store and process significant
amounts of personally identifiable information. It is possible that our security controls over personal data, our training of employees
and vendors on data security, and other practices we follow may not prevent the improper disclosure of personally identifiable
information. Such disclosure could harm our reputation and subject us to liability under laws that protect personal data, resulting in
increased costs or loss of revenue. Our software products also enable our customers to store and process personal data.
Perceptions that our products do not adequately protect the privacy of personal information could inhibit sales of our products.

Other risks that may affect our business.    Other factors that may affect our performance may include sales channel disruption,
such as the bankruptcy of a major distributor, and our ability to implement operating cost structures that align with revenue growth.

ITEM 1B.    UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

We have received no written comments regarding our periodic or current reports from the staff of the SEC that were issued 180
days or more preceding the end of our fiscal year 2007 that remain unresolved.
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ITEM 2.    PROPERTIES

Our corporate offices consist of approximately 11 million square feet of office space located in King County, Washington: 8 million
square feet of owned space that is situated on approximately 500 acres of land we own at our corporate campus and approximately
3 million square feet of space we lease. We own approximately 1 million square feet of office space domestically (outside of the
Puget Sound corporate campus) and lease many sites domestically totaling approximately 3 million square feet of office space.

We occupy many sites internationally, totaling approximately 8 million square feet that is leased and approximately 1 million square
feet that is owned. These facilities include our European Operations Center in Dublin, Ireland, a disk duplication facility in
Humacao, Puerto Rico, and a facility in Singapore for our Asia Pacific Operations Center and Regional headquarters. Leased office
space includes the following locations: Tokyo, Japan; Unterschleissheim, Germany; Les Ulis, France; Reading, England; and
Mississauga, Canada. In addition to the above locations, we have various product development facilities, both domestically and
internationally, as described in �Product Development� above.

Our facilities are fully used for current operations of all segments, and suitable additional space is available to accommodate
expansion needs. We own 63 acres of land in Issaquah, Washington, which can accommodate 1 million square feet of office space
and we have an agreement with the City of Redmond under which we may develop an additional 1 million square feet of facilities at
our campus in Redmond, Washington.

ITEM 3.    LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

See Note 17 � Contingencies of the Notes to Financial Statements (Part II, Item 8) for information about legal proceedings in which
we are involved.

ITEM 4.    SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

No matters were submitted to a vote of security holders during the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2007.
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PART II

ITEM 5.    MARKET FOR REGISTRANT�S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS,
AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Our common stock is traded on The NASDAQ Stock Market under the symbol MSFT. On August 1, 2007, there were 148,344
registered holders of record of our common stock. The high and low common stock prices per share were as follows:

Quarter Ended Sep. 30 Dec. 31 Mar. 31 June 30 Year

Fiscal year 2007
Common stock price per share:
High $ 27.52 $ 30.26 $ 31.48 $ 31.16 $ 31.48
Low 22.23 27.15 26.60 27.56 22.23

Fiscal year 2006
Common stock price per share:
High $ 27.94 $ 28.25 $ 28.38 $ 27.94 $ 28.38
Low 24.50 24.25 26.10 21.46 21.46
See Note 12 � Stockholders� Equity of the Notes to Financial Statements (Part II, Item 8) for information regarding dividends
approved by our Board of Directors in fiscal years 2007 and 2006.

On July 20, 2006, we announced that our Board of Directors authorized two new share repurchase programs: a $20.00 billion
tender offer which was completed on August 17, 2006; and authorization for up to an additional $20.00 billion ongoing share
repurchase program that expires on June 30, 2011. Under the tender offer, we repurchased approximately 155 million shares of
common stock, or 1.5% of our common shares outstanding, for approximately $3.84 billion at a price per share of $24.75. On
August 18, 2006, we announced that the authorization for the $20.00 billion ongoing share repurchase program had been
increased by approximately $16.16 billion. As a result, we are authorized to repurchase additional shares in an amount up to
$36.16 billion through June 30, 2011. The repurchase program may be suspended or discontinued at any time without prior notice.
The transactions occurred in open market purchases and pursuant to a trading plan under Rule 10b5-1. We repurchased common
stock in each quarter of fiscal year 2007 using available cash resources as follows:

Period
Total number of

shares purchased
Average price
paid per share

July 1, 2006 � September 30, 2006 285,126,354 $ 24.43
October 1, 2006 � December 31, 2006 205,416,571 $ 29.39
January 1, 2007 � March 31, 2007 237,497,727 $ 28.40
April 1, 2007 � June 30, 2007 242,715,913 $ 30.35
Common stock repurchases in the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2007 were as follows:

Period (a) Total number
of shares

(b) Average
price paid per

(c) Total number of
shares purchased as

(d) Approximate dollar
value of shares
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purchased share part of publicly
announced plans or

programs

that
may yet be
purchased

under the plans or
programs (in

millions)

April 1, 2007 � April 30, 2007 10,816,647 $ 28.17 10,816,647 $ 22,200
May 1, 2007 � May 31, 2007 133,980,027 $ 30.71 133,980,027 $ 18,086
June 1, 2007 � June 30, 2007 97,919,239 $ 30.11 97,919,239 $ 15,138

242,715,913 242,715,913
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ITEM 6.    SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

(In millions, except per share data)

Fiscal Year Ended June 30 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003

Revenue $ 51,122 $ 44,282 $ 39,788 $ 36,835 $ 32,187
Operating income 18,524 16,472 14,561 9,034 9,545
Net income 14,065 12,599 12,254 8,168 7,531
Diluted earnings per share $ 1.42 $ 1.20 $ 1.12 $ 0.75 $ 0.69
Cash dividends declared per share $ 0.40 $ 0.35 $ 3.40 $ 0.16 $ 0.08
Cash and short-term investments 23,411 34,161 37,751 60,592 49,048
Total assets 63,171 69,597 70,815 94,368 81,732
Long-term obligations 8,320 7,051 5,823 4,574 2,846
Stockholders� equity 31,097 40,104 48,115 74,825 64,912
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ITEM 7.    MANAGEMENT�S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF

FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS FOR FISCAL YEARS 2007, 2006, AND 2005

OVERVIEW

The following Management�s Discussion and Analysis (�MD&A�) is intended to help the reader understand the results of operations
and financial condition of Microsoft Corporation. MD&A is provided as a supplement to, and should be read in conjunction with, our
financial statements and the accompanying notes to the financial statements (�Notes�).

We develop, manufacture, license, and support a wide range of software products for many computing devices. Our software
products include operating systems for servers, PCs, and intelligent devices; server applications for distributed computing
environments; information worker productivity applications; business solutions applications; and software development tools. We
provide consulting and product support services, and we train and certify system integrators and developers. We sell the Xbox
video game console and games, the Zune digital music and entertainment device, PC games, and PC peripherals. Online
communication and information services are delivered through our MSN portals, channels around the world, and through our
search products.

Our revenue historically has fluctuated quarterly and has generally been the highest in the second quarter of our fiscal year due to
corporate calendar year-end spending trends in our major markets and holiday season spending by consumers. In fiscal year 2007,
our revenue was highest in the third quarter due to the recognition of $1.67 billion of revenue previously deferred from the Express
Upgrade to Windows Vista and Microsoft Office Technology Guarantee programs and pre-shipments of Windows Vista and the
2007 Microsoft Office system. The technology guarantee programs provided customers who purchased current products with free
or discounted rights to Windows Vista and the 2007 Microsoft Office system when those products became available to consumers.
Our Entertainment and Devices Division is particularly seasonal as its products are aimed at the consumer market and are in
highest demand during the holiday shopping season. Typically, the Entertainment and Devices Division has generated over 40% of
its yearly segment revenues in our second fiscal quarter. With the exception of fiscal year 2007, we believe the seasonality of
revenue is likely to continue in the future.

We intend to sustain the long-term growth of our businesses through technological innovation, engineering excellence, and a
commitment to delivering high-quality products and services to customers and partners. Recognizing that one of our primary
challenges is to help accelerate worldwide PC adoption and software upgrades, we continue to advance the functionality, security,
and value of Windows operating systems and to develop operating system versions targeted at emerging markets. We also are
increasing our focus on selling our products in emerging markets and reducing the amount of unlicensed software used in those
markets. In addition, we continue to develop innovative software applications and solutions that we believe will enhance the
productivity of information workers, improve communication and collaboration in work groups, aid business intelligence, and
streamline processes for small and mid-sized businesses. To sustain the growth of our Server and Tools business amid
competition from other vendors of both proprietary and open source software, our goal is to deliver products that provide the best
platform for network computing � software that is easiest to deploy and manage, and that is most secure � with the lowest total cost of
ownership.

We continue to invest in research and development in existing and new lines of business, including business solutions, mobile
computing, communication, entertainment, and other areas that we believe may contribute to our long-term growth. We also invest
in research and development of advanced technologies for future software products. We believe that delivering innovative and
high-value solutions through our integrated platform is the key to meeting customer needs and to our future growth.

We believe that over the last few years we have laid a foundation for long-term growth by delivering innovative products, creating
opportunities for partners, improving customer satisfaction with key audiences, and improving our internal business processes. Our
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focus in fiscal year 2008 is building on this foundation and executing well in key areas, including continuing to innovate on our
integrated software platform, responding effectively to customer and partner needs, and continuing to focus internally on product
excellence, business efficacy, and accountability across the company.

Key market opportunities include:

Consumer technology.    We are focused on delivering consumer software products that we believe are compelling in terms of
design and features. We are also working to define the next era of consumer electronics through innovating software that powers
today�s consumer devices.
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Software plus services.    The ability to combine the power of desktop and server software with the reach of the Internet
represents an opportunity across every one of our businesses. We believe our software plus services approach will enable us to
deliver new experiences to end users and new value to businesses.

Expanding our presence on the desktop and server.    Through our ability to deliver additional value in security, messaging,
systems management, and collaboration, and new technology for high performance computing, unified communications,
healthcare, and business intelligence, we believe we are well-positioned to build on our strength with businesses of all sizes. The
expansion of our Unlimited Potential program provides the foundation for our efforts to reach the five billion people around the
globe who do not have access to PCs and digital technology today.

Summary of Results for Fiscal Years 2007, 2006, and 2005

(In millions, except percentages) 2007 2006 2005

Percent
Change 2007

versus 2006

Percent
Change 2006

versus 2005

Revenue $ 51,122 $ 44,282 $ 39,788 15% 11%
Operating income $ 18,524 $ 16,472 $ 14,561 12% 13%
Fiscal year 2007 compared to fiscal year 2006

Revenue growth was driven primarily by licensing of the 2007 Microsoft Office system and Windows Vista, increased revenue
associated with SQL Server, Windows Server, and Visual Studio, and increased Xbox 360 console sales. Foreign currency
exchange rates did not have a significant impact on consolidated revenue during the year.

Operating income growth was driven primarily by the increased revenue and decreased costs for legal settlements and legal
contingencies, partially offset by increased cost of revenue associated with Xbox 360 and Windows Vista, increased OSB data
centers costs, and increased sales and marketing expenses. In July 2007, we expanded our global Xbox 360 warranty coverage to
three years from the date of purchase for a general hardware failure indicated by three flashing red lights. As a result, we recorded
a $1.06 billion charge for anticipated costs under the warranty policy, inventory write-downs, and product returns. The increase in
sales and marketing expenses was primarily driven by increased headcount-related costs and marketing costs related to recent
product launches. Headcount-related costs increased 15%, driven by a 10% increase in headcount over the past twelve months
and an increase in salaries and benefits for existing headcount.

Fiscal year 2006 compared to fiscal year 2005

Revenue growth was driven primarily by growth in SQL Server following the launch of SQL Server 2005 in the second quarter of
fiscal year 2006, Windows Server and other server applications, increased Xbox revenue resulting from the Xbox 360 launch in
November 2005, growth in licensing of Windows PC operating systems through OEMs, and increased licensing of Office and other
MBD software. Foreign currency exchange rates did not have a significant impact on consolidated or operating segment revenue
during the fiscal year.

Operating income increased primarily reflecting the revenue increase and a decrease in costs for legal settlements and legal
contingencies. These changes were partially offset by an increase in cost of revenue primarily related to Xbox 360 and an increase
in sales and marketing expenses primarily as a result of increased investments in partner marketing and product launch-related
spending. Headcount-related costs increased 7%, driven by an increase in salaries and benefits for existing headcount and a 16%
growth in headcount.
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Fiscal Year 2008 Outlook

Worldwide macroeconomic factors have a strong correlation to business and consumer demand for our software, services, games,
and Internet service offerings. We expect a broad continuation in the economic conditions and demand in fiscal year 2008. We also
expect continued double digit revenue growth. Given our product launches in the second half of fiscal year 2007, we expect
revenue growth to be higher in the first half of fiscal year 2008 than in the second half. We estimate worldwide PC shipments will
grow between 9% and 11%. We do not expect a significant
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impact from changes in year-over-year foreign currency exchange rates in fiscal year 2008. We expect our operating income
growth rate to exceed our revenue growth rate.

SEGMENT PRODUCT REVENUE/OPERATING INCOME (LOSS)

In July 2006, we announced a change in our operating segments reflecting previously announced reorganizations. We have five
operating segments: Client, Server and Tools, the Online Services Business, the Microsoft Business Division, and the
Entertainment and Devices Division. Prior fiscal year information has been recast to conform to the way we internally managed and
monitored performance at the business group level in fiscal year 2007.

The revenue and operating income/(loss) amounts in this section are presented on a basis consistent with U.S. Generally Accepted
Accounting Principles (�GAAP�) and include certain reconciling items attributable to each of the segments. The segment information
appearing in Note 18 � Segment Information of the Notes to Financial Statements (Part II, Item 8) is presented on a basis consistent
with the Company�s internal management reporting, in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (�SFAS�)
No. 131, Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information. Certain corporate-level activity has been excluded
from our segment operating results and is analyzed separately.

Client

(In millions, except percentages) 2007 2006 2005

Percent
Change 2007

versus 2006

Percent
Change 2006

versus 2005

Revenue $ 14,972 $ 13,089 $ 12,042 14% 9%
Operating income $ 11,603 $ 10,297 $ 9,442 13% 9%
Client offerings consist of premium edition and standard Windows operating systems. Premium offerings are those that include
additional functionality and are sold at a price above our standard versions. Premium offerings include Windows XP Professional,
XP Media Center Edition, XP Tablet PC Edition, Vista Business, Vista Home Premium, and Vista Ultimate. Standard Windows
operating systems include Windows XP Home and Windows Vista Home Basic. Client revenue growth correlates with the growth of
purchases of PCs from OEMs that pre-install versions of Windows operating systems because the OEM channel accounts for
approximately 80% of total Client revenue. The differences between unit growth rates and revenue growth rates from year to year
are affected by changes in the mix of OEM Windows operating systems licensed with premium edition operating systems as a
percentage of total OEM Windows operating systems licensed (�OEM premium mix�), changes in the geographical mix, and changes
in the channel mix of products sold by large, multi-national OEMs versus those sold by local and regional system builders.

Fiscal year 2007 compared to fiscal year 2006

Client revenue increased primarily reflecting licensing of Windows Vista. OEM revenue increased $1.46 billion or 13% driven by
13% growth in OEM license units while revenue from commercial and retail licensing of Windows operating systems increased
$422 million or 21%. During the year, the OEM Premium Mix increased 16 percentage points to 68%. Based on our estimates, total
worldwide PC shipments from all sources grew 10% to 12% driven by demand in both emerging and mature markets.

Client operating income increased reflecting the increased revenue and decreased research and development costs, partially offset
by increased Windows Vista product costs and increased sales and marketing expenses for launch-related programs. The
decrease in research and development costs reflects the capitalization of certain Windows Vista software development costs and
completion of product development on Windows Vista. Headcount-related costs decreased 3%, driven by a 1% decrease in
headcount and a decrease in stock-based compensation expense.
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Fiscal year 2006 compared to fiscal year 2005

Client revenue increased reflecting $1.18 billion or 12% growth in OEM revenue driven by 17% growth in OEM license units from
increased PC unit shipments, partially offset by a $118 million or 6% decrease in revenue from commercial and retail licensing of
Windows operating systems. During the year, the OEM premium mix increased two percentage points to 52%. OEM revenue
growth included an increase to revenue of $89 million resulting from the alignment of
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our billings associated with OEM distributors in our system builder channel with both industry standards and other Microsoft
channels.

Client operating income increased reflecting the increase in OEM revenue partially offset by a $224 million increase in sales and
marketing expenses, excluding headcount-related costs, mainly driven by increased investments in partner marketing and
Windows Vista pre-launch programs. Headcount-related costs increased 6%, driven by a 13% increase in headcount primarily
associated with Windows Vista and further investments in our sales and marketing organization, and an increase in salaries and
benefits for existing headcount, partially offset by a decrease in stock-based compensation expense.

Server and Tools

(In millions, except percentages) 2007 2006 2005

Percent
Change 2007

versus 2006

Percent
Change 2006

versus 2005

Revenue $ 11,175 $ 9,652 $ 8,367 16% 15%
Operating income $ 3,900 $ 3,035 $ 2,072 29% 46%
Server and Tools offerings consist of server software licenses and client access licenses (�CAL�) for Windows Server, Microsoft SQL
Server, and other server products. It also includes developer tools, training, certification, Microsoft Press, Premier and Professional
product support services, and Microsoft Consulting Services. Server and Tools concentrates on licensing products, applications,
tools, content, and services that make information technology professionals and developers more productive and efficient. The
segment uses multiple channels for licensing including pre-installed OEM versions, licenses through partners, and licenses directly
to end customers. We sell licenses both as one-time licenses and as multi-year volume licenses.

Fiscal year 2007 compared to fiscal year 2006

Server and server application revenue (including CAL revenue) and developer tools, training, and certification revenue increased
$1.12 billion or 14%. This increase was primarily driven by increased revenue associated with SQL Server, Windows Server, and
Visual Studio. The results reflect broad adoption of Windows Server products, especially SQL Server which grew over 20%.
Consulting, Premier, and Professional product support services revenue increased $404 million or 24% primarily due to higher
demand for Premier services in corporate enterprises. Foreign currency exchange rates accounted for a $165 million or a two
percentage point increase in revenue.

Server and Tools operating income increased reflecting the increased revenue, partially offset by growth in headcount-related costs
and cost of revenue for services. Headcount-related costs increased 12%, driven by an 11% increase in headcount and an
increase in salaries and benefits for existing headcount, partially offset by a decrease in stock-based compensation expense. Cost
of revenue increased $243 million or 13% reflecting growth in services provided.

Fiscal year 2006 compared to fiscal year 2005

Server and Tools revenue increased mainly driven by growth in SQL Server, Windows Server, and Visual Studio. SQL Server 2005
and Visual Studio 2005 were launched in the second quarter of fiscal year 2006 and produced revenue growth in these product
lines. Server and Server applications revenue (including CAL revenue) and developer tools, training and certification revenue
increased $1.07 billion or 16% during fiscal year 2006. The results reflect broad adoption of Windows Server products, especially
SQL Server, which grew over 30% for the year. Consulting, Premier and Professional product support services revenue increased
$217 million or 15% primarily due to higher demand for services.
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Server and Tools operating income increased primarily reflecting the increased revenue, partially offset by increased sales and
marketing expenses related to supporting long-term strategies and the launches of SQL Server 2005 and Visual Studio 2005.
Headcount-related costs increased 5%, driven by an 11% increase in headcount and an increase in salaries and benefits for
existing headcount, partially offset by a decrease in stock-based compensation expense.
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Online Services Business

(In millions, except percentages) 2007 2006 2005

Percent
Change 2007

versus 2006

Percent
Change 2006

versus 2005

Revenue $ 2,474 $ 2,299 $ 2,344 8% (2)%
Operating income (loss) $ (732) $ (74) $ 402 * *
* Not meaningful
The Online Services Business (�OSB�) provides personal communications services, such as e-mail and instant messaging, online
information offerings, such as Live Search, and the MSN portals and channels around the world. OSB also provides a variety of
online services such as MSN Internet Access, MSN Premium Web Services and OneCare. We earn revenue primarily from online
advertising, from consumers and partners through subscriptions and transactions generated from online paid services, and from
MSN narrowband Internet access subscribers. We have transitioned to adCenter, our own platform, for online delivery of
advertising in the U.S. and certain international markets. We continue to launch new online initiatives and expect to do so in the
future. In fiscal year 2007, we launched Windows Live Search and Live.com in 54 international markets, Live Local Search in the
U.S. and U.K., beta versions of MSN Soapbox (our expansion of the MSN Video experience), Virtual Earth� 3D, Windows Live
Hotmail, and other offerings.

Fiscal year 2007 compared to fiscal year 2006

OSB revenue increased driven primarily by advertising revenue which grew $314 million or 21% to $1.84 billion. This increase was
primarily due to growth in advertising for search, home page, email, and messaging services. The increase in advertising revenue
was partially offset by a $156 million or 31% decrease in access revenue. At June 30, 2007, we estimate that OSB had over
310 million active Hotmail accounts and over 280 million Messenger accounts.

OSB operating loss increased driven primarily by increased cost of revenue which grew $352 million or 45% and increased
headcount-related costs as a result of continued search and advertising platform investments. The increase in cost of revenue was
primarily driven by increased data center costs, online content expenses, and royalties. Headcount-related costs increased 30%,
driven by a 12% increase in headcount and an increase in salaries and benefits for existing headcount.

Fiscal year 2006 compared to fiscal year 2005

OSB revenue decreased primarily reflecting a $195 million or 28% decline in access revenue, partially offset by a $126 million or
9% increase in advertising revenue and a $23 million or 9% increase in revenue from subscription and transaction services other
than access. Advertising revenue for fiscal year 2006 was $1.52 billion. The increase in advertising revenue reflects growth in
display advertising for portals, channels, email, and messaging services, which was partially offset by a decline in search revenue
due to the transition to adCenter. As of June 30, 2006, OSB had 2.1 million access subscribers compared with 2.7 million at
June 30, 2005. In addition, OSB had over 261 million active Hotmail accounts and over 243 million active Messenger accounts as
of June 30, 2006.

OSB operating income decreased due to a $230 million or 39% increase in research and development costs, a $126 million or 22%
increase in sales and marketing expenses, and a $67 million or 9% increase in cost of revenue as we continued to invest in
adCenter, Windows Live, and other new platforms. Headcount-related costs increased 25%, reflecting a 44% increase in
headcount and increased salaries and benefits for existing employees, partially offset by a decrease in stock-based compensation.
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Microsoft Business Division

(In millions, except percentages) 2007 2006 2005

Percent
Change 2007

versus 2006

Percent
Change 2006

versus 2005

Revenue $ 16,396 $ 14,486 $ 13,520 13% 7%
Operating income $ 10,838 $ 9,620 $ 9,116 13% 6%
MBD offerings consist of the Microsoft Office system and Microsoft Dynamics business solutions. Microsoft Office system products
are designed to increase personal, team, and organization productivity through a range of programs, services, and software
solutions. Growth of revenue from the Microsoft Office system offerings, which generate over 90% of MBD revenue, depends on
our ability to add value to the core Office product set and to continue to expand our product offerings in other information worker
areas such as enterprise content management, collaboration, unified communications, and business intelligence. Microsoft
Dynamics products provide business solutions for financial management, customer relationship management, supply chain
management, and analytics applications for small and mid-size businesses, large organizations, and divisions of global enterprises.
We evaluate our results based upon the nature of the end user in two primary parts � business revenue which includes Microsoft
Office system revenue generated through volume licensing agreements and Microsoft Dynamics revenue, and consumer revenue
which includes revenue from retail packaged product sales, OEM revenue, and sales of pre-installed versions of Office in Japan.

Fiscal year 2007 compared to fiscal year 2006

MBD revenue increased primarily reflecting licensing of the 2007 Microsoft Office system. Revenue from consumer sales increased
$371 million or 11% while revenue from business sales increased $1.54 billion or 14%. The increase in business revenue includes
a 21% increase in Microsoft Dynamics customer billings. Foreign currency exchange rates accounted for a $248 million or a two
percentage point increase in revenue.

MBD operating income increased reflecting the increased revenue, partially offset by increased sales and marketing expenses and
cost of revenue primarily associated with the 2007 Microsoft Office system. The increase in sales and marketing expenses reflects
increased headcount-related expenses, increased sales support costs from our Enterprise Software Advisor channel partners, and
increased launch-related marketing expenses. Headcount-related costs increased 10%, driven by a 6% increase in headcount and
an increase in salaries and benefits for existing headcount, partially offset by decreased stock-based compensation expense.

Fiscal year 2006 compared to fiscal year 2005

MBD revenue increased reflecting an increase in business sales of $1.01 billion or 10%, partially offset by a decrease in consumer
sales of $44 million or 1%. The increase in business sales reflects a 16% increase in Microsoft Dynamics customer billings.

MBD operating income increased reflecting the increased revenue partially offset by increased sales and marketing expenses
related to supporting field sales efforts and increased research and development expenses. Headcount-related costs increased
8%, driven by a 14% increase in headcount and an increase in salaries and benefits for existing headcount, partially offset by
decreased stock-based compensation expense.
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Entertainment and Devices Division

(In millions, except percentages) 2007 2006 2005

Percent
Change 2007

versus 2006

Percent
Change 2006

versus 2005

Revenue $ 6,083 $ 4,756 $ 3,515 28% 35%
Operating loss $ (1,892) $ (1,284) $ (539) (47)% (138)%
The Entertainment and Devices Division (�EDD�) products include the Xbox video game system; PC games; consumer software and
hardware products; the Zune digital music and entertainment device; Mediaroom, our Internet protocol television software; and
Mobile and Embedded devices (Windows Mobile software platform, Windows Embedded device operating system and Windows
Automotive). The success of video game consoles is determined by console innovation and quality, the portfolio of video game
content for the console, online offerings, and the market share of the console. We believe that the functionality of the Xbox 360
console, games portfolio, and online offerings are well-positioned relative to recently launched competitive consoles.

Fiscal year 2007 compared to fiscal year 2006

EDD revenue increased primarily due to increased Xbox 360 console sales, Zune sales, and increased Xbox accessories and
video game sales. We shipped 6.6 million Xbox 360 consoles during fiscal year 2007 as compared to 5.0 million consoles during
fiscal year 2006. Xbox and PC game revenue increased $650 million or 19% as a result of increased Xbox 360 platform sales,
partially offset by decreased sales of the first generation Xbox console and related accessories and video games. Zune, which was
launched in November 2006, consumer hardware and software, and TV platforms revenue increased $539 million or 65%. Mobile
and Embedded Devices revenue increased $138 million or 28% driven by sales growth in Windows Mobile software and Windows
Embedded operating systems.

EDD operating loss increased primarily due to the $1.06 billion Xbox 360 charge recognized in the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2007
and Zune launch-related expenses. The increase in operating loss was partially offset by increased Xbox 360 platform sales and
decreased Xbox 360 console manufacturing costs. Headcount-related costs increased 15%, driven by a 9% increase in headcount
and an increase in salaries and benefits for existing headcount, partially offset by a decrease in stock-based compensation
expense.

Fiscal year 2006 compared to fiscal year 2005

EDD revenue increased primarily due to the launch of the Xbox 360 console in November 2005, partially offset by a decline in first
party Xbox game sales primarily resulting from the significant impact of Halo 2 in fiscal year 2005. The revenue growth was also
attributable to $140 million or 15% growth from our other product lines, primarily as a result of an increase in PC games sales due
to significant new game releases, especially �Age of Empires III�, and an increase in TV platform revenue due to deployments in
fiscal year 2006. Mobile and Embedded Devices revenue increased $115 million or 44% driven by unit volume increases in major
product lines, especially Windows Mobile software sales and Windows Embedded operating systems.

EDD operating loss increased primarily as a result of a $1.64 billion increase in cost of revenue resulting from the number of Xbox
360 consoles sold and higher Xbox 360 unit costs, partially offset by the revenue growth. The significant impact of Halo 2 in fiscal
year 2005 also contributed to the increase in fiscal year 2006 operating loss. Headcount-related costs increased 8%, driven by a
21% increase in headcount and an increase in salaries and benefits for existing headcount, partially offset by a decrease in
stock-based compensation expense.
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Corporate-Level Activity

(In millions, except percentages) 2007 2006 2005

Percent
Change 2007

versus 2006

Percent
Change 2006

versus 2005

Corporate-level activity $ (5,193) $ (5,122) $ (5,932) (1)% 14%
Certain corporate-level results are not allocated to our segments. Those results include expenses related to corporate operations
associated with broad-based sales and marketing, product support services, human resources, legal, finance, information
technology, corporate development and procurement activities, research and development and other costs, and legal settlements
and contingencies.

Fiscal year 2007 compared to fiscal year 2006

Corporate-level expenses increased primarily driven by increased headcount-related costs offset by decreased costs for legal
settlements and legal contingencies. Headcount-related costs increased 25%, driven by a 19% increase in headcount and an
increase in salaries and benefits for existing headcount. We incurred $511 million in legal charges during the twelve months ended
June 30, 2007, primarily related to antitrust and unfair competition consumer class actions, intellectual property claims, and an
extension payment to Sun Microsystems, Inc. under our Limited Patent Covenant and Standstill Agreement. We incurred $1.32
billion in legal charges during fiscal year 2006 which included settlement expense of $361 million related to our settlement with
RealNetworks, Inc. as well as other intellectual property and antitrust matters, a �281 million ($351 million) fine imposed by the
European Commission in July 2006 related to its 2004 decision in its competition law investigation of Microsoft, and an extension
payment to Sun Microsystems, Inc.

Fiscal year 2006 compared to fiscal year 2005

Corporate-level expenses decreased primarily reflecting decreased costs for legal settlements and legal contingencies partially
offset by increased headcount-related costs. We incurred $1.32 billion in legal charges during fiscal year 2006 as compared to
$2.31 billion in legal charges incurred during fiscal year 2005 primarily related to settlements with Novell, Inc., Gateway, IBM, and
other antitrust and competition law matters. Headcount-related costs increased 5%, driven by a 23% increase in headcount and an
increase in salaries and benefits for existing headcount, partially offset by a decrease in stock-based compensation.

Outlook

Our outlook for fiscal year 2008 is as follows:

Client    We expect revenue to grow reflecting improvement in the commercial and retail portion of the business due to increased
acceptance of Windows Vista. We expect PC shipments to grow 9% to 11% for fiscal year 2008. We believe that PC unit growth
rates will be higher in the consumer segment than in the business segment and higher in emerging markets than in mature
markets.

Server and Tools    We expect continued momentum from recent product launches and to benefit from the upcoming launches of
the new versions of SQL Server, Windows Server, and Visual Studio in the second half of fiscal year 2008.

Online Services Business    We expect increased growth in online advertising revenue as the portals, channels, and
communications services continue to expand globally and the overall Internet advertising industry continues to expand. In May
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2007, we agreed to acquire aQuantive, Inc., a digital marketing company, for approximately $6 billion in cash. We expect to
complete this transaction in August 2007. This acquisition will enable us to strengthen relationships with advertisers, agencies and
publishers by enhancing our advertising platforms and services. The acquisition also provides us with increased depth in building
and supporting next generation advertising solutions and environments such as cross media planning and video-on-demand.

Microsoft Business Division    We expect revenue to continue to increase in fiscal year 2008 due to increased customer
acceptance of the 2007 Microsoft Office system. We continue to develop plans to grow revenue in new areas such as unified
communications, enterprise content management, collaboration tools, business intelligence, and through our existing portfolio of
Microsoft Dynamics products.
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Entertainment and Devices Division    We expect revenue to increase due to the increased installed base of the Xbox 360
console and from the release of Halo 3, a new Xbox 360 game. Revenue from existing mobility and embedded devices is expected
to increase due to unit volume increases of Windows Mobile software driven by increased market demand for phone-enabled
devices and Windows Embedded operating systems.

Operating Expenses

Cost of Revenue

(In millions, except percentages) 2007 2006 2005

Percent
Change 2007

versus 2006

Percent
Change 2006

versus 2005

Cost of revenue $ 10,693  $ 7,650  $ 6,031  40%   27%  
As a percent of revenue 21% 17% 15% 4ppt 2ppt
Cost of revenue includes manufacturing and distribution costs for products sold and programs licensed, operating costs related to
product support service centers and product distribution centers, costs incurred to support and maintain Internet-based products
and services, warranty costs, inventory write-downs, and costs associated with the delivery of consulting services. Cost of revenue
increased in fiscal year 2007 primarily driven by the Xbox 360 charge, increased Windows Vista product costs, increased OSB data
center costs, and costs associated with the growth in consulting services. Cost of revenue increased in fiscal year 2006 mainly due
to a $1.64 billion increase in EDD as a result of an increase in the number of total Xbox consoles sold and higher Xbox 360 unit
costs.

Research and Development

(In millions, except percentages) 2007 2006 2005

Percent
Change 2007

versus 2006

Percent
Change 2006

versus 2005

Research and development $ 7,121  $ 6,584  $ 6,097  8%   8%
As a percent of revenue 14% 15% 15% (1)ppt �   
Research and development expenses include payroll, employee benefits, stock-based compensation expense, and other
headcount-related costs associated with product development. Research and development expenses also include third-party
development and programming costs, localization costs incurred to translate software for international markets, and the
amortization of purchased software code and services content. Research and development costs increased during fiscal year 2007
primarily due to increased headcount-related costs which grew 8%, reflecting a 9% growth in headcount and an increase in salaries
and benefits for existing headcount, partially offset by a decrease in stock-based compensation expense. Research and
development costs increased during fiscal year 2006 primarily due to increased development costs associated with upcoming
offerings and corporate research activities. Headcount-related costs increased 3% during fiscal year 2006, driven by a 17%
increase in headcount and an increase in salaries and benefits for existing headcount, partially offset by a decrease in stock-based
compensation expense.
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Sales and Marketing

(In millions, except percentages) 2007 2006 2005

Percent
Change 2007

versus 2006

Percent
Change 2006

versus 2005

Sales and marketing $ 11,455  $ 9,818  $ 8,563  17% 15%
As a percent of revenue 22% 22% 22% �   �   
Sales and marketing expenses include payroll, employee benefits, stock-based compensation expense, and other
headcount-related costs associated with sales and marketing personnel and advertising, promotions, trade shows, seminars, and
other programs. Sales and marketing expenses increased during fiscal year 2007 primarily because of increased
headcount-related costs and increased marketing costs related to recent product launches. Headcount-related costs increased
22% during fiscal year 2007, driven by an 11% increase in headcount and an increase in salaries and benefits for existing
headcount, partially offset by a decrease in stock-based compensation expense. Sales and marketing expenses increased during
fiscal year 2006 primarily because of increased headcount-related costs, investments in partner marketing and product
launch-related spending. Headcount-related costs increased 13% during fiscal year 2006, driven by a 20% increase in headcount
and an increase in salaries and benefits for existing headcount, partially offset by a decrease in stock-based compensation
expense.

General and Administrative

(In millions, except percentages) 2007 2006 2005

Percent
Change 2007

versus 2006

Percent
Change 2006

versus 2005

General and administrative $ 3,329  $ 3,758  $ 4,536  (11)%  (17)%  
As a percent of revenue 7% 8% 11% (1)ppt (3)ppt
General and administrative costs include payroll, employee benefits, stock-based compensation expense and other
headcount-related costs associated with finance, legal, facilities, certain human resources, other administrative headcount, and
legal and other administrative fees. General and administrative costs decreased during fiscal year 2007 primarily reflecting
decreased costs for legal settlements and legal contingencies, partially offset by increased headcount-related costs. During fiscal
year 2007, we incurred $511 million of legal charges primarily related to antitrust and unfair competition consumer class actions,
intellectual property claims, and extension payment to Sun Microsystems, Inc. as compared to $1.32 billion of legal charges in
fiscal year 2006. Headcount-related costs increased 15% during fiscal year 2007, driven by a 12% increase in headcount and an
increase in salaries and benefits for existing headcount. General and administrative costs decreased in fiscal year 2006 primarily
reflecting decreased costs for legal settlements and legal contingencies. During fiscal year 2006, we incurred $1.32 billion of legal
charges primarily related to antitrust and unfair competition consumer class actions, intellectual property claims, and an extension
payment to Sun Microsystems, Inc. Legal charges in fiscal year 2006 also included settlement expense of $361 million related to
our settlement with RealNetworks, Inc. and the �281 million ($351 million) European Commission fine. Headcount-related costs
increased 7% during fiscal year 2006, driven by an 18% increase in headcount and an increase in salaries for existing headcount.
We incurred $2.31 billion in legal charges during fiscal year 2005.
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Investment Income and Other

The components of investment income and other were as follows:

(In millions) 2007 2006 2005

Dividends and interest $ 1,319 $ 1,510 $ 1,460
Net gains on investments 650 161 856
Net losses on derivatives (358) (99) (262)
Other, net (34) 218 13

Investment income and other $ 1,577 $ 1,790 $ 2,067

For fiscal year 2007, dividends and interest income declined, reflecting a decline in the average balance of dividend and
interest-bearing investments, partly offset by higher interest rates received on our fixed-income investments. For fiscal year 2006,
dividends and interest income increased due to higher interest rates received on our fixed-income investments, partially offset by a
decline in the average balance of dividend and interest-bearing investments as a result of the $32.64 billion special dividend paid
on December 2, 2004, and stock repurchases made throughout fiscal year 2006.

For fiscal year 2007, net gains on investments increased primarily due to lower other-than-temporary impairments and gains on
sales of fixed-income investments in the current period as compared to losses in fiscal year 2006, partly offset by fewer gains on
the sale of equity investments. Other-than-temporary impairments in fiscal year 2007 were not material and were $408 million in
fiscal year 2006. Net gains on investments decreased in fiscal year 2006 primarily due to increased net losses on sales of
fixed-income investments, higher other-than-temporary impairments, and fewer net gains on equity investments in fiscal year 2006
as compared to fiscal year 2005. For fiscal year 2006, other-than-temporary impairments were $408 million, as compared to $152
million in fiscal year 2005. The increase in other-than-temporary impairments in fiscal year 2006 was driven by planned sales of
certain investments in an unrealized loss position in order to raise funds for the $20 billion tender offer announced on July 20, 2006.

Investments are considered to be impaired when a decline in fair value is judged to be other than temporary. We employ a
systematic methodology that considers available evidence in evaluating potential impairment of our investments. If the cost of an
investment exceeds its fair value, among other factors, we evaluate general market conditions, the duration and extent to which the
fair value is less than cost, and our intent and ability to hold the investment. We also consider specific adverse conditions related to
the financial health of and business outlook for the investee, including industry and sector performance, changes in technology,
operational and financing cash flow factors, and rating agency actions. Once a decline in fair value is determined to be other than
temporary, an impairment charge is recorded and a new cost basis in the investment is established.

We lend certain fixed-income and equity securities to increase investment returns. The loaned securities continue to be carried as
investments on our balance sheet. Collateral and/or security interest is determined based upon the underlying security and the
creditworthiness of the borrower. Cash collateral is recorded as an asset with a corresponding liability. We anticipate that the
magnitude of securities lent under this program will remain relatively consistent during the fiscal year.

We use derivative instruments to manage exposures to interest rates, equity prices, and foreign currency markets and to facilitate
portfolio diversification. Derivative losses during fiscal 2007 were primarily driven by net losses in time value on foreign currency
contracts used to hedge anticipated foreign currency revenues. During fiscal year 2006, we experienced lower net losses on
derivatives as compared to fiscal year 2005 primarily due to net gains on non-designated equity derivatives in fiscal 2006 as
compared to net losses in fiscal 2005 and higher net gains on commodity positions in fiscal 2006 driven by increases in the related
commodity indices. These gains were partially offset by higher net losses in time value on foreign exchange contracts used to
hedge anticipated foreign currency revenues and higher net losses on interest rate derivative contracts in fiscal 2006. Net
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derivative losses in fiscal year 2005 were primarily related to losses on equity derivatives, interest rate derivatives, and foreign
currency contracts, partly offset by gains related to commodity positions used to provide portfolio diversification. Gains and losses
arising from derivatives not designated as accounting hedges are in large part economically offset by unrealized losses and gains,
respectively, in the underlying securities which are recorded as a component of other comprehensive income. Commodity
derivatives are held for the purpose of portfolio diversification.
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Other, net in fiscal year 2006 includes $195 million of gains that resulted from the restructuring of joint venture relationships
between Microsoft and NBC related to MSNBC Cable L.L.C. and MSNBC Interactive News, L.L.C.

Income Taxes

Our effective tax rate for fiscal years 2007, 2006, and 2005 was 30%, 31%, and 26%, respectively. The fiscal year 2007 rate
reflects a recurring effective tax rate of 31% offset by a $195 million reduction resulting from various changes in tax positions taken
in prior periods, related primarily to favorable developments in an IRS position and multiple foreign audit assessments. During fiscal
year 2006, we recorded a tax benefit of $108 million from the resolution of state audits and recorded a charge of �281 million ($351
million) from the European Commission fine which was not tax deductible. The 2005 tax rate was lower from the reversal of
previously accrued taxes and from an IRS settlement.

Financial Condition

Cash and equivalents and short-term investments totaled $23.41 billion and $34.16 billion as of June 30, 2007 and 2006,
respectively. Equity and other investments were $10.12 billion and $9.23 billion as of June 30, 2007 and 2006, respectively. Our
investments consist primarily of fixed-income securities, diversified among industries and individual issuers. Our investments are
generally liquid and investment grade. The portfolio is invested predominantly in U.S.-dollar-denominated securities, but also
includes foreign-denominated securities in order to diversify financial risk. As a result of the special dividend paid in the second
quarter of fiscal year 2005 and shares repurchased, our retained deficit, including accumulated other comprehensive income, was
$29.46 billion at June 30, 2007. Our retained deficit is not expected to impact our future ability to operate or pay dividends given our
continuing profitability and strong cash and financial position.

Unearned Revenue

Unearned revenue from volume licensing programs represents customer billings, paid either upfront or annually at the beginning of
each billing coverage period, that are accounted for as subscriptions with revenue recognized ratably over the billing coverage
period. For certain other licensing arrangements, revenue attributable to undelivered elements, including free post-delivery
telephone support and the right to receive unspecified upgrades/enhancements of Microsoft Internet Explorer on a
when-and-if-available basis for Windows XP and previous PC operating systems, is based on the sales price of those elements
when sold separately and is recognized ratably on a straight-line basis over the life cycle of the related product. Other unearned
revenue includes services, Microsoft Dynamics business solution products, Xbox Live subscriptions, advertising, and TV platform
for which we have been paid upfront and earn the revenue when we provide the service or software, or otherwise meet the revenue
recognition criteria.

The following table outlines the expected recognition of unearned revenue as of June 30, 2007:

(In millions)
Recognition of

Unearned Revenue

Three months ended:
September 30, 2007 $ 4,021
December 31, 2007 3,245
March 31, 2008 2,264
June 30, 2008 1,249
Thereafter 1,867

Unearned revenue $ 12,646
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Cash Flows

Fiscal year 2007 compared to fiscal year 2006

Cash flow from operations increased $3.39 billion due to an increase in cash received from customers driven by 15% revenue
growth, along with a $1.64 billion decrease in cash outflow for other current assets primarily reflecting changes in inventory. Cash
used for financing increased $3.98 billion. Several events occurred during fiscal year 2007 that affected cash used for financing.
We issued $6.78 billion of common stock, including $3.25 billion related to 113 million call options exercised by JPMorgan in
December 2006. We also completed our tender offer on August 17, 2006, which was included in the $27.58 billion of common
stock repurchases. Cash from investing decreased $1.91 billion due to a $3.49 billion decline in securities lending activity where
cash collateral is received from the counterparty along with $1.19 billion spent on acquisitions of companies and additions to
property and equipment. These impacts were partially offset by a $2.77 billion increase in net cash from combined investment
purchases, sales, and maturities.

Fiscal year 2006 compared to fiscal year 2005

Cash flow from operations decreased $2.20 billion primarily due to increased payments to fund a $987 million increase in Xbox 360
inventory and product costs and increased payments to employees resulting from a 16% growth in headcount. These factors were
partially offset by increased cash receipts from customers driven by our 11% revenue growth and a $1.74 billion increase in
unearned revenue. Cash used in financing decreased $20.52 billion driven by a $32.57 billion reduction in cash dividend payments.
This impact was partially offset by an $11.15 billion increase in common stock repurchases. Net cash from investing decreased
$7.02 billion driven primarily by an $8.93 billion decrease in cash from combined purchase, sales, and maturities of investments
and a $766 million increase in additions to property and equipment. These factors were partially offset by $3.12 billion of net cash
proceeds from our securities lending program.

We have no material long-term debt. Stockholders� equity at June 30, 2007, was $31.10 billion. We will continue to invest in sales,
marketing, product support infrastructure, and existing and advanced areas of technology. Additions to property and equipment will
continue, including new facilities, data centers, and computer systems for research and development, sales and marketing,
support, and administrative staff. Commitments for constructing new buildings were $821 million on June 30, 2007. We have
operating leases for most U.S. and international sales and support offices and certain equipment under which we incurred rental
expense totaling $326 million, $276 million, and $299 million in fiscal year 2007, 2006, and 2005, respectively. We have not
engaged in any related party transactions or arrangements with unconsolidated entities or other persons that are reasonably likely
to materially affect liquidity or the availability of requirements for capital resources. In May 2007, we announced that we had
entered into an agreement to purchase aQuantive, Inc. for approximately $6 billion in cash. We expect to complete this transaction
in August 2007.

During fiscal years 2007 and 2006, our Board of Directors declared the following dividends:

Declaration Date Per Share Dividend Record Date Total Amount Payment Date
(in

millions)
(Fiscal year 2007)
September 13, 2006 $ 0.10 November 16, 2006 $ 980 December 14, 2006
December 20, 2006 $ 0.10 February 15, 2007 $ 978 March 8, 2007
March 26, 2007 $ 0.10 May 17, 2007 $ 952 June 14, 2007
June 27, 2007 $ 0.10 August 16, 2007 $ 938 September 13, 2007

(Fiscal year 2006)
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September 23, 2005 $ 0.08 November 17, 2005 $ 846 December 8, 2005
December 14, 2005 $ 0.09 February 17, 2006 $ 926 March 9, 2006
March 27, 2006 $ 0.09 May 17, 2006 $ 916 June 8, 2006
June 21, 2006 $ 0.09 August 17,2006 $ 897 September 14, 2006
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On July 20, 2006, we announced the completion of the repurchase program initially approved by our Board of Directors on July 20,
2004 to buy back up to $30.00 billion in Microsoft common stock. During fiscal year 2006, we repurchased 754 million shares, or
$19.75 billion, of our common stock under this plan. On July 20, 2006, we announced that our Board of Directors authorized two
new share repurchase programs: a $20.00 billion tender offer, which was completed on August 17, 2006; and authorization for up
to an additional $20.00 billion ongoing share repurchase program with an expiration of June 30, 2011. Under the tender offer, we
repurchased approximately 155 million shares of common stock, or 1.5% of our common shares outstanding, for approximately
$3.84 billion at a price per share of $24.75. On August 18, 2006, we announced that the authorization for the $20.00 billion ongoing
share repurchase program had been increased by approximately $16.16 billion. As a result, we are authorized to repurchase
additional shares in an amount up to $36.16 billion through June 30, 2011. As of June 30, 2007, approximately $15.14 billion
remained of the $36.16 billion approved repurchase amount.

We believe existing cash and equivalents and short-term investments, together with funds generated from operations, should be
sufficient to meet operating requirements, regular quarterly dividends, and planned share repurchases. Our philosophy regarding
the maintenance of a balance sheet with a large component of cash and short-term investments, as well as equity and other
investments, reflects our views on potential future capital requirements relating to research and development, creation and
expansion of sales distribution channels, investments and acquisitions, share dilution management, legal risks, and challenges to
our business model. We regularly assess our investment management approach in view of our current and potential future needs.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements and Contractual Obligations

We provide indemnifications of varying scope and amount to certain customers against claims of intellectual property infringement
made by third parties arising from the use of our products. We evaluate estimated losses for such indemnifications under SFAS
No. 5, Accounting for Contingencies, as interpreted by Financial Accounting Standards Board (�FASB�) Interpretation No. 45,
Guarantor�s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others.
We consider factors such as the degree of probability of an unfavorable outcome and the ability to make a reasonable estimate of
the amount of loss. To date, we have not encountered material costs as a result of such obligations and have not accrued any
material liabilities related to such indemnifications in our financial statements.
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Contractual Obligations

The following table summarizes our outstanding contractual obligations as of June 30, 2007:

(In millions)(1)
Payments due by period

Fiscal Years 2008 2009-2011 2012-2014
2015 and
thereafter Total

Long-term debt $ � $ � $ � $ � $ �
Construction commitments(2)(4) 821 � � � 821
Lease obligations:
Capital leases � � � � �
Operating leases(3) 349 618 258 116 1,341
Purchase commitments(4) 1,824 19 � � 1,843
Other long-term liabilities(5) 1 519 �  � 520

Total contractual obligations $ 2,995 $ 1,156 $ 258 $ 116 $ 4,525

(1) We have excluded the $768 million long-term contingent liability related to the antitrust and unfair competition class action
lawsuits referred to in Note 17 � Contingencies of the Notes to Financial Statements (Part II, Item 8) as the timing and amount
to be resolved in cash versus vouchers is subject to uncertainty.

(2) We have certain commitments for the construction of buildings. We expect to fund these commitments with existing cash and
cash flows from operations.

(3) Our future minimum rental commitments under noncancellable leases comprise the majority of the operating lease obligations
presented above. We expect to fund these commitments with existing cash and cash flows from operations.

(4) The amount presented above as purchase and construction commitments includes all known open purchase orders and all
known contracts that are take-or-pay contracts. We expect to fund these commitments with existing cash and our cash flows
from operations.

(5) We have excluded other obligations of $5.86 billion from other long-term liabilities presented above as the amount that will be
settled in cash is not known. We have also excluded non-cash items of $71 million and unearned revenue of $1.87 billion.

In May 2007, we entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger with aQuantive, Inc. to acquire the company for approximately $6
billion in cash. As part of the Agreement and Plan of Merger, we are required to pay $500 million if certain events occur that result
in the merger not being completed. Due to the nature of this obligation, this amount has not been accrued for or included in the
above schedule. The acquisition is expected to be completed in August 2007.

RECENTLY ISSUED ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

In June 2006, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 48 (�FIN No. 48�), Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes � an interpretation
of FASB Statement No. 109, which clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in an enterprise�s financial
statements in accordance with FASB Statement No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes. The Interpretation provides a recognition
threshold and measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or expected
to be taken in a tax return. Under FIN No. 48, the Company may recognize the tax benefit from an uncertain tax position only if it is
more likely than not that the tax position will be sustained on examination by the taxing authorities, based on the technical merits of
the position. The tax benefits recognized in the financial statements from such a position should be measured based on the largest
benefit that has a greater than 50% likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement. FIN No. 48 also provides guidance on
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derecognition, classification, interest and penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclosure, and transition. FIN No. 48 is effective
for us beginning July 1, 2007. Based on our current assessment, the adoption of FIN No. 48 is expected to decrease beginning
retained earnings by $200 million to $400 million upon adoption.

In June 2006, the FASB ratified the Emerging Issues Task Force (�EITF�) consensus on EITF Issue No. 06-2, �Accounting for
Sabbatical Leave and Other Similar Benefits Pursuant to FASB Statement No. 43.� EITF Issue No. 06-2 requires companies to
accrue the costs of compensated absences under a sabbatical or similar benefit
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arrangement over the requisite service period. EITF Issue No. 06-2 is effective for us beginning July 1, 2007. The cumulative effect
of the application of this consensus on prior period results should be recognized through a cumulative-effect adjustment to retained
earnings as of the beginning of the year of adoption. Elective retrospective application is also permitted. We do not expect the
application of this consensus to have a material impact on our financial statements.

In fiscal year 2007, we adopted Staff Accounting Bulletin (�SAB�) No. 108, Considering the Effects of Prior Year Misstatements when
Quantifying Current Year Misstatements. SAB No. 108 requires companies to quantify misstatements using both a balance sheet
(iron curtain) and an income statement (rollover) approach to evaluate whether either approach results in an error that is material in
light of relevant quantitative and qualitative factors, and provides for a one-time cumulative effect transition adjustment. The
adoption of SAB No. 108 did not have an impact on our financial statements.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, Fair Value Measurements, which defines fair value, establishes a framework
for measuring fair value in generally accepted accounting principles, and expands disclosures about fair value measurements.
SFAS No. 157 does not require any new fair value measurements, but provides guidance on how to measure fair value by
providing a fair value hierarchy used to classify the source of the information. This statement is effective for us beginning July 1,
2008. We currently are assessing the potential impact that adoption of SFAS No. 157 would have on our financial statements.

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities. SFAS
No. 159 gives us the irrevocable option to carry many financial assets and liabilities at fair values, with changes in fair value
recognized in earnings. SFAS No. 159 is effective for us beginning July 1, 2008, although early adoption is permitted. We are
currently assessing the potential impact that adoption of SFAS No. 159 will have on our financial statements.

APPLICATION OF CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Our financial statements and accompanying notes are prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. Preparing financial statements
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue, and
expenses. These estimates and assumptions are affected by management�s application of accounting policies. Critical accounting
policies for us include revenue recognition, impairment of investment securities, impairment of goodwill, accounting for research
and development costs, accounting for legal contingencies, accounting for income taxes, and accounting for stock-based
compensation.

We account for the licensing of software in accordance with American Institute of Certified Public Accountants Statement of
Position (�SOP�) 97-2, Software Revenue Recognition. The application of SOP 97-2 requires judgment, including whether a software
arrangement includes multiple elements, and if so, whether vendor-specific objective evidence (�VSOE�) of fair value exists for those
elements. For some of our products, customers receive certain elements of our products over a period of time. These elements
include free post-delivery telephone support and the right to receive unspecified upgrades/enhancements of Microsoft Internet
Explorer on a when-and-if-available basis. The fair value of these elements is recognized over the estimated life cycle for the
Windows XP and previous PC operating systems. For Windows Vista, there are no significant undelivered elements and
accordingly, no license revenue is deferred for Windows Vista sales. Changes to the elements in a software arrangement, the
ability to identify VSOE for those elements, the fair value of the respective elements, and changes to a product�s estimated life cycle
could materially impact the amount of earned and unearned revenue. Judgment is also required to assess whether future releases
of certain software represent new products or upgrades and enhancements to existing products.

SFAS No. 115, Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities, and SAB Topic 5M, Accounting for Noncurrent
Marketable Equity Securities, provide guidance on determining when an investment is other-than-temporarily impaired. Investments
are reviewed quarterly for indicators of other-than-temporary impairment. This determination requires significant judgment. In
making this judgment, we employ a systematic methodology quarterly that considers available quantitative and qualitative evidence
in evaluating potential impairment of our investments. If the cost of an investment exceeds its fair value, we evaluate, among other
factors, general market conditions, the duration and extent to which the fair value is less than cost, and our intent and ability to hold
the investment. We also consider specific adverse conditions related to the financial health of and business outlook for the
investee, including industry and sector performance, changes in technology, operational and financing cash flow factors, and rating
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recorded and a new cost basis in the investment is established. If market, industry, and/or investee conditions deteriorate, we may
incur future impairments.

SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, requires that goodwill be tested for impairment at the reporting unit level
(operating segment or one level below an operating segment) on an annual basis (July 1 for us) and between annual tests if an
event occurs or circumstances change that would more likely than not reduce the fair value of a reporting unit below its carrying
value. These events or circumstances could include a significant change in the business climate, legal factors, operating
performance indicators, competition or sale or disposition of a significant portion of a reporting unit. Application of the goodwill
impairment test requires judgment, including the identification of reporting units, assignment of assets and liabilities to reporting
units, assignment of goodwill to reporting units, and determination of the fair value of each reporting unit. The fair value of each
reporting unit is estimated using a discounted cash flow methodology. This requires significant judgments including estimation of
future cash flows, which is dependent on internal forecasts, estimation of the long-term rate of growth for our business, the useful
life over which cash flows will occur, and determination of our weighted average cost of capital. Changes in these estimates and
assumptions could materially affect the determination of fair value and/or goodwill impairment for each reporting unit. We allocate
goodwill to reporting units based on the reporting unit expected to benefit from the combination. We evaluate our reporting units on
an annual basis and, if necessary, reassign goodwill using a relative fair value allocation approach.

We account for research and development costs in accordance with applicable accounting pronouncements, including SFAS No. 2,
Accounting for Research and Development Costs, and SFAS No. 86, Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software to be Sold,
Leased, or Otherwise Marketed. SFAS No. 86 specifies that costs incurred internally in researching and developing a computer
software product should be charged to expense until technological feasibility has been established for the product. Once
technological feasibility is established, all software costs should be capitalized until the product is available for general release to
customers. Judgment is required in determining when technological feasibility of a product is established. We have determined that
technological feasibility for our software products is reached after all high-risk development issues have been resolved through
coding and testing. This is generally shortly before the products are released to manufacturing. We determined that technological
feasibility was reached with Windows Vista and the 2007 Microsoft Office system during the second quarter of fiscal year 2007 and
accordingly, we capitalized approximately $120 million of software development costs. The amortization of these costs will be
included in cost of revenue over the estimated life of the products. Previously, costs incurred prior to technological feasibility were
not material and were expensed as incurred.

The outcomes of legal proceedings and claims brought against us are subject to significant uncertainty. SFAS No. 5, Accounting for
Contingencies, requires that an estimated loss from a loss contingency such as a legal proceeding or claim should be accrued by a
charge to income if it is probable that an asset has been impaired or a liability has been incurred and the amount of the loss can be
reasonably estimated. Disclosure of a contingency is required if there is at least a reasonable possibility that a loss has been
incurred. In determining whether a loss should be accrued we evaluate, among other factors, the degree of probability of an
unfavorable outcome and the ability to make a reasonable estimate of the amount of loss. Changes in these factors could
materially impact our results of operations, financial position, or our cash flows.

SFAS No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes, establishes financial accounting and reporting standards for the effect of income
taxes. The objectives of accounting for income taxes are to recognize the amount of taxes payable or refundable for the current
year and deferred tax liabilities and assets for the future tax consequences of events that have been recognized in an entity�s
financial statements or tax returns. Judgment is required in assessing the future tax consequences of events that have been
recognized in our financial statements or tax returns. Variations in the actual outcome of these future tax consequences could
materially impact our financial position, results of operations, or cash flows. Accruals for tax contingencies are provided for in
accordance with the requirements of SFAS No. 5.

We account for stock-based compensation in accordance with SFAS No. 123(R), Share-Based Payment. Under the fair value
recognition provisions of this statement, share-based compensation cost is measured at the grant date based on the fair value of
the award and is recognized as expense over the requisite service period. Determining the fair value of share-based awards at the
grant date requires judgment, including estimating expected dividends. In addition, judgment is also required in estimating the
amount of share-based awards that are expected to be forfeited.
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If actual results differ significantly from these estimates, stock-based compensation expense and our results of operations could be
materially impacted.

We account for product warranties in accordance with SFAS No. 5, Accounting for Contingencies. We provide for the estimated
costs of hardware and software warranties at the time the related revenue is recognized. For hardware warranty, we estimate the
costs based on historical and projected product failure rates, historical and projected repair costs, and knowledge of specific
product failures (if any). The specific hardware warranty terms and conditions vary depending upon the product sold and country in
which we do business, but generally include technical support, parts, and labor over a period generally ranging from 90 days to
three years. For software, we estimate the costs to provide bug fixes, such as security patches, over the life of the software. We
regularly reevaluate our estimates to assess the adequacy of the recorded warranty liabilities and adjust the amounts as
necessary.
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Statement of Management�s Responsibility for Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements and related information that are presented
in this report. The consolidated financial statements, which include amounts based on management�s estimates and judgments,
have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

The Company maintains accounting and internal control systems to provide reasonable assurance at reasonable cost that assets
are safeguarded against loss from unauthorized use or disposition, and that the financial records are reliable for preparing financial
statements and maintaining accountability for assets. These systems are augmented by written policies, an organizational structure
providing division of responsibilities, careful selection and training of qualified personnel, and a program of internal audits.

The Company engaged Deloitte & Touche LLP, independent auditors, to audit and render an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements and management�s report on its assessment and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting in
accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).

The Board of Directors, through its Audit Committee, consisting solely of independent directors of the Company, meets periodically
with management, internal auditors and our independent auditors to ensure that each is meeting its responsibilities and to discuss
matters concerning internal controls and financial reporting. Deloitte & Touche LLP and the internal auditors each have full and free
access to the Audit Committee.

Steven A. Ballmer

Chief Executive Officer

Christopher P. Liddell

Senior Vice President, Finance and Administration;
Chief Financial Officer

Frank H. Brod

Corporate Vice President, Finance and
Administration; Chief Accounting Officer
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ITEM 7A.    QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

We are exposed to foreign currency, interest rate, fixed-income, equity, and commodity price risks. A portion of these risks is
hedged, but fluctuations could impact our results of operations, financial position, and cash flows. We hedge a portion of
anticipated revenue and accounts receivable exposure to foreign currency fluctuations, primarily with option contracts. We monitor
our foreign currency exposures daily to maximize the overall effectiveness of our foreign currency hedge positions. Principal
currencies hedged include the euro, Japanese yen, British pound, and Canadian dollar. Fixed-income securities and interest rate
derivatives are subject primarily to interest rate risk. The portfolio is diversified and structured to minimize credit risk. Securities held
in our equity and other investments portfolio and equity derivatives are subject to price risk, and are generally not hedged.
However, we use put-call collars to hedge our price risk on certain equity securities that are held primarily for strategic purposes.
Commodity derivatives held for the purpose of portfolio diversification are subject to commodity price risk.

We use a value-at-risk (�VaR�) model to estimate and quantify our market risks. VaR is the expected loss, for a given confidence
level, in fair value of our portfolio due to adverse market movements over a defined time horizon. The VaR model is not intended to
represent actual losses in fair value, but is used as a risk estimation and management tool. The model used for currencies,
equities, and commodities is geometric Brownian motion, which allows incorporation of optionality with regard to these risk
exposures. For interest rate risk, exposures such as key rate durations and spread durations are used in calculations that reflect
the principle that fixed-income security prices revert to maturity value over time.

VaR is calculated by computing the exposures of each holding�s market value to a range of over 1,000 equity, fixed-income, foreign
exchange, and commodity risk factors. The exposures are then used to compute the parameters of a distribution of potential
changes in the total market value of all holdings, taking into account the weighted historical volatilities of the different rates and
prices and the weighted historical correlations among the different rates and prices. The VaR is then calculated as the total loss
that will not be exceeded at the 97.5 percentile confidence level or, alternatively stated, the losses could exceed the VaR in 25 out
of 1,000 cases. Several risk factors are not captured in the model, including liquidity risk, operational risk, credit risk, and legal risk.

Certain securities in our equity portfolio are held for strategic purposes. We hedge the value of a portion of these securities through
the use of derivative contracts such as put-call collars. In these arrangements, we hedge a security�s equity price risk below the
purchased put strike and forgo most or all of the benefits of the security�s appreciation above the sold call strike. We also hold
equity securities for general investment return purposes. We have incurred material impairment charges related to these securities
in previous periods.

The VaR amounts disclosed below are used as a risk management tool and reflect an estimate of potential reductions in fair value
of our portfolio. Losses in fair value over the specified holding period can exceed the reported VaR by significant amounts and can
also accumulate over a longer time horizon than the specified holding period used in the VaR analysis. VaR amounts are not
necessarily reflective of potential accounting losses, including determinations of other-than-temporary losses in fair value in
accordance with U.S. GAAP.

VaR numbers are shown separately for interest rate, currency rate, equity price, and commodity price risks. These VaR numbers
include the underlying portfolio positions and related hedges. We use historical data to estimate VaR. Given the reliance on
historical data, VaR is most effective in estimating risk exposures in markets in which there are no fundamental changes or shifts in
market conditions. An inherent limitation in VaR is that the distribution of past changes in market risk factors may not produce
accurate predictions of future market risk.

The following table sets forth the one-day VaR for substantially all of our positions as of and for the years ended June 30, 2007 and
2006:
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(In millions)
Year ended June 30, 2007

Risk Categories June 30, 2007 June 30, 2006 Average High Low

Interest rates $ 34 $ 66 $ 43 $ 67 $ 32
Currency rates 55 91 52 101 15
Equity prices 60 88 59 89 49
Commodity prices 7 12 7 12 4

Total one-day VaR for the combined risk categories was $95 million at June 30, 2007 and $158 million at June 30, 2006. The total
VaR is 39% less at June 30, 2007, and 38% less at June 30, 2006, than the sum of the separate risk categories in the above table
due to the diversification benefit of the overall portfolio.
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ITEM 8.    FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

INCOME STATEMENTS

(In millions, except per share amounts)

Year Ended June 30 2007 2006 2005

Revenue $ 51,122 $ 44,282 $ 39,788
Operating expenses:
Cost of revenue 10,693 7,650 6,031
Research and development 7,121 6,584 6,097
Sales and marketing 11,455 9,818 8,563
General and administrative 3,329 3,758 4,536

Total operating expenses 32,598 27,810 25,227

Operating income 18,524 16,472 14,561
Investment income and other 1,577 1,790 2,067

Income before income taxes 20,101 18,262 16,628
Provision for income taxes 6,036 5,663 4,374

Net income $ 14,065 $ 12,599 $ 12,254

Earnings per share:
Basic $ 1.44 $ 1.21 $ 1.13

Diluted $ 1.42 $ 1.20 $ 1.12

Weighted average shares outstanding:
Basic 9,742 10,438 10,839
Diluted 9,886 10,531 10,906

Cash dividends declared per common share $ 0.40 $ 0.35 $ 3.40
See accompanying notes.

PAGE 40

Edgar Filing: MICROSOFT CORP - Form 10-K

Table of Contents 73



Table of Contents

 Part II 

Item 8

BALANCE SHEETS

(In millions)

June 30 2007 2006
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and equivalents $ 6,111 $ 6,714
Short-term investments (including securities pledged as collateral of $2,356 and $3,065) 17,300 27,447

Total cash and short-term investments 23,411 34,161
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $117 and $142 11,338 9,316
Inventories 1,127 1,478
Deferred income taxes 1,899 1,940
Other 2,393 2,115

Total current assets 40,168 49,010
Property and equipment, net 4,350 3,044
Equity and other investments 10,117 9,232
Goodwill 4,760 3,866
Intangible assets, net 878 539
Deferred income taxes 1,389 2,611
Other long-term assets 1,509 1,295

Total assets $ 63,171 $ 69,597

Liabilities and stockholders� equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 3,247 $ 2,909
Accrued compensation 2,325 1,938
Income taxes 1,040 1,557
Short-term unearned revenue 10,779 9,138
Securities lending payable 2,741 3,117
Other 3,622 3,783

Total current liabilities 23,754 22,442
Long-term unearned revenue 1,867 1,764
Other long-term liabilities 6,453 5,287
Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders� equity:
Common stock and paid-in capital � shares authorized 24,000; outstanding 9,380 and 10,062 60,557 59,005
Retained deficit, including accumulated other comprehensive income of $1,654 and $1,229 (29,460) (18,901)

Total stockholders� equity 31,097 40,104

Total liabilities and stockholders� equity $ 63,171 $ 69,597

See accompanying notes.
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CASH FLOWS STATEMENTS

(In millions)

Year Ended June 30 2007 2006 2005

Operations
Net income $ 14,065 $ 12,599 $ 12,254
Depreciation, amortization, and other noncash items 1,440 903 855
Stock-based compensation 1,550 1,715 2,448
Net recognized gains on investments (292) (270) (527)
Stock option income tax benefits � � 668
Excess tax benefits from stock-based payment arrangements (77) (89) �
Deferred income taxes 421 219 (179)
Unearned revenue 21,032 16,453 13,831
Recognition of unearned revenue (19,382) (14,729) (12,919)
Accounts receivable (1,764) (2,071) (1,243)
Other current assets 232 (1,405) (245)
Other long-term assets (435) (49) 21
Other current liabilities (552) (145) 396
Other long-term liabilities 1,558 1,273 1,245

Net cash from operations 17,796 14,404 16,605

Financing
Common stock issued 6,782 2,101 3,109
Common stock repurchased (27,575) (19,207) (8,057)
Common stock cash dividends (3,805) (3,545) (36,112)
Excess tax benefits from stock-based payment arrangements 77 89 �
Other (23) � (18)

Net cash used in financing (24,544) (20,562) (41,078)

Investing
Additions to property and equipment (2,264) (1,578) (812)
Acquisition of companies, net of cash acquired (1,150) (649) (207)
Purchases of investments (36,308) (51,117) (68,045)
Maturities of investments 4,736 3,877 29,153
Sales of investments 41,451 54,353 54,938
Securities lending payable (376) 3,117 �

Net cash from investing 6,089 8,003 15,027

Net change in cash and equivalents (659) 1,845 (9,446)
Effect of exchange rates on cash and equivalents 56 18 (7)
Cash and equivalents, beginning of period 6,714 4,851 14,304
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Cash and equivalents, end of period $ 6,111 $ 6,714 $ 4,851

See accompanying notes.
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STOCKHOLDERS� EQUITY STATEMENTS

(In millions)

Year Ended June 30 2007 2006 2005

Common stock and paid-in capital
Balance, beginning of period $ 59,005 $ 60,413 $ 56,396
Common stock issued 6,783 1,939 3,223
Common stock repurchased (6,162) (4,447) (1,737)
Stock-based compensation expense 1,550 1,715 2,448
Stock option income tax benefits/(deficiencies) (661) (617) 89
Other, net 42 2 (6)

Balance, end of period 60,557 59,005 60,413

Retained earnings (deficit)
Balance, beginning of period (18,901) (12,298) 18,429
Net income 14,065 12,599 12,254
Other comprehensive income:
Net unrealized gains/(losses) on derivative instruments 14 76 (58)
Net unrealized gains/(losses) on investments 326 (282) 371
Translation adjustments and other 85 9 (6)

Comprehensive income 14,490 12,402 12,561
Common stock cash dividends (3,837) (3,594) (36,968)
Common stock repurchased (21,212) (15,411) (6,320)

Balance, end of period (29,460) (18,901) (12,298)

Total stockholders� equity $ 31,097 $ 40,104 $ 48,115

See accompanying notes.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1    ACCOUNTING POLICIES

ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

The financial statements and accompanying notes are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America.

PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION

The financial statements include the accounts of Microsoft Corporation and its subsidiaries. Intercompany transactions and
balances have been eliminated. Equity investments in which we exercise significant influence but do not control and are not the
primary beneficiary are accounted for using the equity method. Investments in which we are not able to exercise significant
influence over the investee and which do not have readily determinable fair values are accounted for under the cost method.

ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS

Preparing financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets, liabilities, revenue, and expenses. Examples include estimates of loss contingencies, product warranties, product life
cycles, product returns, and stock-based compensation forfeiture rates; assumptions such as the elements comprising a software
arrangement, including the distinction between upgrades/enhancements and new products; when technological feasibility is
achieved for our products; the potential outcome of future tax consequences of events that have been recognized in our financial
statements or tax returns; estimating the fair value and/or goodwill impairment for our reporting units; and determining when
investment impairments are other-than-temporary. Actual results and outcomes may differ from management�s estimates and
assumptions.

FOREIGN CURRENCIES

Assets and liabilities recorded in foreign currencies are translated at the exchange rate on the balance sheet date. Revenue and
expenses are translated at average rates of exchange prevailing during the year. Translation adjustments resulting from this
process are charged or credited to Other Comprehensive Income (�OCI�).

REVENUE RECOGNITION

Revenue is recognized when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, delivery has occurred, the fee is fixed or determinable,
and collectibility is probable. We enter into certain arrangements where we are obligated to deliver multiple products and/or
services (multiple elements). In these arrangements, we generally allocate the total revenue among the elements based on the
sales price of each element when sold separately (vendor-specific objective evidence).

Revenue for retail packaged products, products licensed to original equipment manufacturers (�OEM�), and perpetual licenses for
current products under our Open and Select volume licensing programs generally is recognized as products are shipped. A portion
of the revenue related to certain products, which include all Windows XP and previous PC operating systems, is recorded as
unearned due to undelivered elements including, in some cases, free post-delivery telephone support and the right to receive
unspecified upgrades/enhancements of Microsoft Internet Explorer on a when-and-if-available basis. The amount of revenue
allocated to undelivered elements is based on the vendor-specific objective evidence of fair value for those elements using the
residual method. Under the residual method, the total fair value of the undelivered elements, as indicated by vendor-specific
objective evidence, is recorded as unearned, and the difference between the total arrangement fee and the amount recorded as
unearned for the undelivered elements is recognized as revenue related to delivered elements. Unearned revenue due to
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undelivered elements is recognized ratably on a straight-line basis over the related product�s life cycle. Revenue related to Windows
Vista is not subject to a similar deferral because there are no significant undelivered elements.

Revenue from multi-year licensing arrangements are accounted for as subscriptions, with billings recorded as unearned revenue
and recognized as revenue ratably over the billing coverage period. Certain multi-year licensing arrangements include rights to
receive future versions of software product on a when-and-if-available basis under Open and Select volume licensing programs
(Software Assurance). In addition, other multi-year licensing
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arrangements include a perpetual license for current products combined with rights to receive future versions of software products
on a when-and-if-available basis under Open, Select, and Enterprise Agreement volume licensing programs. Premier support
services agreements, MSN Internet Access subscriptions, Xbox Live, and Microsoft Developer Network subscriptions are also
accounted for as subscriptions.

Revenue related to our Xbox game console and other hardware components is recognized upon shipment of the product to
retailers. Revenue related to games published by us is recognized when those games have been delivered to retailers. Revenue
related to games published by third parties for use on the Xbox platform is recognized when manufactured for the game publishers.
Online advertising revenue is recognized as advertisements are displayed. Search advertising revenue is recognized when the ad
appears in the search results or when the action necessary to earn the revenue has been completed. Consulting services revenue
is recognized as services are rendered, generally based on the negotiated hourly rate in the consulting arrangement and the
number of hours worked during the period. Consulting revenue for fixed-price services arrangements is recognized based on
percentage of completion.

Costs related to insignificant obligations, which include telephone support for developer tools software, PC games, computer
hardware, and Xbox, are accrued when the related revenue is recognized. Provisions are recorded for estimated returns,
concessions, warranties, and bad debts.

COST OF REVENUE

Cost of revenue includes manufacturing and distribution costs for products sold and programs licensed, operating costs related to
product support service centers and product distribution centers, costs incurred to support and maintain Internet-based products
and services, warranty costs, inventory write-downs, costs associated with the delivery of consulting services, and the amortization
of capitalized research and development costs associated with software products that have reached technological feasibility.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

Research and development expenses include payroll, employee benefits, stock-based compensation, and other headcount-related
costs associated with product development. We have determined that technological feasibility for our software products is reached
shortly before the products are released to manufacturing. The amortization of these costs is included in cost of revenue over the
estimated life of the products. We determined that technological feasibility was reached with Windows Vista and the 2007 Microsoft
Office system during the second quarter of fiscal year 2007 and accordingly, we capitalized approximately $120 million of software
development costs. Previously, costs incurred prior to technological feasibility were not material and were expensed as incurred.

SALES AND MARKETING

Sales and marketing expenses include payroll, employee benefits, stock-based compensation, and other headcount-related costs
associated with sales and marketing personnel and advertising, promotions, tradeshows, seminars, and other marketing-related
programs. Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Advertising expense was $1.33 billion, $1.23 billion, and $995 million in
fiscal years 2007, 2006, and 2005, respectively.

INCOME TAXES

Income tax expense includes U.S. and international income taxes, plus the provision for U.S. taxes on undistributed earnings of
international subsidiaries not deemed to be permanently invested. Certain items of income and expense are not reported in tax
returns and financial statements in the same year. The tax effect of such temporary differences is reported as deferred income
taxes.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
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We consider all highly liquid interest-earning investments with a maturity of three months or less at the date of purchase to be cash
equivalents. The fair value of these investments approximates their carrying value. In general, investments with original maturities
of greater than three months and remaining maturities of less than one year are classified as short-term investments. Investments
with maturities beyond one year may be classified as short-term based on their highly liquid nature and because such marketable
securities represent the investment of cash that is available for current operations. All cash equivalents and short-term investments
are classified as available for sale and are recorded at market value using the specific identification method. Changes in market
value are reflected in OCI (excluding other-than-temporary impairments).
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Equity and other investments may include both debt and equity instruments. Debt securities and publicly traded equity securities
are classified as available for sale and are recorded at market using the specific identification method. Changes in market value are
reflected in OCI (excluding other-than-temporary impairments). All other investments, excluding those accounted for using the
equity method, are recorded at cost.

We lend certain fixed-income and equity securities to enhance investment income. The loaned securities continue to be carried as
investments on our balance sheet. Collateral and/or security interest is determined based upon the underlying security and the
creditworthiness of the borrower. Cash collateral is recorded as an asset with a corresponding liability.

Investments are considered to be impaired when a decline in fair value is judged to be other-than-temporary. We employ a
systematic methodology on a quarterly basis that considers available quantitative and qualitative evidence in evaluating potential
impairment of our investments. If the cost of an investment exceeds its fair value, we evaluate, among other factors, general market
conditions, the duration and extent to which the fair value is less than cost, and our intent and ability to hold the investment. We
also consider specific adverse conditions related to the financial health of and business outlook for the investee, including industry
and sector performance, changes in technology, operational and financing cash flow factors, and rating agency actions. Once a
decline in fair value is determined to be other-than-temporary, an impairment charge is recorded and a new cost basis in the
investment is established.

We use derivative instruments to manage exposures to foreign currency, equity price, interest rate and credit risks, to enhance
returns, and to facilitate portfolio diversification. Our objectives for holding derivatives include reducing, eliminating, and efficiently
managing the economic impact of these exposures as effectively as possible. Derivative instruments are recognized as either
assets or liabilities and are measured at fair value. The accounting for changes in the fair value of a derivative depends on the
intended use of the derivative and the resulting designation. For a derivative instrument designated as a fair-value hedge, the gain
or loss is recognized in earnings in the period of change together with the offsetting loss or gain on the hedged item attributed to
the risk being hedged. For a derivative instrument designated as a cash-flow hedge, the effective portion of the derivative�s gain or
loss is initially reported as a component of OCI and is subsequently recognized in earnings when the hedged exposure affects
earnings. The ineffective portion of the gain or loss is recognized in earnings. For options designated either as fair-value or
cash-flow hedges, changes in the time value are excluded from the assessment of hedge effectiveness and are recognized in
earnings. Gains and losses from changes in fair values of derivatives that are not designated as hedges for accounting purposes
are recognized in earnings.

Foreign Currency Risk.    Certain assets, liabilities, and forecasted transactions are exposed to foreign currency risk. We monitor
our foreign currency exposures daily to maximize the overall effectiveness of our foreign currency hedge positions. Options are
used to hedge a portion of forecasted international revenue for up to three years in the future and are designated as cash-flow
hedging instruments under Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (�SFAS�) No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments
and Hedging Activities. Principal currencies hedged include the euro, Japanese yen, British pound, and Canadian dollar. Certain
non-U.S. dollar denominated securities are hedged using foreign exchange forward contracts that are designated as fair-value
hedging instruments under SFAS No. 133. Certain options and forwards not designated as hedging instruments under SFAS
No. 133 are also used to hedge the impact of the variability in exchange rates on accounts receivable and collections denominated
in certain foreign currencies and to manage other foreign currency exposures.

Equities Price Risk.    Equity investments are subject to market price risk. From time to time, we use and designate options to
hedge fair values on certain equity securities. We determine the security, selected for hedging by evaluating market conditions,
up-front costs, and other relevant factors. Certain options, futures and swap contracts, not designated as hedging instruments
under SFAS No. 133, are also used to manage equity exposures.

Interest Rate Risk.    Fixed-income securities are subject to interest rate risk. The fixed-income portfolio is diversified and consists
primarily of investment grade securities to minimize credit risk. We use exchange-traded option and futures contracts and
over-the-counter swap contracts, not designated as hedging instruments under SFAS No. 133, to hedge interest rate risk.
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Other Derivatives.    Swap contracts, not designated as hedging instruments under SFAS No. 133, are used to manage exposures
to credit risks, enhance returns, and to facilitate portfolio diversification. In addition, we may invest in warrants to purchase
securities of other companies as a strategic investment. Warrants that can be net share settled are deemed derivative financial
instruments and are not designated as hedging instruments. �To Be
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Announced� forward purchase commitments of mortgage-backed assets are also considered derivatives in cases where physical
delivery of the assets in not taken at the earliest available delivery date. All derivative instruments not designated as hedging
instruments are recorded at fair value, with changes in value recognized in earnings during the period of change.

ALLOWANCE FOR DOUBTFUL ACCOUNTS

The allowance for doubtful accounts reflects our best estimate of probable losses inherent in the accounts receivable balance. We
determine the allowance based on known troubled accounts, historical experience, and other currently available evidence. Activity
in the allowance for doubtful accounts was as follows:

(In millions)

Year Ended June 30

Balance
at

beginning
of year

Charged to costs

and expenses

Write-offs

and other

Balance at

end of year

2005 166 48 (43) $ 171
2006 171 40 (69) 142
2007 142 64 (89) $ 117

INVENTORIES

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market, using the average cost method. Cost includes materials, labor, and
manufacturing overhead related to the purchase and production of inventories. We regularly review inventory quantities on hand,
future purchase commitments with our suppliers, and the estimated utility of our inventory. If our review indicates a reduction in
utility below carrying value, we reduce our inventory to a new cost basis.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment is stated at cost and depreciated using the straight-line method over the shorter of the estimated life of the
asset or the lease term, ranging from one to 15 years. Computer software developed or obtained for internal use is depreciated
using the straight-line method over the estimated useful life of the software, generally three years or less.

GOODWILL

Goodwill is tested for impairment on an annual basis as of July 1, and between annual tests if indicators of potential impairment
exist, using a fair-value-based approach. No impairment of goodwill has been identified during any of the periods presented.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intangible assets are amortized using the straight-line method over their estimated period of benefit, ranging from one to ten years.
We evaluate the recoverability of intangible assets periodically and take into account events or circumstances that warrant revised
estimates of useful lives or that indicate that impairment exists. All of our intangible assets are subject to amortization. No material
impairments of intangible assets have been identified during any of the periods presented.

PRODUCT WARRANTY
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We provide for the estimated costs of hardware and software warranties at the time the related revenue is recognized. For
hardware warranty, we estimate the costs based on historical and projected product failure rates, historical and projected repair
costs, and knowledge of specific product failures (if any). The specific hardware warranty terms and conditions vary depending
upon the product sold and country in which we do business, but generally include technical support, parts, and labor over a period
generally ranging from 90 days to three years. For software, we estimate the costs to provide bug fixes, such as security patches,
over the estimated life of the software. We regularly reevaluate our estimates to assess the adequacy of the recorded warranty
liabilities and adjust the amounts as necessary.
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RECENTLY ISSUED ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

In June 2006, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 48 (�FIN No. 48�), Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes�an interpretation of
FASB Statement No. 109, which clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in an enterprise�s financial
statements in accordance with SFAS No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes. The Interpretation provides a recognition threshold
and measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken
in a tax return. Under FIN No. 48, the Company may recognize the tax benefit from an uncertain tax position only if it is more likely
than not that the tax position will be sustained on examination by the taxing authorities, based on the technical merits of the
position. The tax benefits recognized in the financial statements from such a position should be measured based on the largest
benefit that has a greater than 50% likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement. FIN No. 48 also provides guidance on
derecognition, classification, interest and penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclosure, and transition. FIN No. 48 is effective
for us beginning July 1, 2007. Based on our current assessment, the adoption of FIN No. 48 is expected to decrease beginning
retained earnings by $200 million to $400 million upon adoption.

In June 2006, the FASB ratified the Emerging Issues Task Force (�EITF�) consensus on EITF Issue No. 06-2, �Accounting for
Sabbatical Leave and Other Similar Benefits Pursuant to FASB Statement No. 43.� EITF Issue No. 06-2 requires companies to
accrue the costs of compensated absences under a sabbatical or similar benefit arrangement over the requisite service period.
EITF Issue No. 06-2 is effective for us beginning July 1, 2007. The cumulative effect of the application of this consensus on prior
period results should be recognized through a cumulative-effect adjustment to retained earnings as of the beginning of the year of
adoption. Elective retrospective application is also permitted. We do not expect the application of this consensus to have a material
impact on our financial statements.

In fiscal year 2007, we adopted Staff Accounting Bulletin (�SAB�) No. 108, Considering the Effects of Prior Year Misstatements when
Quantifying Current Year Misstatements. SAB No. 108 requires companies to quantify misstatements using both a balance sheet
(iron curtain) and an income statement (rollover) approach to evaluate whether either approach results in an error that is material in
light of relevant quantitative and qualitative factors, and provides for a one-time cumulative effect transition adjustment. The
adoption of SAB No. 108 did not have an impact on our financial statements.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, Fair Value Measurements, which defines fair value, establishes a framework
for measuring fair value in generally accepted accounting principles, and expands disclosures about fair value measurements.
SFAS No. 157 does not require any new fair value measurements, but provides guidance on how to measure fair value by
providing a fair value hierarchy used to classify the source of the information. This statement is effective for us beginning July 1,
2008. We currently are assessing the potential impact that adoption of SFAS No. 157 would have on our financial statements.

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities. SFAS
No. 159 gives us the irrevocable option to carry many financial assets and liabilities at fair values, with changes in fair value
recognized in earnings. SFAS No. 159 is effective for us beginning July 1, 2008, although early adoption is permitted. We are
currently assessing the potential impact that adoption of SFAS No. 159 will have on our financial statements.

NOTE 2    UNEARNED REVENUE

Unearned revenue is comprised of the following items:

Volume licensing programs � Represents customer billings for multi-year licensing arrangements, paid either upfront or annually
at the beginning of each billing coverage period, which are accounted for as subscriptions with revenue recognized ratably over the
billing coverage period.

Undelivered elements � Represents free post-delivery telephone support and the right to receive unspecified
upgrades/enhancements of Microsoft Internet Explorer on a when-and-if-available basis. This revenue deferral is applicable for
Windows XP and previous PC operating systems shipped as retail packaged products, products licensed to original equipment
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manufacturers (�OEM�), and perpetual licenses for current products under our Open and Select volume licensing programs. The
amount recorded as unearned is based on the sales price of those elements when sold separately and is recognized ratably on a
straight-line basis over the related product�s life cycle. The percentage of revenue recorded as unearned due to undelivered
elements ranges from approximately 15% to 25% of the sales price for Windows XP Home and approximately 5% to 15% of the
sales price for Windows XP
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Professional, depending on the terms and conditions of the license and prices of the elements. Product life cycles are currently
estimated at three and one-half years for Windows operating systems.

Other � Represents payments for post-delivery support and consulting services to be performed in the future, online advertising for
which the advertisement has yet to be displayed, Microsoft Dynamics business solutions maintenance and enhancement billings,
Xbox Live and other billings that are accounted for as subscriptions, and other agreements where Microsoft is committed to the
delivery of future enhancements, products, or services.

The components of unearned revenue were as follows:

(In millions)

June 30 2007 2006

Volume licensing programs $ 9,334 $ 7,661
Undelivered elements 1,839 2,066
Other 1,473 1,175
Unearned revenue $ 12,646 $ 10,902

Unearned revenue by segment was as follows:

(In millions)

June 30 2007 2006

Client $ 2,875 $ 2,850
Server and Tools 3,652 3,792
Microsoft Business Division 5,771 3,609
Other segments 348 651
Unearned revenue $ 12,646 $ 10,902
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NOTE 3    INVESTMENTS

The components of investments were as follows:

(In millions) Cost basis
Unrealized

gains
Unrealized

losses
Recorded

basis
Cash and

equivalents
Short - term
investments

Equity

and other
investments

June 30, 2007

Cash $ 3,040 $ � $ � $ 3,040 $ 3,040 $ � $ �
Mutual funds 398 4 (1) 401 132 205 64
Commercial paper 227 � � 227 179 48 �
Certificates of deposit 98 � � 98 � 98 �
U. S. Government and Agency
securities 3,085 4 (12) 3,077 1 3,002 74
Foreign government bonds 3,845 2 (63) 3,784 � 3,784 �
Mortgage backed securities 3,236 4 (49) 3,191 � 3,191 �
Corporate notes and bonds 7,184 14 (18) 7,180 2,425 4,753 2
Municipal securities 2,639 3 (25) 2,617 334 2,283 �
Common stock and equivalents 7,290 2,309 (18) 9,581 � � 9,581
Preferred stock 62 12 � 74 � � 74
Other investments 258 � � 258 � (64) 322

Total $ 31,362 $ 2,352 $ (186) $ 33,528 $ 6,111 $ 17,300 $ 10,117

(In millions) Cost basis
Unrealized

gains
Unrealized

losses
Recorded

basis
Cash and

equivalents
Short - term
investments

Equity

and other
investments

June 30, 2006

Cash $ 3,248 $ � $ � $ 3,248 $ 3,248 $ � $ �
Mutual funds 723 11 (1) 733 288 445 �
Commercial paper 3,242 � � 3,242 3,150 92 �
Certificates of deposit 364 � � 364 � 364 �
U. S. Government and Agency
securities 4,904 4 (30) 4,878 14 4,790 74
Foreign government bonds 6,034 21 (73) 5,982 � 5,982 �
Mortgage backed securities 4,285 � (42) 4,243 � 4,243 �
Corporate notes and bonds 7,605 15 (18) 7,602 � 7,475 127
Municipal securities 4,008 5 (45) 3,968 14 3,954 �
Common stock and equivalents 6,933 1,846 (34) 8,745 � � 8,745
Preferred stock 41 5 � 46 � � 46
Other investments 342 � � 342 � 102 240
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Total $ 41,729 $ 1,907 $ (243) $ 43,393 $ 6,714 $ 27,447 $ 9,232
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Investments with continuous unrealized losses for less than and greater than 12 months and their related fair values were as
follows:

Less than 12 months 12 months or greater Total

(In millions)
Fair

value
unrealized

losses Fair value
unrealized

losses Fair value
unrealized

losses

June 30, 2007

Mutual funds $ 76 $ (1) $ 3 $ � $ 79 $ (1)
U. S. Government and Agency securities 1,219 (8) 238 (4) 1,457 (12)
Foreign government bonds 3,554 (63) 2 � 3,556 (63)
Mortgage backed securities 2,520 (43) 214 (6) 2,734 (49)
Corporate notes and bonds 526 (14) 74 (4) 600 (18)
Municipal securities 575 (9) 420 (16) 995 (25)
Common stock and equivalents 237 (17) 9 (1) 246 (18)

Total $ 8,707 $ (155) $ 960 $ (31) $ 9,667 $ (186)

Less than 12 months 12 months or greater Total

(In millions)
Fair

value
unrealized

losses Fair value
unrealized

losses Fair value
unrealized

losses

June 30, 2006

Mutual funds $ 14 $ (1) $ 4 $ � $ 18 $ (1)
U. S. Government and Agency securities 2,303 (24) 172 (6) 2,475 (30)
Foreign government bonds 2,523 (56) 1,749 (17) 4,272 (73)
Mortgage backed securities 2,692 (40) 102 (2) 2,794 (42)
Corporate notes and bonds 4,721 (13) 359 (5) 5,080 (18)
Municipal securities 1,323 (13) 1,192 (32) 2,515 (45)
Common stock and equivalents 266 (33) 29 (1) 295 (34)

Total $ 13,842 $ (180) $ 3,607 $ (63) $ 17,449 $ (243)

At June 30, 2007, unrealized losses of $186 million consisted of: $161 million related to investment grade fixed-income securities,
$7 million related to investments in high yield and emerging market fixed-income securities, $7 million related to domestic equity
securities, and $11 million related to international equity securities. At June 30, 2006, unrealized losses of $243 million consisted
of: $196 million related to investment grade fixed-income securities, $12 million related to investments in high yield and emerging
market fixed-income securities, $2 million related to domestic equity securities, and $33 million related to international equity
securities. Unrealized losses from fixed-income securities are primarily attributable to changes in interest rates. Unrealized losses
from domestic and international equities are due to market price movements. Management does not believe any unrealized losses
represent an other-than-temporary impairment based on our evaluation of available evidence as of June 30, 2007.

Common and preferred stock and other investments that are restricted for more than one year or are not publicly traded are
recorded at cost. At June 30, 2007, the recorded basis and estimated fair value of these investments was $38 million. At June 30,
2006, the recorded basis and estimated fair value of these investments was $41 million. The estimate of fair value is based on
publicly available market information or other estimates determined by management.
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The maturities of debt securities, including fixed-maturity securities, at June 30, 2007 were as follows:

(In millions)       Cost basis
Estimated fair

value

Due in one year or less $ 5,519 $ 5,518
Due after one year through five years 6,886 6,849
Due after five years through ten years 2,935 2,890
Due after ten years 4,910 4,853

Total $ 20,250 $ 20,110

NOTE 4    INVESTMENT INCOME AND OTHER

The components of investment income and other were as follows:

(In millions)

Year Ended June 30 2007 2006 2005

Dividends and interest $ 1,319 $ 1,510 $ 1,460
Net gains on investments 650 161 856
Net losses on derivatives (358) (99) (262)
Income/(losses) from equity investees and other (34) 218 13

Investment income and other $ 1,577 $ 1,790 $ 2,067

Net gains on investments include other-than-temporary impairments. These were not material in fiscal year 2007, were $408 million
in fiscal year 2006, and were $152 million in fiscal year 2005. The decrease in other-than-temporary impairments in fiscal year
2007 and the increase in fiscal year 2006 were driven by planned sales of certain investments in an unrealized loss position in
order to raise funds for the $20 billion tender offer announced on July 20, 2006. Realized gains and losses from sales of
available-for-sale securities (excluding other-than-temporary impairments) were $851 million and $176 million, respectively, in fiscal
year 2007, $1.11 billion and $531 million, respectively, in fiscal year 2006, and $1.38 billion and $376 million, respectively, in fiscal
year 2005.

NOTE 5    DERIVATIVES

For derivative instruments designated as hedges, hedge ineffectiveness, determined in accordance with SFAS No. 133, Accounting
for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities, did not have a significant impact on earnings for fiscal years 2007, 2006, or 2005.
During fiscal year 2007, $219 million in gains on fair value hedges from changes in time value and $361 million in losses on cash
flow hedges from changes in time value were excluded from the assessment of hedge effectiveness and included in investment
income and other. During fiscal year 2006, $217 million in gains on fair value hedges from changes in time value and $399 million
in losses on cash flow hedges from changes in time value were excluded from the assessment of hedge effectiveness and included
in investment income and other. During fiscal year 2005, $79 million in gains on fair value hedges from changes in time value and
$116 million in losses on cash flow hedges from changes in time value were excluded from the assessment of hedge effectiveness
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and included in investment income and other.

Derivative gains and losses included in OCI are reclassified into earnings at the time forecasted revenue or the sale of an equity
investment is recognized. During fiscal year 2007, $168 million of derivative gains were reclassified to revenue. During fiscal year
2006, $166 million of derivative gains were reclassified to revenue and $23 million in derivative gains were reclassified to
investment income and other. During fiscal year 2005, $57 million of derivative gains were reclassified to revenue and $33 million in
derivative gains were reclassified to investment income and other.

We estimate that $124 million of net derivative gains included in OCI will be reclassified into earnings within the next 12 months. No
significant amounts of gains or losses were reclassified from OCI into earnings as a result of forecasted transactions that failed to
occur for fiscal years 2007, 2006, and 2005.
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NOTE 6    INVENTORIES

(In millions)

June 30 2007 2006

Raw materials $ 435 $ 465
Work in process 148 �
Finished goods 544 1,013

Inventories $ 1,127 $ 1,478

NOTE 7    PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

(In millions)

June 30 2007 2006

Land $ 428 $ 362
Buildings and improvements 3,170 2,228
Leasehold improvements 1,077 918
Computer equipment and software 3,458 2,682
Furniture and equipment 1,233 1,033

Property and equipment, at cost 9,366 7,223
Accumulated depreciation (5,016) (4,179)

Property and equipment, net $ 4,350 $ 3,044

Property and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation is computed principally on the straight-line method over the estimated
useful lives of the assets. The useful lives for buildings range from five to 15 years, leasehold improvements generally range from
two to ten years � representing the applicable lease terms plus reasonably assured extensions, computer equipment and software
range from two to three years, and furniture and equipment range from one to five years. Land is not depreciated.

During fiscal years 2007, 2006, and 2005, depreciation expense was $1.17 billion, $863 million, and $723 million, respectively. The
majority of depreciation expense in all years related to computer equipment.

NOTE 8    GOODWILL

Changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for fiscal years 2007 and 2006 by segment were as follows:

(In millions)
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Balance as
of June 30,

2005 Acquisitions Other

Balance as
of June 30,

2006 Acquisitions Other

Balance as
of June 30,

2007

Client $ 43 $ 31 $ � $ 74 $ 6 $ (3) $ 77
Server and Tools 241 29 (14) 256 325 (1) 580
Microsoft Business Division 2,435 246 � 2,681 508 (57) 3,132
Online Services Business 171 263 21 455 123 (26) 552
Entertainment and Devices Division 419 23 (42) 400 21 (2) 419

Total $ 3,309 $ 592 $ (35) $ 3,866 $ 983 $ (89) $ 4,760

We test goodwill for impairment annually on July 1 at the reporting unit level using a fair value approach, in accordance with the
provisions of SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets. Our annual testing resulted in no impairments of goodwill in
fiscal years 2007 and 2006. If an event occurs or circumstances change that would
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more likely than not reduce the fair value of a reporting unit below its carrying value, goodwill will be evaluated for impairment
between annual tests.

During fiscal year 2007, we acquired the following entities for total consideration of $1.34 billion, which was primarily paid in cash:

� Softricity, Inc., a provider of application virtualization and dynamic streaming technologies;

� TellMe Networks, Inc., a company specializing in speech-recognition technology providing an outsourced, network-based,
voice application platform; and

� 11 other entities specializing in areas such as application security, desktop, and data management.
As a result of these acquisitions, we recorded $983 million of goodwill, none of which is expected to be deductible for tax purposes.
All of the entities were consolidated with Microsoft since their respective acquisition dates. The purchase price allocations for these
acquisitions are preliminary and subject to revision as more detailed analyses are completed and additional information about fair
value of assets and liabilities becomes available. Any change in the estimated fair value of the net assets of the acquired
companies will change the amount of the purchase price allocable to goodwill. Pro forma results of operations have not been
presented because the effects of these acquisitions, individually and in aggregate, were not material.

NOTE 9    INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The components of finite-lived intangible assets were as follows:

(In millions)

June 30 2007 2006
Gross

carrying
amount

Accumulated
amortization

Net carrying
amount

Gross
carrying
amount

Accumulated
amortization

Net carrying
amount

Contract-based $ 988 $ (727) $ 261 $ 954 $ (661) $ 293
Technology-based 916 (407) 509 458 (255) 203
Marketing-related 57 (39) 18 42 (32) 10
Customer-related 122 (32) 90 54 (21) 33

Total $ 2,083 $ (1,205) $ 878 $ 1,508 $ (969) $ 539

During fiscal year 2007 and 2006, we recorded additions to intangible assets of $473 million and $189 million, respectively. We
estimate that we have no significant residual value related to our intangible assets. The components of finite-lived intangible assets
acquired during fiscal years 2007 and 2006 were as follows:
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(In millions)

Year Ended June 30 2007 2006

Amount
Weighted

average life Amount
Weighted

average life

Contract-based $ 57 5 years $ 36 4 years
Technology-based 333 4 years 140 4 years
Marketing-related 14 4 years 5 3 years
Customer-related 69 5 years 8 4 years

Total $ 473 $ 189

Intangible asset additions include $170 million of technology-based intangible assets with a weighted-average life of 4 years, and
$84 million of other intangible assets with a weighted-average life of 4.9 years, related to the acquisitions of Softricity Inc., TellMe
Networks, Inc., and the remaining 11 entities acquired.
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Acquired intangibles are generally amortized on a straight-line basis over weighted average lives. Intangible assets amortization
expense was $236 million for fiscal year 2007, $127 million for fiscal year 2006, and $161 million for fiscal year 2005. The
estimated future amortization expense related to intangible assets as of June 30, 2007 is as follows:

(In millions)

Year Ended June 30 Amount

2008 $ 263
2009 229
2010 184
2011 111
2012 and thereafter 91
Total $ 878

NOTE 10    INCOME TAXES

The components of the provision for income taxes were as follows:

(In millions)

Year Ended June 30 2007 2006 2005

Current taxes:
U.S. Federal $ 4,593 $ 4,471 $ 3,401
U.S. State and Local 154 101 152
International 957 882 911

Current taxes 5,704 5,454 4,464
Deferred taxes (benefits) 332 209 (90)

Provision for income taxes $ 6,036 $ 5,663 $ 4,374

U.S. and international components of income before income taxes were as follows:

(In millions)

Year Ended June 30 2007 2006 2005

U.S. $ 12,902 $ 11,404 $ 9,806
International 7,199 6,858 6,822
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Income before income taxes $ 20,101 $ 18,262 $ 16,628

The items accounting for the difference between income taxes computed at the federal statutory rate and the provision for income
taxes were as follows:

Year Ended June 30 2007 2006 2005

Federal statutory rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
Effect of:
Foreign earnings taxed at lower rates (5.1)% (4.6)% (3.1)%
Examination settlements � (0.6)% (4.7)%
Other reconciling items 0.1% 1.2% (0.9)%

Effective rate 30.0% 31.0% 26.3%
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The 2007 other reconciling items includes the impact of a $195 million reduction resulting from various changes in tax positions
taken in prior periods, related primarily to favorable developments in an IRS position and multiple foreign audit assessments. The
2006 other reconciling item includes the impact of the $351 million non-deductible European Commission fine. The 2005 other
reconciling items include a $179 million repatriation tax benefit under the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004.

The components of the deferred tax assets and liabilities were as follows:

(In millions)

June 30 2007 2006

Deferred income tax assets:
Stock-based compensation expense $ 2,859 $ 3,630
Other expense items 1,735 1,451
Unearned revenue 842 1,028
Impaired investments 710 989
Other revenue items 58 102
&nbspne;">Q3 2014, and $(2.1) billion and $(777) million for the nine months ended September 30,
2015 and 2014. Cash outflows from financing activities result from principal payments on obligations
related to capital and finance leases and repayments of long-term debt and other. Principal payments
on obligations related to capital leases, finance leases, and repayments of long-term debt and other
were $858 million and $440 million in Q3 2015 and Q3 2014, and $2.5 billion and $1.3 billion for the
nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014. In addition, on November 27, 2015, $750 million of
our unsecured senior notes mature. Property and equipment acquired under capital leases was $1.0
billion and $1.2 billion during Q3 2015 and Q3 2014, and $3.4 billion and $2.8 billion for the nine
months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014. This reflects additional investments in support of
continued business growth primarily due to investments in technology infrastructure for AWS. We
expect this trend toward additional investment to continue over time. Cash inflows from financing
activities primarily result from proceeds from long-term debt and other and tax benefits relating to
excess stock-based compensation deductions. Proceeds from long-term debt and other were $33
million and $28 million in Q3 2015 and Q3 2014, and $260 million and $379 million for the nine
months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014. Tax benefits relating to excess stock-based
compensation deductions are presented as financing cash flows. Cash inflows from tax benefits related
to stock-based compensation deductions were $95 million and $0 in Q3 2015 and Q3 2014, and $212
million and $121 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014.
We had no borrowings outstanding under our $2.0 billion Credit Agreement as of September 30, 2015.
See Item 1 of Part I, “Financial Statements — Note 5 — Long-Term Debt” for additional information. 
We recorded a tax provision of $161 million and a tax benefit of $205 million in Q3 2015 and Q3
2014, and a tax provision of $498 million and a tax benefit of $38 million for the nine months ended
September 30, 2015 and 2014. Except as required under U.S. tax laws, we do not provide for U.S.
taxes on our undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries that have not been previously taxed since
we intend to invest such undistributed earnings indefinitely outside of the U.S. If our intent changes or
if these funds are needed for our U.S. operations, we would be required to accrue or pay U.S. taxes on
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some or all of these undistributed earnings, and our effective tax rate would be adversely affected. We
have tax benefits relating to excess stock-based compensation deductions that are being utilized to
reduce our U.S. taxable income. In 2014, we also had accelerated depreciation deductions on
qualifying property that reduced our U.S. taxable income as a result of U.S. legislation that expired in
December 2014. Cash paid for income taxes (net of refunds) was $80 million and $38 million for Q3
2015 and Q3 2014, and $200 million and $148 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2015
and 2014. As of December 31, 2014, our federal net operating loss carryforward was approximately
$1.9 billion and we had approximately $443 million of federal tax credits potentially available to
offset future tax liabilities. Our federal tax credits are primarily related to the U.S. federal research and
development credit, which expired in December 2014. As we utilize our federal net operating losses
and tax credits, we expect cash paid for taxes to significantly increase. We endeavor to manage our
global taxes on a cash basis, rather than on a financial reporting basis.
Our liquidity is also affected by restricted cash balances that are pledged as collateral for standby and
trade letters of credit, guarantees, debt, and real estate leases. To the extent we process payments for
third-party sellers or offer certain types of stored value to our customers, some jurisdictions may
restrict our use of those funds. These restrictions would result in the reclassification of a portion of our
cash and cash equivalents from “Cash and cash equivalents” to “Accounts receivable, net and other” on
our consolidated balance sheets. As of September 30, 2015, and December 31, 2014, restricted cash,
cash equivalents, and marketable securities were $239 million and $450 million. See Item 1 of Part I,
“Financial Statements — Note 3 — Commitments and Contingencies” for additional discussion of our
principal contractual commitments, as well as our pledged assets. Purchase obligations and open
purchase orders, consisting of inventory and significant non-inventory commitments, were $7.8 billion
as of September 30, 2015. Purchase obligations and open purchase orders are generally cancellable in
full or in part through the contractual provisions.
Because of our model we are able to turn our inventory quickly and have a cash-generating operating
cycle3. On average, our high inventory velocity means we generally collect from consumers before our
payments to suppliers come due. Inventory turnover4 was 9 for Q3 2015 and Q3 2014. We expect
variability in inventory turnover over time since it is affected by several factors, including our product
mix, the mix of sales by us and by third-party sellers, our continuing focus on in-stock inventory
availability and selection of product offerings, our investment in new geographies and product lines,
and the extent to which we choose to utilize third-party fulfillment providers.

_______________________

(3)The operating cycle is number of days of sales in inventory plus number of days of sales inaccounts receivable minus accounts payable days.

(4)Inventory turnover is the quotient of trailing twelve month cost of sales to average inventory overfive quarter ends.
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We believe that cash flows generated from operations, our cash, cash equivalents, and marketable
securities balances, and borrowing available under our credit agreements will be sufficient to meet our
anticipated operating cash needs for at least the next 12 months. However, any projections of future
cash needs and cash flows are subject to substantial uncertainty. See Item 1A of Part II, “Risk Factors.”
We continually evaluate opportunities to sell additional equity or debt securities, obtain credit
facilities, obtain capital, finance, and operating lease arrangements, repurchase common stock, pay
dividends, or repurchase, refinance, or otherwise restructure our debt for strategic reasons or to further
strengthen our financial position.
The sale of additional equity or convertible debt securities would likely be dilutive to our
shareholders. In addition, we will, from time to time, consider the acquisition of, or investment in,
complementary businesses, products, services, and technologies, which might affect our liquidity
requirements or cause us to issue additional equity or debt securities. There can be no assurance that
additional lines-of-credit or financing instruments will be available in amounts or on terms acceptable
to us, if at all.
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Results of Operations
Beginning in the first quarter of 2015, we changed our reportable segments to North America,
International, and AWS. These segments reflect changes in the way the Company evaluates its
business performance and manages its operations. See Item 1 of Part I, “Financial Statements — Note 8 —
Segment Information.”
Net Sales
Net sales include product and service sales. Product sales represent revenue from the sale of products
and related shipping fees and digital media content where we record revenue gross. Service sales
represent third-party seller fees earned (including commissions) and related shipping fees, digital
content subscriptions, AWS sales, advertising services, and our co-branded credit card agreements.
Amazon Prime membership fees are allocated between product sales and service sales and amortized
over the life of the membership according to the estimated delivery of services. Net sales information
is as follows (in millions):

Three Months Ended 
 September 30,

Nine Months Ended 
 September 30,

2015 2014 2015 2014
Net Sales:
North America $15,006 $11,699 $42,208 $33,499
International 8,267 7,711 23,577 22,936
AWS 2,085 1,169 5,474 3,224
Total consolidated $25,358 $20,579 $71,259 $59,659
Year-over-year Percentage Growth:
North America 28 % 23 % 26 % 24 %
International 7 14 3 17
AWS 78 43 70 50
Total consolidated 23 20 19 22
Year-over-year Percentage Growth,
excluding effect of foreign exchange rates:
North America 29 % 23 % 26 % 24 %
International 24 13 20 15
AWS 78 43 70 50
Total consolidated 30 20 26 22
Net Sales Mix:
North America 59 % 57 % 59 % 56 %
International 33 37 33 39
AWS 8 6 8 5
Total consolidated 100 % 100 % 100 % 100 %
Sales increased 23% in Q3 2015 and 19% for the nine months ended September 30, 2015, compared to
the comparable prior year periods. Changes in foreign currency exchange rates impacted net sales by
$(1.3) billion and $13 million for Q3 2015 and Q3 2014, and by $(4.0) billion and $259 million for the
nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014. For a discussion of the effect on sales growth of
foreign exchange rates, see “Effect of Foreign Exchange Rates” below.
North America sales increased 28% in Q3 2015 and 26% for the nine months ended September 30,
2015, compared to the comparable prior year periods. The sales growth primarily reflects increased
unit sales, including sales by marketplace sellers. Increased unit sales were driven largely by our
continued efforts to reduce prices for our customers, including from our shipping offers, from sales in
faster growing categories such as electronics and other general merchandise, increased in-stock
inventory availability, and increased selection of product offerings.
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International sales increased 7% in Q3 2015 and 3% for the nine months ended September 30, 2015,
compared to the comparable prior year periods. The sales growth primarily reflects increased unit
sales, including sales by marketplace sellers, offset by the unfavorable effect of foreign exchange
rates. Changes in foreign currency exchange rates impacted International net sales by $(1.3) billion
and $21 million for Q3 2015 and Q3 2014, and $(3.9) billion and $292 million for the nine months
ended September 30, 2015 and 2014. Increased unit sales were driven largely by our continued efforts
to reduce prices for our

24

Edgar Filing: MICROSOFT CORP - Form 10-K

Table of Contents 106



Table of Contents

customers, including from our shipping offers, from sales in faster growing categories such as
electronics and other general merchandise, increased in-stock inventory availability, and increased
selection of product offerings.
AWS sales increased 78% in Q3 2015 and 70% for the nine months ended September 30, 2015,
compared to the comparable prior year periods. The sales growth primarily reflects increased customer
usage, partially offset by pricing changes. Pricing changes were driven largely by our continued
efforts to reduce prices for our customers.
Segment Operating Income (Loss)
Segment operating income (loss) is as follows (in millions):

Three Months Ended 
 September 30,

Nine Months Ended 
 September 30,

2015 2014 2015 2014
Segment Operating Income (Loss)
North America $528 $(60 ) $1,747 $559
International (56 ) (174 ) (151 ) (208 )
AWS 521 98 1,177 420
The increase in North America segment operating income in absolute dollars in Q3 2015 and for the
nine months ended September 30, 2015, compared to the comparable prior year periods, is primarily
due to increased unit sales, including sales by marketplace sellers, partially offset by increased levels
of operating expenses to expand our fulfillment capacity and spending on technology infrastructure.
There was a favorable impact from foreign exchange rates of $11 million and $24 million for Q3 2015
and for the nine months ended September 30, 2015.
The decrease in International segment operating loss in absolute dollars in Q3 2015 and for the nine
months ended September 30, 2015, compared to the comparable prior year periods, is primarily due to
increased unit sales, including sales by marketplace sellers, partially offset by increased levels of
operating expenses to expand our fulfillment capacity and spending on technology infrastructure and
marketing efforts. There was an unfavorable impact from foreign exchange rates of $64 million and
$232 million for Q3 2015 and for the nine months ended September 30, 2015.
The increase in AWS segment operating income in absolute dollars in Q3 2015 and for the nine
months ended September 30, 2015, compared to the comparable prior year periods, is primarily due to
increased customer usage and cost structure productivity, partially offset by pricing changes and
increased spending on technology infrastructure, which was primarily driven by additional
investments to support the business growth. There was a favorable impact from foreign exchange rates
of $78 million and $204 million for Q3 2015 and for the nine months ended September 30, 2015.
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Supplemental Information
Supplemental information about outbound shipping results for our North America and International
segments is as follows (in millions):

Three Months Ended 
 September 30,

Nine Months Ended 
 September 30,

2015 2014 2015 2014
Outbound Shipping Activity:
Shipping revenue (1)(2)(3) $1,494 $1,048 $4,192 $2,786
Shipping costs (4) (2,720 ) (2,020 ) (7,369 ) (5,661 )
Net shipping cost $(1,226 ) $(972 ) $(3,177 ) $(2,875 )
Year-over-year Percentage Growth:
Shipping revenue 43  % 45  % 50  % 39  %
Shipping costs 35 32 30 32
Net shipping cost 26 20 11 25
Percent of Net Sales: (5)
Shipping revenue 6.4  % 5.4  % 6.4  % 5.0  %
Shipping costs (11.7 ) (10.4 ) (11.2 ) (10.0 )
Net shipping cost (5.3 )% (5.0 )% (4.8 )% (5.0 )%
___________________

(1)Excludes amounts charged on shipping activities by third-party sellers where we do not provide thefulfillment service.

(2) Includes a portion of amounts earned from Amazon Prime
memberships.

(3)Includes amounts earned from Fulfillment by Amazon programs related to shipping services.
(4)Includes sortation and delivery center costs.
(5)Includes North America and International segment net sales.
We expect our cost of shipping to continue to increase to the extent our customers accept and use our
shipping offers at an increasing rate, our product mix shifts to the electronics and other general
merchandise category, we reduce shipping rates, we use more expensive shipping methods, and we
offer additional services. We seek to mitigate costs of shipping over time in part through achieving
higher sales volumes, optimizing placement of fulfillment centers, negotiating better terms with our
suppliers, and achieving better operating efficiencies. We believe that offering low prices to our
customers is fundamental to our future success, and one way we offer lower prices is through shipping
offers.
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We have aggregated our North America and International segment products and services into groups
of similar products and services and provided the supplemental disclosure of net sales (in millions)
below. We evaluate whether additional disclosure is appropriate when a product or service category
begins to approach a significant level of net sales. For the periods presented no individual product or
service represented more than 10% of net sales.

Three Months Ended 
 September 30,

Nine Months Ended 
 September 30,

2015 2014 2015 2014
Net Sales:
North America
Media $2,963 $2,734 $8,552 $8,022
Electronics and other general merchandise 11,840 8,793 33,077 24,988
Other (1) 203 172 579 489
Total North America $15,006 $11,699 $42,208 $33,499
International
Media $2,320 $2,510 $6,734 $7,532
Electronics and other general merchandise 5,901 5,160 16,705 15,260
Other (1) 46 41 138 144
Total International $8,267 $7,711 $23,577 $22,936
Year-over-year Percentage Growth:
North America
Media 8  % 5  % 7  % 10  %
Electronics and other general merchandise 35 31 32 29
Other 18 20 19 19
Total North America 28 23 26 24
International
Media (8 )% 4  % (11 )% 5  %
Electronics and other general merchandise 14 20 9 24
Other 10 (18 ) (4 ) (1 )
Total International 7 14 3 17
Year-over-year Percentage Growth,
excluding the effect of foreign exchange
rates:
North America
Media 9  % 5  % 7  % 10  %
Electronics and other general merchandise 35 31 33 29
Other 18 20 18 19
Total North America 29 23 26 24
International
Media 6  % 3  % 4  % 4  %
Electronics and other general merchandise 32 19 28 22
Other 26 (19 ) 11 (3 )
Total International 24 13 20 15
_____________________________

(1)Includes sales from non-retail activities, such as certain advertising services and our co-brandedcredit card agreements.
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Operating Expenses
Information about operating expenses with and without stock-based compensation is as follows (in
millions):

Three Months Ended September 30, Nine Months Ended September 30,
2015 2014 2015 2014
As
Reported

Stock-Based
CompensationNet As

Reported
Stock-Based
CompensationNet As

Reported
Stock-Based
CompensationNet As

Reported
Stock-Based
CompensationNet

Operating
Expenses:
Cost of sales $16,755 $— $16,755 $14,627 $— $14,627 $47,310 $— $47,310 $42,080 $— $42,080
Fulfillment 3,230 (122 ) 3,108 2,643 (93 ) 2,550 8,865 (344 ) 8,521 7,342 (278 ) 7,064
Marketing 1,264 (48 ) 1,216 993 (32 ) 961 3,496 (133 ) 3,363 2,806 (91 ) 2,715
Technology
and content 3,197 (309 ) 2,888 2,423 (204 ) 2,219 8,971 (861 ) 8,110 6,639 (579 ) 6,060

General and
administrative 463 (65 ) 398 406 (48 ) 358 1,357 (175 ) 1,182 1,110 (141 ) 969

Other
operating
expense
(income), net

43 — 43 31 — 31 136 — 136 94 — 94

Total
operating
expenses

$24,952 $(544) $24,408 $21,123 $(377) $20,746 $70,135 $(1,513) $68,622 $60,071 $(1,089) $58,982

Year-over-year
Percentage
Growth:
Fulfillment 22 % 22 % 30 % 30 % 21 % 21 % 30 % 30 %
Marketing 27 26 43 43 25 24 40 40
Technology
and content 32 30 40 40 35 34 41 42

General and
administrative 14 12 46 46 22 22 37 37

Percent of Net
Sales:
Fulfillment 12.7 % 12.3 % 12.8 % 12.4 % 12.4 % 12.0 % 12.3 % 11.8 %
Marketing 5.0 4.8 4.8 4.7 4.9 4.7 4.7 4.6
Technology
and content 12.6 11.4 11.8 10.8 12.6 11.4 11.1 10.2

General and
administrative 1.8 1.6 2.0 1.7 1.9 1.7 1.9 1.6

Operating expenses without stock-based compensation are non-GAAP financial measures. See
“Non-GAAP Financial Measures” below.
During Q3 2014, we recorded charges estimated at $170 million primarily related to Fire phone
inventory valuation and supplier commitment costs, the majority of which is included in the North
America segment.
Cost of Sales
Cost of sales consists primarily of the purchase price of consumer products, digital media content
where we record revenue gross, including Prime Instant Video, packaging supplies, inbound and

Edgar Filing: MICROSOFT CORP - Form 10-K

Table of Contents 111



outbound shipping costs, including sortation and delivery centers, and related equipment costs.
Shipping costs to receive products from our suppliers are included in our inventory, and recognized as
cost of sales upon sale of products to our customers.
The increase in cost of sales in absolute dollars in Q3 2015 and for the nine months ended September
30, 2015, compared to the comparable prior year periods, is primarily due to increased product and
shipping costs resulting from increased sales.
Costs to operate our AWS segment are primarily classified as “Technology and content” as we leverage
a shared infrastructure that supports both our internal technology requirements and external sales to
AWS customers.
Fulfillment
Fulfillment costs primarily consist of those costs incurred in operating and staffing our North America
and International fulfillment and customer service centers. While AWS payment processing and
related transaction costs are included in fulfillment, AWS costs are primarily classified as “Technology
and content.” Fulfillment costs as a percentage of net sales may vary due to several factors, such as
payment processing and related transaction costs, our level of productivity and accuracy, changes in
volume, size, and weight of units received and fulfilled, timing of fulfillment capacity expansion, the
extent we utilize fulfillment services provided by third parties, mix of products and services sold, and
our ability to affect customer service contacts per unit by implementing improvements in our
operations and enhancements to our customer self-service
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features. Additionally, because payment processing and fulfillment costs associated with seller
transactions are based on the gross purchase price of underlying transactions, and payment processing
and related transaction and fulfillment costs are higher as a percentage of sales versus our retail sales,
sales by our sellers have higher fulfillment costs as a percent of net sales.
The increase in fulfillment costs in absolute dollars in Q3 2015 and for the nine months ended
September 30, 2015, compared to the comparable prior year periods, is primarily due to variable costs
corresponding with increased physical and digital product and service sales volume, inventory levels,
and sales mix; costs from expanding fulfillment capacity; and payment processing and related
transaction costs.
We seek to expand our fulfillment capacity to accommodate a greater selection and in-stock inventory
levels and to meet anticipated shipment volumes from sales of our own products as well as sales by
third parties for which we provide the fulfillment services. We regularly evaluate our facility
requirements.
Marketing
We direct customers to our websites primarily through a number of targeted online marketing
channels, such as our Associates program, sponsored search, portal advertising, email marketing
campaigns, direct sales, and other initiatives. Our marketing expenses are largely variable, based on
growth in sales and changes in rates. To the extent there is increased or decreased competition for
these traffic sources, or to the extent our mix of these channels shifts, we would expect to see a
corresponding change in our marketing expense.
The increase in marketing costs in absolute dollars in Q3 2015 and for the nine months ended
September 30, 2015, compared to the comparable prior year periods, is primarily due to increased
spending on online marketing channels, as well as payroll and related expenses, including AWS direct
sales related expenses.
While costs associated with Amazon Prime memberships and other shipping offers are not included in
marketing expense, we view these offers as effective worldwide marketing tools, and intend to
continue offering them indefinitely.
Technology and Content
Technology costs consist principally of research and development activities including payroll and
related expenses for employees involved in application, production, maintenance, operation, and
platform development for new and existing products and services, as well as AWS and other
technology infrastructure costs. Content costs consist principally of payroll and related expenses for
employees involved in category expansion, editorial content, buying, and merchandising selection.
Digital media content where we record revenue gross, including Prime Instant Video, is included in
cost of sales.
We seek to efficiently invest in several areas of technology and content so we may continue to
enhance the customer experience and improve our process efficiency through rapid technology
developments while operating at an ever increasing scale. Our technology and content investment and
capital spending projects often support a variety of product and service offerings due to geographic
expansion and the cross-functionality of our systems and operations. We expect spending in
technology and content to increase over time as we continue to add employees and technology
infrastructure. The increase in technology and content costs in absolute dollars in Q3 2015 and for the
nine months ended September 30, 2015, compared to the comparable prior year periods, is primarily
due to increased spending on technology infrastructure principally allocated to our AWS segment, and
an increase in payroll and related costs associated with expanding our products and services.
Technology infrastructure costs consist of servers, networking equipment, and data center related
depreciation, rent, utilities, and payroll expenses. These costs are allocated to segments based on
usage. During Q3 2015, we expanded our technology infrastructure principally by increasing our
capacity for AWS service offerings globally, compared to the comparable prior year period.
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Additionally, the costs associated with operating and maintaining our expanded infrastructure have
increased over time, corresponding with increased usage. We expect these trends to continue over time
as we invest in technology infrastructure to support increased usage. See Item 7 of Part II,
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Overview” of
our 2014 Annual Report on Form 10-K for a discussion of how management views advances in
technology and the importance of innovation.
The increase in payroll and related costs is primarily due to the expansion of new and existing product
categories and service offerings, including AWS, and initiatives to expand our ecosystem of products
and services.
During Q3 2015 and Q3 2014, we capitalized $157 million (including $30 million of stock-based
compensation) and $157 million (including $26 million of stock-based compensation) of costs
associated with internal-use software and website development. For the nine months ended September
30, 2015 and 2014, we capitalized $494 million (including $88 million of stock-based compensation)
and $477 million (including $77 million of stock-based compensation) of costs associated with
internal-use software and website development. Amortization of previously capitalized amounts was
$159 million and $138 million for Q3 2015 and Q3 2014, and $468 million and $411 million for the
nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014.
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General and Administrative
The increase in general and administrative costs in absolute dollars in Q3 2015 and for the nine
months ended September 30, 2015, compared to the comparable prior year periods, is primarily due to
increases in payroll and related expenses.
Stock-Based Compensation
Stock-based compensation was $544 million and $377 million during Q3 2015 and Q3 2014, and $1.5
billion and $1.1 billion for the nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014. The increase is
primarily due to an increase in the number of stock-based compensation awards granted to existing
and new employees.
Other Operating Expense (Income), Net
Other operating expense (income), net was $43 million and $31 million for Q3 2015 and Q3 2014, and
$136 million and $94 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014 and was
primarily related to the amortization of intangible assets.
Income (Loss) from Operations
For the reasons discussed above, income (loss) from operations increased to $406 million in Q3 2015,
from $(544) million in Q3 2014, and increased to $1.1 billion for the nine months ended September
30, 2015, from $(412) million for the nine months ended September 30, 2014.
We believe that income from operations is a more meaningful measure than gross profit and gross
margin due to the diversity of our product categories and services.
Interest Income and Expense
Our interest income was $13 million and $9 million during Q3 2015 and Q3 2014, and $37 million
and $31 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014. We generally invest our
excess cash in investment grade short- to intermediate-term fixed income securities and AAA-rated
money market funds. Our interest income corresponds with the average balance of invested funds
based on the prevailing rates, which vary depending on the geographies and currencies in which they
are invested.
Interest expense was $116 million and $49 million during Q3 2015 and Q3 2014, and $344 million
and $136 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014. The increase is primarily
due to increases in our long-term debt, and capital and finance lease arrangements.
Other Income (Expense), Net
Other income (expense), net was $(56) million and $(50) million during Q3 2015 and Q3 2014, and
$(187) million and $(23) million for the nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014. The
primary component of other income (expense), net is related to foreign-currency gains (losses).
Income Taxes
Our tax provision or benefit from income taxes for interim periods is determined using an estimate of
our annual effective tax rate, adjusted for discrete items, if any, that are taken into account in the
relevant period. Each quarter we update our estimate of the annual effective tax rate, and if our
estimated tax rate changes, we make a cumulative adjustment.
Our quarterly tax provision, and our quarterly estimate of our annual effective tax rate, is subject to
significant variation due to several factors, including variability in our pre-tax and taxable income and
loss and the mix of jurisdictions to which they relate, changes in how we do business, acquisitions
(including integrations) and investments, audit-related developments, foreign currency gains (losses),
changes in law, regulations, and administrative practices, and relative changes of expenses or losses
for which tax benefits are not recognized. Additionally, our effective tax rate can be more or less
volatile based on the amount of pre-tax income or loss. For example, the impact of discrete items and
non-deductible expenses on our effective tax rate is greater when our pre-tax income is lower.
In 2015, our effective tax rate will be significantly affected by the favorable impact of earnings in
lower tax rate jurisdictions and the adverse effect of losses incurred in certain foreign jurisdictions for
which we may not realize a tax benefit. Income earned in lower tax jurisdictions is primarily related to
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our European operations, which are headquartered in Luxembourg. Losses for which we may not
realize a related tax benefit, primarily due to losses of foreign subsidiaries, reduce our pre-tax income
without a corresponding reduction in our tax expense, and therefore increase our effective tax rate. We
record valuation allowances against the deferred tax assets associated with losses for which we may
not realize a related tax
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benefit. Our effective tax rate may also be adversely impacted by the amount of our pre-tax income, or
loss, relative to our income tax expense, nondeductible expenses, and changes in tax law such as the
expiration of the U.S. federal credit for research and development expenditures at the end of 2014.
Our income tax provision for the nine months ended September 30, 2015 was $498 million, which
included $37 million of discrete tax items primarily attributed to acquisition integrations. Our income
tax benefit for the nine months ended September 30, 2014 was $38 million, which included $82
million of discrete tax items primarily attributable to audit-related developments.
Equity-Method Investment Activity, Net of Tax
Equity-method investment activity, net of tax, was $(7) million and $(8) million during Q3 2015 and
Q3 2014, and $(18) million and $47 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014.
The primary component of this activity during the nine months ended September 30, 2014 was our
share of a gain recorded by LivingSocial related to the sale of its Korean operations. This gain was
partially offset by operating losses incurred by LivingSocial during the period.
Effect of Foreign Exchange Rates
The effect on income (loss) from operations from changes in foreign exchange rates versus the
U.S. Dollar is as follows (in millions):

Three Months Ended September 30, Nine Months Ended September 30,
2015 2014 2015 2014

At Prior
Year
Rates (1)

Exchange
Rate
Effect
(2)

As
Reported

At Prior
Year
Rates (1)

Exchange
Rate
Effect
(2)

As
Reported

At Prior
Year
Rates (1)

Exchange
Rate
Effect
(2)

As
Reported

At Prior
Year
Rates (1)

Exchange
Rate
Effect
(2)

As
Reported

Net sales $26,673 $(1,315) $25,358 $20,566 $13 $20,579 $75,254 $(3,995) $71,259 $59,400 $259 $59,659
Operating
expenses 26,292 (1,340 ) 24,952 21,111 12 21,123 74,126 (3,991 ) 70,135 59,863 208 60,071

Income
(loss) from
operations

381 25 406 (545 ) 1 (544 ) 1,128 (4 ) 1,124 (463 ) 51 (412 )

___________________

(1)Represents the outcome that would have resulted had foreign exchange rates in the reported periodbeen the same as those in effect in the comparable prior year period for operating results.

(2)Represents the increase or decrease in reported amounts resulting from changes in foreignexchange rates from those in effect in the comparable prior year period for operating results.
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Non-GAAP Financial Measures
Regulation G, Conditions for Use of Non-GAAP Financial Measures, and other SEC regulations
define and prescribe the conditions for use of certain non-GAAP financial information. Our measures
of “Free cash flow,” operating expenses with and without stock-based compensation, and the effect of
foreign exchange rates on our consolidated statements of operations, meet the definition of non-GAAP
financial measures.
We provide multiple measures of free cash flow, and ratios based on them, because we believe these
measures provide additional perspective on the impact of acquiring property and equipment with cash
and through capital and finance leases.
Free Cash Flow
Free cash flow is cash flow from operations reduced by “Purchases of property and equipment,
including internal-use software and website development,” which are included in cash flow from
investing activities. The following is a reconciliation of free cash flow to the most comparable GAAP
cash flow measure, “Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities,” for the trailing twelve months
ended September 30, 2015 and 2014 (in millions):

Twelve Months Ended 
 September 30,
2015 2014

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities $9,823 $5,705
Purchases of property and equipment, including internal-use software and
website development (4,424 ) (4,628 )

Free cash flow $5,399 $1,077

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities $(7,065 ) $(3,444 )
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities $3,136 $(720 )
Free Cash Flow Less Lease Principal Repayments
Free cash flow less lease principal repayments is free cash flow reduced by “Principal repayments of
capital lease obligations,” and “Principal repayments of finance lease obligations,” which are included in
cash flow from financing activities. Free cash flow less lease principal repayments approximates the
actual payments of cash for our capital and finance leases. The following is a reconciliation of free
cash flow less lease principal repayments to the most comparable GAAP cash flow measure, “Net cash
provided by (used in) operating activities,” for the trailing twelve months ended September 30, 2015
and 2014 (in millions):

Twelve Months Ended 
 September 30,
2015 2014

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities $9,823 $5,705
Purchases of property and equipment, including internal-use software and
website development (4,424 ) (4,628 )

Principal repayments of capital lease obligations (2,144 ) (1,103 )
Principal repayments of finance lease obligations (163 ) (73 )
Free cash flow less lease principal repayments $3,092 $(99 )

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities $(7,065 ) $(3,444 )
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities $3,136 $(720 )
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Free Cash Flow Less Finance Lease Principal Repayments and Capital Acquired Under Capital Leases
Free cash flow less finance lease principal repayments and capital acquired under capital leases is free
cash flow reduced by “Principal repayments of finance lease obligations,” which are included in cash
flow from financing activities, and property and equipment acquired under capital leases. In this
measure, property and equipment acquired under capital leases is reflected as if these assets had been
purchased for cash, which is not the case as these assets have been leased. The following is a
reconciliation of free cash flow less finance lease principal repayments and capital acquired under
capital leases to the most comparable GAAP cash flow measure, “Net cash provided by (used in)
operating activities,” for the trailing twelve months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014 (in millions):

Twelve Months Ended 
 September 30,
2015 2014

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities $9,823 $5,705
Purchases of property and equipment, including internal-use software and
website development (4,424 ) (4,628 )

Property and equipment acquired under capital leases (4,599 ) (3,347 )
Principal repayments of finance lease obligations (163 ) (73 )
Free cash flow less finance lease principal repayments and capital acquired
under capital leases $637 $(2,343 )

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities $(7,065 ) $(3,444 )
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities $3,136 $(720 )
All of these free cash flow measures have limitations as they omit certain components of the overall
cash flow statement and do not represent the residual cash flow available for discretionary
expenditures. For example, these measures of free cash flow do not incorporate the portion of
payments representing principal reductions of debt or cash payments for business acquisitions.
Additionally, our mix of property and equipment acquisitions with cash or other financing options
may change over time. Therefore, we believe it is important to view free cash flow measures only as a
complement to our entire consolidated statements of cash flows.
Operating Expenses, Excluding Stock-based Compensation
Operating expenses with and without stock-based compensation is provided to show the impact of
stock-based compensation, which is non-cash and excluded from our internal operating plans and
measurement of financial performance (although we consider the dilutive impact to our shareholders
when awarding stock-based compensation and value such awards accordingly). In addition, unlike
other centrally-incurred operating costs, stock-based compensation is not allocated to segment results
and therefore excluding it from operating expenses is consistent with our segment presentation in our
footnotes to the consolidated financial statements.
Operating expenses without stock-based compensation has limitations since it does not include all
expenses primarily related to our workforce. More specifically, if we did not pay out a portion of our
compensation in the form of stock-based compensation, our cash salary expense included in the
“Fulfillment,” “Marketing,” “Technology and content,” and “General and administrative” line items would be
higher.
Effect of Foreign Exchange Rates
Information regarding the effect of foreign exchange rates, versus the U.S. Dollar, on our income
(loss) from operations is provided to show reported period operating results had the foreign exchange
rates remained the same as those in effect in the comparable prior year period.
Guidance
We provided guidance on October 22, 2015, in our earnings release furnished on Form 8-K as set forth
below. These forward-looking statements reflect Amazon.com’s expectations as of October 22, 2015,
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and are subject to substantial uncertainty. Our results are inherently unpredictable and may be
materially affected by many factors, such as fluctuations in foreign exchange rates, changes in global
economic conditions and customer spending, world events, the rate of growth of the Internet and
online commerce, as well as those outlined in Item 1A of Part II, “Risk Factors.”
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Fourth Quarter 2015 Guidance

•Net sales are expected to be between $33.50 billion and $36.75 billion, or to grow between 14% and25% compared with fourth quarter 2014.

•Operating income is expected to be between $80 million and $1.28 billion, compared to $591 millionin fourth quarter 2014.

•

This guidance includes approximately $620 million for stock-based compensation and amortization of
intangible assets, and it assumes, among other things, that no additional business acquisitions,
investments, restructurings, or legal settlements are concluded and that there are no further revisions
to stock-based compensation estimates.
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Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
We are exposed to market risk for the effect of interest rate changes, foreign currency fluctuations, and
changes in the market values of our investments. Information relating to quantitative and qualitative
disclosures about market risk is set forth below and in Item 2 of Part I, “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Liquidity and Capital Resources.”
Interest Rate Risk
Our exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates relates primarily to our investment portfolio
and our long-term debt. Our long-term debt is carried at amortized cost and fluctuations in interest
rates do not impact our consolidated financial statements. However, the fair value of our debt, which
pays interest at a fixed rate, will generally fluctuate with movements of interest rates, increasing in
periods of declining rates of interest and declining in periods of increasing rates of interest. All of our
cash equivalent and marketable fixed income securities are designated as available-for-sale and,
accordingly, are presented at fair value on our consolidated balance sheets. We generally invest our
excess cash in investment grade short- to intermediate-term fixed income securities and AAA-rated
money market funds. Fixed income securities may have their fair market value adversely affected due
to a rise in interest rates, and we may suffer losses in principal if forced to sell securities that have
declined in market value due to changes in interest rates.
Foreign Exchange Risk
During Q3 2015, net sales from our International segment accounted for 33% of our consolidated
revenues. Net sales and related expenses generated from our internationally-focused websites, as well
as those relating to www.amazon.ca and www.amazon.com.mx (which are included in our North
America segment), are denominated in the functional currencies of the corresponding websites and
primarily include British Pounds, Chinese Yuan, Euros, and Japanese Yen. The results of operations
of, and certain of our intercompany balances associated with, our internationally-focused websites are
exposed to foreign exchange rate fluctuations. Upon consolidation, as foreign exchange rates vary, net
sales and other operating results may differ materially from expectations, and we may record
significant gains or losses on the remeasurement of intercompany balances. For example, as a result of
fluctuations in foreign exchange rates throughout the period compared to rates in effect the prior year,
International segment revenues in Q3 2015 decreased by $1.3 billion in comparison with Q3 2014.
We have foreign exchange risk related to foreign-denominated cash, cash equivalents, and marketable
securities (“foreign funds”). Based on the balance of foreign funds as of September 30, 2015, of $4.5
billion, an assumed 5%, 10%, and 20% adverse change to foreign exchange would result in fair value
declines of $225 million, $450 million, and $900 million. All investments are classified as
“available-for-sale.” Fluctuations in fair value are recorded in “Accumulated other comprehensive loss,” a
separate component of stockholders’ equity.
We have foreign exchange risk related to our intercompany balances denominated in various foreign
currencies. Based on the intercompany balances as of September 30, 2015, an assumed 5%, 10%, and
20% adverse change to foreign exchange would result in losses of $205 million, $430 million, and
$970 million, recorded to “Other income (expense), net.”
See Item 2 of Part I, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations — Results of Operations — Effect of Foreign Exchange Rates” for additional information on the
effect on reported results of changes in foreign exchange rates.
Investment Risk
As of September 30, 2015, our recorded basis in equity investments was $277 million. These
investments primarily relate to equity-method and cost-method investments in private companies. We
review our investments for impairment when events and circumstances indicate that the decline in fair
value of such assets below the carrying value is other-than-temporary. Our analysis includes review of
recent operating results and trends, recent sales/acquisitions of the investee securities, and other
publicly available data. The current global economic climate provides additional uncertainty.
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Valuations of private companies are inherently more complex due to the lack of readily available
market data. As such, we believe that market sensitivities are not practicable.
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Item 4. Controls and Procedures
We carried out an evaluation required by the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “1934 Act”), under
the supervision and with the participation of our principal executive officer and principal financial
officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures, as
defined in Rule 13a-15(e) of the 1934 Act, as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based on
this evaluation, our principal executive officer and principal financial officer concluded that our
disclosure controls and procedures were effective to provide reasonable assurance that information
required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file or submit under the 1934 Act is recorded,
processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms
and to provide reasonable assurance that such information is accumulated and communicated to our
management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, as appropriate to
allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.
During the most recent fiscal quarter, there has not occurred any change in our internal control over
financial reporting that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal
control over financial reporting.
Our disclosure controls and procedures are designed to provide reasonable assurance of achieving
their objectives as specified above. Management does not expect, however, that our disclosure
controls and procedures will prevent or detect all error and fraud. Any control system, no matter how
well designed and operated, is based upon certain assumptions and can provide only reasonable, not
absolute, assurance that its objectives will be met. Further, no evaluation of controls can provide
absolute assurance that misstatements due to error or fraud will not occur or that all control issues and
instances of fraud, if any, within the Company have been detected.

36

Edgar Filing: MICROSOFT CORP - Form 10-K

Table of Contents 124



Table of Contents

PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings
See Item 1 of Part I, “Financial Statements — Note 3 — Commitments and Contingencies — Legal
Proceedings.”

Item 1A. Risk Factors
Please carefully consider the following risk factors. If any of the following risks occur, our business,
financial condition, operating results, and cash flows could be materially adversely affected. In
addition, the current global economic climate amplifies many of these risks.
We Face Intense Competition
Our businesses are rapidly evolving and intensely competitive, and we have many competitors in
different industries, including retail, e-commerce services, digital content and electronic devices, and
web and infrastructure computing services. Some of our current and potential competitors have greater
resources, longer histories, more customers, and/or greater brand recognition. They may secure better
terms from vendors, adopt more aggressive pricing, and devote more resources to technology,
infrastructure, fulfillment, and marketing.
Competition may intensify as our competitors enter into business combinations or alliances and
established companies in other market segments expand to become competitive with our business. In
addition, new and enhanced technologies, including search, web and infrastructure computing
services, digital content, and electronic devices, may increase our competition. The Internet facilitates
competitive entry and comparison shopping, and increased competition may reduce our sales and
profits.
Our Expansion Places a Significant Strain on our Management, Operational, Financial, and Other
Resources
We are rapidly and significantly expanding our global operations, including increasing our product
and service offerings and scaling our infrastructure to support our retail and services businesses. This
expansion increases the complexity of our business and places significant strain on our management,
personnel, operations, systems, technical performance, financial resources, and internal financial
control and reporting functions. We may not be able to manage growth effectively, which could
damage our reputation, limit our growth, and negatively affect our operating results.
Our Expansion into New Products, Services, Technologies, and Geographic Regions Subjects Us to
Additional Business, Legal, Financial, and Competitive Risks
We may have limited or no experience in our newer market segments, and our customers may not
adopt our new offerings. These offerings may present new and difficult technology challenges, and we
may be subject to claims if customers of these offerings experience service disruptions or failures or
other quality issues. In addition, profitability, if any, in our newer activities may be lower than in our
older activities, and we may not be successful enough in these newer activities to recoup our
investments in them. If any of this were to occur, it could damage our reputation, limit our growth, and
negatively affect our operating results.
We May Experience Significant Fluctuations in Our Operating Results and Growth Rate
We may not be able to accurately forecast our growth rate. We base our expense levels and investment
plans on sales estimates. A significant portion of our expenses and investments is fixed, and we may
not be able to adjust our spending quickly enough if our sales are less than expected.
Our revenue growth may not be sustainable, and our percentage growth rates may decrease. Our
revenue and operating profit growth depends on the continued growth of demand for the products and
services offered by us or our sellers, and our business is affected by general economic and business
conditions worldwide. A softening of demand, whether caused by changes in customer preferences or
a weakening of the U.S. or global economies, may result in decreased revenue or growth.
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Our sales and operating results will also fluctuate for many other reasons, including due to risks
described elsewhere in this section and the following:

•our ability to retain and increase sales to existing customers, attract new customers, and satisfy ourcustomers’ demands;
•our ability to retain and expand our network of sellers;
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•our ability to offer products on favorable terms, manage inventory, and fulfill orders;
•the introduction of competitive websites, products, services, price decreases, or improvements;

•changes in usage or adoption rates of the Internet, e-commerce, electronic devices, and web services,including outside the U.S.;
•timing, effectiveness, and costs of expansion and upgrades of our systems and infrastructure;
•the success of our geographic, service, and product line expansions;

•the extent to which we finance, and the terms of any such financing for, our current operations andfuture growth;

•the outcomes of legal proceedings and claims, which may include significant monetary damages orinjunctive relief and could have a material adverse impact on our operating results;
•variations in the mix of products and services we sell;
•variations in our level of merchandise and vendor returns;

•the extent to which we offer free shipping, continue to reduce prices worldwide, and provideadditional benefits to our customers;
•the extent to which we invest in technology and content, fulfillment, and other expense categories;

•increases in the prices of fuel and gasoline, as well as increases in the prices of other energy productsand commodities like paper and packing supplies;
•the extent to which our equity-method investees record significant operating and non-operating items;

•the extent to which operators of the networks between our customers and our websites successfullycharge fees to grant our customers unimpaired and unconstrained access to our online services;
•our ability to collect amounts owed to us when they become due;

•the extent to which use of our services is affected by spyware, viruses, phishing and other spamemails, denial of service attacks, data theft, computer intrusions, outages, and similar events; and
•terrorist attacks and armed hostilities.
Our International Operations Expose Us to a Number of Risks
Our international activities are significant to our revenues and profits, and we plan to further expand
internationally. In certain international market segments, we have relatively little operating experience
and may not benefit from any first-to-market advantages or otherwise succeed. It is costly to establish,
develop, and maintain international operations and websites, and promote our brand internationally.
Our international operations may not be profitable on a sustained basis.
In addition to risks described elsewhere in this section, our international sales and operations are
subject to a number of risks, including:
•local economic and political conditions;

•
government regulation of e-commerce and other services, electronic devices, and competition, and
restrictive governmental actions (such as trade protection measures, including export duties and
quotas and custom duties and tariffs), nationalization, and restrictions on foreign ownership;

•

restrictions on sales or distribution of certain products or services and uncertainty regarding liability
for products, services, and content, including uncertainty as a result of less Internet-friendly legal
systems, local laws, lack of legal precedent, and varying rules, regulations, and practices regarding the
physical and digital distribution of media products and enforcement of intellectual property rights;

•business licensing or certification requirements, such as for imports, exports, web services, andelectronic devices;
•limitations on the repatriation and investment of funds and foreign currency exchange restrictions;
•limited fulfillment and technology infrastructure;
•shorter payable and longer receivable cycles and the resultant negative impact on cash flow;

•laws and regulations regarding consumer and data protection, privacy, network security, encryption,payments, and restrictions on pricing or discounts;
•lower levels of use of the Internet;
•lower levels of consumer spending and fewer opportunities for growth compared to the U.S.;

Edgar Filing: MICROSOFT CORP - Form 10-K

Table of Contents 127



38

Edgar Filing: MICROSOFT CORP - Form 10-K

Table of Contents 128



Table of Contents

•lower levels of credit card usage and increased payment risk;

•difficulty in staffing, developing, and managing foreign operations as a result of distance, language,and cultural differences;
•different employee/employer relationships and the existence of works councils and labor unions;

•compliance with the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and other applicable U.S. and foreign lawsprohibiting corrupt payments to government officials and other third parties;

•laws and policies of the U.S. and other jurisdictions affecting trade, foreign investment, loans, andtaxes; and
•geopolitical events, including war and terrorism.
As international e-commerce and other online and web services grow, competition will intensify.
Local companies may have a substantial competitive advantage because of their greater understanding
of, and focus on, the local customer, as well as their more established local brand names. We may not
be able to hire, train, retain, and manage required personnel, which may limit our international growth.
The People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) and India regulate Amazon’s and its affiliates’ businesses and
operations in country through regulations and license requirements that may restrict (i) foreign
investment in and operation of the Internet, IT infrastructure, data centers, retail, delivery, and other
sectors, (ii) Internet content, and (iii) the sale of media and other products and services. For example,
in order to meet local ownership and regulatory licensing requirements, www.amazon.cn is operated
by PRC companies that are indirectly owned, either wholly or partially, by PRC nationals. In addition,
we provide certain technology services in conjunction with third parties that hold PRC licenses to
provide services. In India, the government restricts the ownership or control of Indian companies by
foreign entities involved in online multi-brand retail trading activities. For www.amazon.in, we
provide certain marketing tools and logistics services to third party sellers to enable them to sell online
and deliver to customers. Although we believe these structures and activities comply with existing
laws, they involve unique risks, and the PRC is actively considering changes in its foreign investment
rules that could impact these structures and activities. There are substantial uncertainties regarding the
interpretation of PRC and Indian laws and regulations, and it is possible that the government will
ultimately take a view contrary to ours. In addition, our Chinese and Indian businesses and operations
may be unable to continue to operate if we or our affiliates are unable to access sufficient funding or in
China enforce contractual relationships with respect to management and control of such businesses. If
our international activities were found to be in violation of any existing or future PRC, Indian or other
laws or regulations or if interpretations of those laws and regulations were to change, our businesses in
those countries could be subject to fines and other financial penalties, have licenses revoked, or be
forced to shut down entirely.
If We Do Not Successfully Optimize and Operate Our Fulfillment and Data Centers, Our Business
Could Be Harmed
If we do not adequately predict customer demand or otherwise optimize and operate our fulfillment
and data centers successfully, it could result in excess or insufficient fulfillment or data center
capacity, or result in increased costs, impairment charges, or both, or harm our business in other ways.
As we continue to add fulfillment, warehouse, and data center capability or add new businesses with
different requirements, our fulfillment and data center networks become increasingly complex and
operating them becomes more challenging. There can be no assurance that we will be able to operate
our networks effectively.
In addition, a failure to optimize inventory in our fulfillment centers will increase our net shipping cost
by requiring long-zone or partial shipments. Orders from several of our websites are fulfilled primarily
from a single location, and we have only a limited ability to reroute orders to third parties for
drop-shipping. We and our co-sourcers may be unable to adequately staff our fulfillment and customer
service centers. If the other businesses on whose behalf we perform inventory fulfillment services
deliver product to our fulfillment centers in excess of forecasts, we may be unable to secure sufficient
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storage space and may be unable to optimize our fulfillment centers.
We rely on a limited number of shipping companies to deliver inventory to us and completed orders to
our customers. If we are not able to negotiate acceptable terms with these companies or they
experience performance problems or other difficulties, it could negatively impact our operating results
and customer experience. In addition, our ability to receive inbound inventory efficiently and ship
completed orders to customers also may be negatively affected by inclement weather, fire, flood,
power loss, earthquakes, labor disputes, acts of war or terrorism, acts of God, and similar factors.
Third parties either drop-ship or otherwise fulfill an increasing portion of our customers’ orders, and
we are increasingly reliant on the reliability, quality, and future procurement of their services. Under
some of our commercial agreements, we maintain the inventory of other companies, thereby
increasing the complexity of tracking inventory and operating our fulfillment centers. Our failure to
properly handle such inventory or the inability of these other companies to accurately forecast product
demand would result in unexpected costs and other harm to our business and reputation.
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The Seasonality of Our Business Places Increased Strain on Our Operations
We expect a disproportionate amount of our net sales to occur during our fourth quarter. If we do not
stock or restock popular products in sufficient amounts such that we fail to meet customer demand, it
could significantly affect our revenue and our future growth. If we overstock products, we may be
required to take significant inventory markdowns or write-offs and incur commitment costs, which
could reduce profitability. We may experience an increase in our net shipping cost due to
complimentary upgrades, split-shipments, and additional long-zone shipments necessary to ensure
timely delivery for the holiday season. If too many customers access our websites within a short
period of time due to increased holiday demand, we may experience system interruptions that make
our websites unavailable or prevent us from efficiently fulfilling orders, which may reduce the volume
of goods we sell and the attractiveness of our products and services. In addition, we may be unable to
adequately staff our fulfillment and customer service centers during these peak periods and delivery
and other fulfillment companies and customer service co-sourcers may be unable to meet the seasonal
demand. We also face risks described elsewhere in this Item 1A relating to fulfillment center
optimization and inventory.
We generally have payment terms with our retail vendors that extend beyond the amount of time
necessary to collect proceeds from our consumer customers. As a result of holiday sales, as of
December 31 of each year, our cash, cash equivalents, and marketable securities balances typically
reach their highest level (other than as a result of cash flows provided by or used in investing and
financing activities). This operating cycle results in a corresponding increase in accounts payable as of
December 31. Our accounts payable balance generally declines during the first three months of the
year, resulting in a corresponding decline in our cash, cash equivalents, and marketable securities
balances.
Our Business Could Suffer if We Are Unsuccessful in Making, Integrating, and Maintaining
Commercial Agreements, Strategic Alliances, and Other Business Relationships
We provide e-commerce and other services to businesses through commercial agreements, strategic
alliances, and business relationships. Under these agreements, we provide web services, technology,
fulfillment, computing, digital storage, and other services, as well as enable sellers to offer products or
services through our websites. These arrangements are complex and require substantial infrastructure
capacity, personnel, and other resource commitments, which may limit the amount of business we can
service. We may not be able to implement, maintain, and develop the components of these commercial
relationships, which may include web services, fulfillment, customer service, inventory management,
tax collection, payment processing, hardware, content, and third-party software, and engaging third
parties to perform services. The amount of compensation we receive under certain of our commercial
agreements is partially dependent on the volume of the other company’s sales. Therefore, if the other
company’s offering is not successful, the compensation we receive may be lower than expected or the
agreement may be terminated. Moreover, we may not be able to enter into additional commercial
relationships and strategic alliances on favorable terms. We also may be subject to claims from
businesses to which we provide these services if we are unsuccessful in implementing, maintaining, or
developing these services.
As our agreements terminate, we may be unable to renew or replace these agreements on comparable
terms, or at all. We may in the future enter into amendments on less favorable terms or encounter
parties that have difficulty meeting their contractual obligations to us, which could adversely affect
our operating results.
Our present and future e-commerce services agreements, other commercial agreements, and strategic
alliances create additional risks such as:
•disruption of our ongoing business, including loss of management focus on existing businesses;
•impairment of other relationships;
•
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variability in revenue and income from entering into, amending, or terminating such agreements or
relationships; and
•difficulty integrating under the commercial agreements.
Our Business Could Suffer if We Are Unsuccessful in Making, Integrating, and Maintaining
Acquisitions and Investments
We have acquired and invested in a number of companies, and we may acquire or invest in or enter
into joint ventures with additional companies. These transactions create risks such as:
•disruption of our ongoing business, including loss of management focus on existing businesses;
•problems retaining key personnel;

• additional operating losses and expenses of the businesses we acquired or in which we
invested;

•the potential impairment of tangible and intangible assets and goodwill, including as a result ofacquisitions;
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•the potential impairment of customer and other relationships of the company we acquired or in whichwe invested or our own customers as a result of any integration of operations;

•the difficulty of incorporating acquired technology and rights into our offerings and unanticipatedexpenses related to such integration;

•

the difficulty of integrating a new company’s accounting, financial reporting, management,
information and information security, human resource, and other administrative systems to
permit effective management, and the lack of control if such integration is delayed or not
implemented;

•
for investments in which an investee’s financial performance is incorporated into our financial results,
either in full or in part, the dependence on the investee’s accounting, financial reporting, and similar
systems, controls, and processes;

•the difficulty of implementing at companies we acquire the controls, procedures, and policiesappropriate for a larger public company;
•potential unknown liabilities associated with a company we acquire or in which we invest; and

•
for foreign transactions, additional risks related to the integration of operations across different
cultures and languages, and the economic, political, and regulatory risks associated with specific
countries.
As a result of future acquisitions or mergers, we might need to issue additional equity securities, spend
our cash, or incur debt, contingent liabilities, or amortization expenses related to intangible assets, any
of which could reduce our profitability and harm our business. In addition, valuations supporting our
acquisitions and strategic investments could change rapidly given the current global economic climate.
We could determine that such valuations have experienced impairments or other-than-temporary
declines in fair value which could adversely impact our financial results.
We Have Foreign Exchange Risk
The results of operations of, and certain of our intercompany balances associated with, our
international websites and product and service offerings are exposed to foreign exchange rate
fluctuations. Upon translation, operating results may differ materially from expectations, and we may
record significant gains or losses on the remeasurement of intercompany balances. As we have
expanded our international operations, our exposure to exchange rate fluctuations has increased. We
also hold cash equivalents and/or marketable securities in foreign currencies including British Pounds,
Chinese Yuan, Euros, and Japanese Yen. If the U.S. Dollar strengthens compared to these currencies,
cash equivalents, and marketable securities balances, when translated, may be materially less than
expected and vice versa.
The Loss of Key Senior Management Personnel Could Negatively Affect Our Business
We depend on our senior management and other key personnel, particularly Jeffrey P. Bezos, our
President, CEO, and Chairman. We do not have “key person” life insurance policies. The loss of any of
our executive officers or other key employees could harm our business.
We Could Be Harmed by Data Loss or Other Security Breaches
As a result of our services being web-based and the fact that we process, store, and transmit large
amounts of data, including personal information, for our customers, failure to prevent or mitigate data
loss or other security breaches, including breaches of our vendors’ technology and systems, could
expose us or our customers to a risk of loss or misuse of such information, adversely affect our
operating results, result in litigation or potential liability for us, and otherwise harm our business. We
use third party technology and systems for a variety of reasons, including, without limitation,
encryption and authentication technology, employee email, content delivery to customers, back-office
support, and other functions. Some subsidiaries had past security breaches, and, although they did not
have a material adverse effect on our operating results, there can be no assurance of a similar result in
the future. Although we have developed systems and processes that are designed to protect customer
information and prevent data loss and other security breaches, including systems and processes
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designed to reduce the impact of a security breach at a third party vendor, such measures cannot
provide absolute security.
We Face Risks Related to System Interruption and Lack of Redundancy
We experience occasional system interruptions and delays that make our websites and services
unavailable or slow to respond and prevent us from efficiently fulfilling orders or providing services to
third parties, which may reduce our net sales and the attractiveness of our products and services. If we
are unable to continually add software and hardware, effectively upgrade our systems and network
infrastructure, and take other steps to improve the efficiency of our systems, it could cause system
interruptions or delays and adversely affect our operating results.
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Our computer and communications systems and operations could be damaged or interrupted by fire,
flood, power loss, telecommunications failure, earthquakes, acts of war or terrorism, acts of God,
computer viruses, physical or electronic break-ins, and similar events or disruptions. Any of these
events could cause system interruption, delays, and loss of critical data, and could prevent us from
accepting and fulfilling customer orders and providing services, which could make our product and
service offerings less attractive and subject us to liability. Our systems are not fully redundant and our
disaster recovery planning may not be sufficient. In addition, we may have inadequate insurance
coverage to compensate for any related losses. Any of these events could damage our reputation and
be expensive to remedy.
We Face Significant Inventory Risk
In addition to risks described elsewhere in this Item 1A relating to fulfillment center and inventory
optimization by us and third parties, we are exposed to significant inventory risks that may adversely
affect our operating results as a result of seasonality, new product launches, rapid changes in product
cycles and pricing, defective merchandise, changes in consumer demand and consumer spending
patterns, changes in consumer tastes with respect to our products, and other factors. We endeavor to
accurately predict these trends and avoid overstocking or understocking products we manufacture
and/or sell. Demand for products, however, can change significantly between the time inventory or
components are ordered and the date of sale. In addition, when we begin selling or manufacturing a
new product, it may be difficult to establish vendor relationships, determine appropriate product or
component selection, and accurately forecast demand. The acquisition of certain types of inventory or
components may require significant lead-time and prepayment and they may not be returnable. We
carry a broad selection and significant inventory levels of certain products, such as consumer
electronics, and we may be unable to sell products in sufficient quantities or during the relevant selling
seasons. Any one of the inventory risk factors set forth above may adversely affect our operating
results.
We May Not Be Able to Adequately Protect Our Intellectual Property Rights or May Be Accused of
Infringing Intellectual Property Rights of Third Parties
We regard our trademarks, service marks, copyrights, patents, trade dress, trade secrets, proprietary
technology, and similar intellectual property as critical to our success, and we rely on trademark,
copyright, and patent law, trade secret protection, and confidentiality and/or license agreements with
our employees, customers, and others to protect our proprietary rights. Effective intellectual property
protection may not be available in every country in which our products and services are made
available. We also may not be able to acquire or maintain appropriate domain names in all countries in
which we do business. Furthermore, regulations governing domain names may not protect our
trademarks and similar proprietary rights. We may be unable to prevent third parties from acquiring
domain names that are similar to, infringe upon, or diminish the value of our trademarks and other
proprietary rights.
We may not be able to discover or determine the extent of any unauthorized use of our proprietary
rights. Third parties that license our proprietary rights also may take actions that diminish the value of
our proprietary rights or reputation. The protection of our intellectual property may require the
expenditure of significant financial and managerial resources. Moreover, the steps we take to protect
our intellectual property may not adequately protect our rights or prevent third parties from infringing
or misappropriating our proprietary rights. We also cannot be certain that others will not
independently develop or otherwise acquire equivalent or superior technology or other intellectual
property rights.
Other parties also may claim that we infringe their proprietary rights. We have been subject to, and
expect to continue to be subject to, claims and legal proceedings regarding alleged infringement by us
of the intellectual property rights of third parties. Such claims, whether or not meritorious, may result
in the expenditure of significant financial and managerial resources, injunctions against us, or the
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payment of damages, including to satisfy indemnification obligations. We may need to obtain licenses
from third parties who allege that we have infringed their rights, but such licenses may not be
available on terms acceptable to us or at all. In addition, we may not be able to obtain or utilize on
terms that are favorable to us, or at all, licenses or other rights with respect to intellectual property we
do not own. These risks have been amplified by the increase in third parties whose sole or primary
business is to assert such claims.
Our digital content offerings depend in part on effective digital rights management technology to
control access to digital content. If the digital rights management technology that we use is
compromised or otherwise malfunctions, we could be subject to claims, and content providers may be
unwilling to include their content in our service.
We Have a Rapidly Evolving Business Model and Our Stock Price Is Highly Volatile
We have a rapidly evolving business model. The trading price of our common stock fluctuates
significantly in response to, among other risks, the risks described elsewhere in this Item 1A, as well
as:
•changes in interest rates;
•conditions or trends in the Internet and the industry segments we operate in;
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•quarterly variations in operating results;

•fluctuations in the stock market in general and market prices for Internet-related companies inparticular;
•changes in financial estimates by us or securities analysts and recommendations by securities analysts;
•changes in our capital structure, including issuance of additional debt or equity to the public;

•changes in the valuation methodology of, or performance by, other e-commerce or technologycompanies; and

•transactions in our common stock by major investors and certain analyst reports, news, andspeculation.
Volatility in our stock price could adversely affect our business and financing opportunities and force
us to increase our cash compensation to employees or grant larger stock awards than we have
historically, which could hurt our operating results or reduce the percentage ownership of our existing
stockholders, or both.
Government Regulation Is Evolving and Unfavorable Changes Could Harm Our Business
We are subject to general business regulations and laws, as well as regulations and laws specifically
governing the Internet, e-commerce, electronic devices, and other services. Existing and future laws
and regulations may impede our growth. These regulations and laws may cover taxation, privacy, data
protection, pricing, content, copyrights, distribution, mobile communications, electronic device
certification, electronic waste, energy consumption, environmental regulation, electronic contracts and
other communications, competition, consumer protection, web services, the provision of online
payment services, information reporting requirements, unencumbered Internet access to our services,
the design and operation of websites, the characteristics and quality of products and services, and the
commercial operation of unmanned aircraft systems. It is not clear how existing laws governing issues
such as property ownership, libel, and personal privacy apply to the Internet, e-commerce, digital
content, and web services. Jurisdictions may regulate consumer-to-consumer online businesses,
including certain aspects of our seller programs. Unfavorable regulations and laws could diminish the
demand for our products and services and increase our cost of doing business.
We Could Be Subject to Additional Sales Tax or Other Indirect Tax Liabilities
U.S. Supreme Court decisions restrict the imposition of obligations to collect state and local sales
taxes with respect to remote sales. However, an increasing number of states have considered or
adopted laws or administrative practices that attempt to impose obligations on out-of-state retailers to
collect taxes on their behalf. We support a Federal law that would allow states to require sales tax
collection under a nationwide system. More than half of our revenue is already earned in jurisdictions
where we collect sales tax or its equivalent. A successful assertion by one or more states or foreign
countries requiring us to collect taxes where we do not do so could result in substantial tax liabilities,
including for past sales, as well as penalties and interest. In addition, if the tax authorities in
jurisdictions where we already collect sales tax or other indirect taxes were successfully to challenge
our positions, our tax liability could increase substantially.
We Could be Subject to Additional Income Tax Liabilities
We are subject to income taxes in the U.S. (federal and state) and numerous foreign jurisdictions. Tax
laws, regulations, and administrative practices in various jurisdictions may be subject to significant
change due to economic, political, and other conditions, and significant judgment is required in
evaluating and estimating our provision and accruals for these taxes. There are many transactions that
occur during the ordinary course of business for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. Our
effective tax rates could be adversely affected by earnings being lower than anticipated in jurisdictions
where we have lower statutory rates and higher than anticipated in jurisdictions where we have higher
statutory rates, losses incurred in jurisdictions for which we are not able to realize the related tax
benefit, changes in foreign currency exchange rates, entry into new businesses and geographies and
changes to our existing businesses, acquisitions (including integrations) and investments, changes in
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our deferred tax assets and liabilities and their valuation, and changes in the relevant tax, accounting,
and other laws, regulations, administrative practices, principles, and interpretations, including
fundamental changes to the tax laws applicable to corporate multinationals. The U.S., many countries
in the European Union, and a number of other countries are actively considering changes in this
regard.
Except as required under U.S. tax laws, we do not provide for U.S. taxes on our undistributed earnings
of foreign subsidiaries that have not been previously taxed since we intend to invest such undistributed
earnings indefinitely outside of the U.S. If our intent changes or if these funds are needed for our U.S.
operations, we would be required to accrue or pay U.S. taxes on some or all of these undistributed
earnings and our effective tax rate would be adversely affected. We are also subject to audit in various
jurisdictions, and such jurisdictions may assess additional income tax liabilities against us. In addition,
in October 2014, the European Commission opened a formal investigation to examine whether
decisions by the tax authorities in Luxembourg with regard to the corporate income tax paid by certain
of our subsidiaries comply with European Union rules on state aid. If this matter is adversely resolved,
Luxembourg may be required to assess, and we may be required to pay, additional
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amounts with respect to current and prior periods and our taxes in the future could increase. Although
we believe our tax estimates are reasonable, the final outcome of tax audits, investigations, and any
related litigation could be materially different from our historical income tax provisions and accruals.
Developments in an audit, litigation, or the relevant laws, regulations, administrative practices,
principles, and interpretations could have a material effect on our operating results or cash flows in the
period or periods for which that development occurs, as well as for prior and subsequent periods. For
instance, the IRS is seeking to increase our U.S. taxable income related to transfer pricing with our
foreign subsidiaries for transactions undertaken in 2005 and 2006, and we are currently contesting the
matter in U.S. Tax Court. In addition to the risk of additional tax for 2005 and 2006 transactions, if
this litigation is adversely determined or if the IRS were to seek transfer pricing adjustments of a
similar nature for transactions in subsequent years, Amazon could be subject to significant additional
tax liabilities.
Our Supplier Relationships Subject Us to a Number of Risks
We have significant suppliers, including licensors, and in some cases, limited or single-sources of
supply, that are important to our sourcing, services, manufacturing, and any related ongoing servicing
of merchandise and content. We do not have long-term arrangements with most of our suppliers to
guarantee availability of merchandise, content, components, or services, particular payment terms, or
the extension of credit limits. If our current suppliers were to stop selling or licensing merchandise,
content, components, or services to us on acceptable terms, or delay delivery, including as a result of
one or more supplier bankruptcies due to poor economic conditions, as a result of natural disasters, or
for other reasons, we may be unable to procure alternatives from other suppliers in a timely and
efficient manner and on acceptable terms, or at all. In addition, if our suppliers or other vendors
violate applicable laws, regulations, our code of standards and responsibilities, or implement practices
regarded as unethical, unsafe, or hazardous to the environment, it could damage our reputation, limit
our growth, and negatively affect our operating results.
We May be Subject to Risks Related to Government Contracts and Related Procurement Regulations
Our contracts with U.S., as well as state, local, and foreign, government entities are subject to various
procurement regulations and other requirements relating to their formation, administration, and
performance. We may be subject to audits and investigations relating to our government contracts, and
any violations could result in various civil and criminal penalties and administrative sanctions,
including termination of contract, refunding or suspending of payments, forfeiture of profits, payment
of fines, and suspension or debarment from future government business. In addition, such contracts
may provide for termination by the government at any time, without cause.
We May Be Subject to Product Liability Claims if People or Property Are Harmed by the Products We
Sell
Some of the products we sell or manufacture may expose us to product liability claims relating to
personal injury, death, or environmental or property damage, and may require product recalls or other
actions. Certain third parties also sell products using our e-commerce platform that may increase our
exposure to product liability claims, such as if these sellers do not have sufficient protection from such
claims. Although we maintain liability insurance, we cannot be certain that our coverage will be
adequate for liabilities actually incurred or that insurance will continue to be available to us on
economically reasonable terms, or at all. In addition, some of our agreements with our vendors and
sellers do not indemnify us from product liability.
We Are Subject to Payments-Related Risks
We accept payments using a variety of methods, including credit card, debit card, credit accounts
(including promotional financing), gift cards, direct debit from a customer’s bank account, consumer
invoicing, physical bank check, and payment upon delivery. For existing and future payment options
we offer to our customers, we may become subject to additional regulations and compliance
requirements (including obligations to implement enhanced authentication processes that could result
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in significant costs and reduce the ease of use of our payments products), as well as fraud. For certain
payment methods, including credit and debit cards, we pay interchange and other fees, which may
increase over time and raise our operating costs and lower profitability. We rely on third parties to
provide certain Amazon-branded payment methods and payment processing services, including the
processing of credit cards, debit cards, electronic checks, and promotional financing. In each case, it
could disrupt our business if these companies become unwilling or unable to provide these services to
us. We also offer co-branded credit card programs, which could adversely affect our operating results
if terminated. We are also subject to payment card association operating rules, including data security
rules, certification requirements, and rules governing electronic funds transfers, which could change or
be reinterpreted to make it difficult or impossible for us to comply. If we fail to comply with these
rules or requirements, or if our data security systems are breached or compromised, we may be liable
for card issuing banks’ costs, subject to fines and higher transaction fees, and lose our ability to accept
credit and debit card payments from our customers, process electronic funds transfers, or facilitate
other types of online payments, and our business and operating results could be adversely affected.
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In addition, we provide regulated services in certain jurisdictions because we enable customers to keep
account balances with us and transfer money to third parties, and because we provide services to third
parties to facilitate payments on their behalf. In these jurisdictions, we may be subject to requirements
for licensing, regulatory inspection, bonding and capital maintenance, the use, handling, and
segregation of transferred funds, consumer disclosures, and authentication. We are also subject to or
voluntarily comply with a number of other laws and regulations relating to payments, money
laundering, international money transfers, privacy and information security, and electronic fund
transfers. If we were found to be in violation of applicable laws or regulations, we could be subject to
additional requirements and civil and criminal penalties, or forced to cease providing certain services.
We Could Be Liable for Fraudulent or Unlawful Activities of Sellers
The law relating to the liability of providers of online payment services is currently unsettled. In
addition, governmental agencies could require changes in the way this business is conducted. Under
our seller programs, we may be unable to prevent sellers from collecting payments, fraudulently or
otherwise, when buyers never receive the products they ordered or when the products received are
materially different from the sellers’ descriptions. Under our A2Z Guarantee, we reimburse buyers for
payments up to certain limits in these situations, and as our marketplace seller sales grow, the cost of
this program will increase and could negatively affect our operating results. We also may be unable to
prevent sellers on our sites or through other seller sites from selling unlawful goods, selling goods in
an unlawful manner, or violating the proprietary rights of others, and could face civil or criminal
liability for unlawful activities by our sellers.
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Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds
None.

Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities
None.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
Not applicable.

Item 5. Other Information
Not applicable.

Item 6. Exhibits
See exhibits listed under the Exhibit Index below.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused
this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

AMAZON.COM, INC. (REGISTRANT)

By: /s/ Shelley Reynolds
Shelley Reynolds
Vice President, Worldwide Controller
(Principal Accounting Officer)

Dated: October 22, 2015 
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit
Number Description

3.1 Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company (incorporated by reference to the
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the Quarter ended March 31, 2000).

3.2 Restated Bylaws of the Company (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Current
Report on Form 8-K, filed February 18, 2009).

31.1 Certification of Jeffrey P. Bezos, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Amazon.com,
Inc., pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

31.2 Certification of Brian T. Olsavsky, Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of
Amazon.com, Inc., pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

32.1 Certification of Jeffrey P. Bezos, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Amazon.com,
Inc., pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350.

32.2 Certification of Brian T. Olsavsky, Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of
Amazon.com, Inc., pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350.

101

The following financial statements from the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for
the quarter ended September 30, 2015, formatted in XBRL: (i) Consolidated Statements of
Cash Flows, (ii) Consolidated Statements of Operations, (iii) Consolidated Statements of
Comprehensive Income (Loss), (iv) Consolidated Balance Sheets, and (v) Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements, tagged as blocks of text and including detailed tags.
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